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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statemensg

This Annual Report includes statements of our etgtens, intentions plans and beliefs that consitéorwardiooking statements" within the meaning of Secti@A.
of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, Se&idnhof the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as ameand are intended to come within the safe hamtmtection
provided by those sections. These statements, vilvclive risks and uncertainties, relate to theuksion of business strategies of Global Gold Qautm (the
“Company" or "Global Gold") and our expectationscerning future operations, margins, profitabilitguidity and capital resources and to analysekather
information that are based on forecasts of futasellts and estimates of amounts not yet deterngnsd have used words such as "may," "will," "sdgulexpects,"
"intends," "plans," "anticipates," "believes," 'tkB," "estimates," "seeks," "expects," "predictsgduld," "projects," "potential" and other simil@rms and phrases,
including references to assumptions, in this refitientify forward-looking statements. These fard+looking statements are made based on expewatiod beliefs
concerning future events affecting the Companyaredsubject to uncertainties, risks and factoetire to our operations and business environmafitsf which are
difficult to predict and many of which are beyomhe tCompany's control, that could cause our acesallts to differ materially from those matters exgsed or implied
by these forward-looking statements. These riskisadner factors include those listed under "Ris&téis" and elsewhere in this report. The followfagtors, among
others, could cause our actual results and perfecento differ materially from the results and periance projected in, or implied by the forward-loakstatements:

o the Company's history of losses and expectatidarther losses;

o the effect of poor operating results on the Canyp

o the Company's ability to expand its operatienisath new and existing locations and the Compaahbjlgy to develop and mine its current and netessi
o the Company's ability to raise capital;

o the Company's ability to fully utilize and retaixecutives;

o the impact of litigation, including internatidrabitrations;

o the impact of federal, state, local or foreigiwvgrnment regulations;

o the effect of competition in the mining industayd

o economic and political conditions generally.

The Company assumes no obligation to publicly updatevise these forward-looking statements fgrraason, or to update the reasons actual resultd differ
materially from those anticipated in, or implied, tlyese forward-looking statements, even if newrimiation becomes available in the future.

Cautionary Note to U.S. Investors

The United States Securities and Exchange Commig#ie “SEC”)limits disclosure for U.S. reporting purposes tmenal deposits that a company can economi
and legally extract or produce. We use terms aschieserves,” “resources,” “geologic resourceprbVen,” “probable,” “measured,” “indicated,” omfierred,”which
may not be consistent with the reserve definitiesiblished by the SEC Industry Guide 7. Lawsddifin countries including Armenia and Chile aré ecansister
with SEC Industry Guide 7 regarding use of suchmger We are required to adhere to the mining lawgsraquirements of the countries we operate in lwhiclude
developing reserves as well as exploration andngiactivities pursuant to laws in the countries ighge operate and to be in compliance with liceesgirements
We acknowledge that due to the differences in lafvthe countries in which we operate and SEC IngluSuide 7, our mining activities are being repdrfer
informational and disclosure purposes based origioreountry requirements but also that the SEC duagsrecognize any of our properties as having emow
probable reserves established under SEC IndustigeGu Under SEC Industry Guide 7, we can onlyesthat we are in the exploration stage and hauvec
consistencies in mineralization amongst our dglliresults, even though we have foreign country @t reserves, resources, mining licenses, and sd
concentrate.




ITEM 1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
(1) GENERAL OVERVIEW

Global Gold is currently in the exploration statiés engaged in exploration for, as well as depeient and mining of, gold, silver, and other mifema Armenia,
Canada and Chile. Until March 31, 2011, the Compgamgadquarters were located in Greenwich, Conneaticd as of April 1, 2011 the Company’s headqusidee
in Rye, NY. Its subsidiaries and staff maintaificefs in Yerevan, Armenia, and Santiago, Chile. Teenpany was incorporated as Triad Energy Corpmrati the
State of Delaware on February 21, 1980 and condwttesr business prior to January 1, 1995. DurB@p]1the Company changed its name from Triad Energy
Corporation to Global Gold Corporation to pursudaia gold and copper mining rights in the formewri®t Republics of Armenia and Georgia. The Compaasy not
established proven and probable reserves in acoeedsith SEC Industry Guide 7 at any of its projstt The Company's stock is publicly traded. Then@any
employs approximately 100 people globally on a yeand basis and an additional 200 people on asahbasis.

Although the Company competes with multi-nationabing companies which have substantially greatsoweces and numbers of employees, the Companygs lon
term presence and the expertise and knowledge péisonnel in Armenia and in Chile allow it to gete with companies with greater resources.

In Armenia, the Company’s focus is on the explomtdevelopment and production of gold at the Toughuk property in the North Central Armenian Beld ¢he
Marjan and an expanded Marjan North property. Intadg the Company is exploring and developing otfites in Armenia, including the Getik properfihe
Company also holds royalty and participation rightsther locations in the country through afféiatand subsidiaries.

In Chile, the Company is engaged in identifyingdyexploration and production opportunities anddasoduction bonus interest in the Pureo property.

In Canada, the Company had engaged in uranium extjao activities in the provinces of Newfoundlaamt Labrador, but has phased out this activitpimetg a
royalty interest in the Cochrane Pond property @wfbundland.

The Company also assesses exploration and prodwagijmortunities in other countries.
The subsidiaries of the Company are as follows:

On January 24, 2003, the Company formed Globall@f® and Global Plata LLC, as wholly owned subsiiigy in the State of Delaware. These companies were
formed to be equal joint owners of a Chilean limiili@ability company, Minera Global Chile LimitadaMinera Global"), formed as of May 6, 2003, for thegmse of
conducting operations in Chile. On December 2,12@iie Company sold these subsidiaries to AmaraningiLtd. (“Amarant”).

On August 18, 2003, the Company formed Global Gatdenia LLC ("GGA"), as a wholly owned subsidiawhich in turn formed Global Gold Mining, LLC
("GGM"), as a wholly owned subsidiary, both in that8 of Delaware. GGM was qualified to do businesa branch operation in Armenia and owns asssjsltyo
and participation interests, as well as sharepefaiing companies in Armenia.

On December 21, 2003, GGM acquired 100% of the Aramelimited liability company SHA, LLC (renamed (®ial Gold Hankavan, LLC ("GGH") as of July 21,
2006), which held the license to the Hankavan angadvigroperties in Armenia. On December 18, 2®08 Company entered into an agreement with Caldera
Resources Inc. (“Caldera”) outlining the terms gdiat venture on the Company’s Marjan property imé&nia (“Marjan JV”). On March 12, 2010, GGH tramséel
the rights, title and interest for the Marjan prapéo Marjan Mining Company, a limited liability corapy incorporated under the laws of the Republi&rofienia
(“Marjan RA”) which is a wholly owned subsidiary GM. On October 7, 2010, the Company terminatedMhrjan JV. The Armenian Court of Cassation in a
final, non-appealable decision, issued and effedti@bruary 8, 2012, ruled that the registrationasslimption of control by Caldera through unildteharter changes
of the Marjan Mine and Marjan Mining Company, LLC wélegal and that 100% ownership rests fully with BGOn March 29, 2012, Justice Herman Cahn, who
was appointed by United States District Court Judgkerstein as the sole arbitrator in an Ameriéalitration Association arbitration between the Gamy and
Caldera, ruled in the Company’s favor on the issfue JV's termination ordering that the Marjangedy be 100% owned by the Company effective A28il

2012. See Legal Proceedings for more informatiothe Marjan JV.




On August 1, 2005, GGM acquired 51% of the Armetimaited liability company Mego-Gold, LLC ("Mego"), vith is the licensee for the Toukhmanuk mining
property and seven surrounding exploration sit@s.August 2, 2006, GGM acquired the remaining 49%4rast of Mego-Gold, LLC, leaving GGM as the owner of
100% of Mego-Gold, LLC. On September 26, 2012 Gbepany transferred 100% of the shares of Mego-Gdl@,to GGCR Mining, LLC. See Agreements for
more information on Mego-Gold, LLC.

On January 31, 2006, GGM closed a transaction toieec§0% of the Armenian company, Athelea Investsie@JSC (renamed "Getik Mining Company, LLC")
its approximately 27 square kilometer Getik goldhiom exploration license area in the northeasth@eginik province of Armenia. As of May 30, 2007G K
acquired the remaining 20% interest in Getik Min@gmpany, LLC, leaving GGM as the owner of 100% ofilG®lining Company, LLC. On September 26, 2(
the Company transferred 100% of the shares of Géitling Company, LLC to GGCR Mining, LLC. On Septeent26, 2012, the Company transferred 100% c
shares of Getik Mining Company, LLC to GGCR Minind,Q joint venture company. See Agreements for nidi@mation on Getik Mining Company, LLC.

On January 5, 2007, the Company formed Global Go&hium, LLC ("Global Gold Uranium"), as a whollyaed subsidiary, in the State of Delaware, to dpetee
Company's uranium exploration activities in Canada.

On August 9, 2007 and August 19, 2007, the Compilingugh Minera Global, entered agreements to fojoind venture and on October 29, 2007, the Company
closed its joint venture agreement with membeth®fQuijano family (“Quijano”) by which Minera Globassumed a 51% interest in the placer and hafdgolc
Madre de Dios and Pureo properties in south ce@tiédé, near Valdivia. The name of the joint ventaoenpany was Compania Minera Global Gold Valdivia.sl.
(“Global Gold Valdivia” or “GGV"). On August 14,aD9, the Company amended the above agreement whetebal Gold Valdivia became wholly owned by the
Company and retained only the Pureo Claims Blopbki@ximately 8,200 hectares), transferring the M&keDios claims block to the sole ownership to meralof
the Quijano family. On October 27, 2010, the Conypantered into an agreement with Conventus LBV bcorporation (“Conventus”) for the sale of 100#fterest
in GGV which was amended (with Conventus and Amguamd was closed on December 2, 2011. See Agrgsrfte more information on GGV.

On September 23, 2011, Global Gold Consolidated&ess Limited (“GGCRL") was incorporated in Jerseya 51% subsidiary of the Company pursuant to the
April 27, 2011 Joint Venture Agreement with Condated Resources. See Agreements Section for mioreiation on Consolidated Resources agreements.

On November 8, 2011, GGCR Mining, LLC (“GGCR Miningips formed in Delaware as a 100%, wholly ownebsgliary of GGCRL

The Company is a reporting company and is therefobgect to the requirements of the SecuritiesEmhange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchang®,Actd
accordingly files its Annual Report on Form 10-Kya&terly Reports on Form 10-Q, Definitive Proxyt8taents, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and otherinétion
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (ti€C'$. The public may read and copy any materiddsifivith the SEC at the SEC's Public Reference Rabt®0
F Street, NW, Washington, DC 20549. Please calStE€ at (800) SEC-0330 for further information ba Public Reference Room. As an electronic filee, t
Company's public filings are maintained on the SH@ternet site that contains reports, proxy aformation statements, and other information regey@suers that
file electronically with the SEC. The address dttivebsite is http://www.sec.gov.

The Company’s Annual and Quarterly filings are asoessible free of charge through the Compantgsret site after the Company has electronicaiyfsuch
material with, or furnished it to, the SEC. Thelabs of that website is http:// www.globalgoldcogm. However, such reports may not be accessibbeigh the
Company's website as promptly as they are accessiblhe SEC's website.




(2) INITIAL ARMENIAN MINING PROJECT

In 1996, the Company acquired rights under a Jéémture Agreement with the Ministry of Industry ofmenia and Armgold, S.E., the Armenian state entarp
formed to provide capital and multistage finanaifighe Armenian gold industry, which rights wenediized under the Second Armenian Gold Recovery izmy
Joint Venture Agreement, dated as of Septembet B1y.

As of January 31, 1997, the Company and Global @atdenia Limited, the Company's then wholly-ownealy@an Islands subsidiary ("GGA Cayman"), reached an
initial agreement with First Dynasty Mines, Ltd., o#e name changed to Sterlite Gold Ltd. On JuB0B2 ("Sterlite"), a Canadian public company ambse shares
were traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange witheesio the initial Armenian project. The Compang&Cayman and Sterlite entered into a definitiveeaghent,
dated May 13, 1997. Under such agreement, Stedifeid all of the stock of GGA Cayman, subjeatédtain conditions, by advancing funds in stagesssary for
the implementation of the tailings reprocessingqmioand the preparation of engineering and busipks materials for the Armenian Joint Venture and

delivering 4,000,000 shares of First Dynasty (I&rlite) Common Stock to the Company (the "FDMdégnent"). The parties thereafter amended the FDM
Agreement on July 24, 1998. Pursuant to the FDM Aguent, the Company retained the right until Decearthie2009 to elect to participate at a level otaR0%
with Sterlite, or any of its affiliates or successm interest, in any exploration project undeetaky them in Armenia. As of December 31, 2004 Gbepany did not
own any shares of Sterlite common stock. In 20G&janta Resources plc ("Vedanta") acquired confrSterlite through Twin Star International Limit€t'SI"), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Vedanta. Inp8smber 2007, Vedanta (and Sterlite) announcedtibegthad closed a stock sale transaction with Ge@diRing
Ltd., which made GeoProMining Ltd. and its affiliatiie successors to the 20% obligation.




(3) ARMENIA PROPERTIES

The Company operates an office in Yerevan, Armesiare it manages its exploration and mining adéisias well as reviews potential acquisitions. Arsaowing
the location of the properties in Armenia (belowyl@ther information on the properties are locatethe Company's website.
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Hankavan

Hankavan is located in central Armenia in the K&tpgovince between Vanadzor and Meghradzor northeMarmarik River.

GGH acquired Hankavan licenses in December of 20@Righ the acquisition of the Armenian companyASH_C (since renamed Global Gold Hankavan, LLC

("GGH")), and conducted a drilling program alonghnather exploration activities to confirm the bistal feasibility work done on the copper, molyhde and gold
mineralization in the Soviet era. GGH also exparitedxploration activities to six other, smalleehse areas in and around Hankavan. In addi@@&H conducted
exploration and planned to determine the feasjhiffta quick start mining operation for copper @xid this area. These activities have not beanedgpursued

pending performance of a conditional, confidergittlement agreement with the Armenian Governmetered as of February 25, 2008.

See Item 1A “Risk Factors” and Item 3 “Legal Pratiags”, below.




Marjan

The Marjan mining property is located in Southwesi#&menia, along the Nakichevan border in the Sypnovince. The property is accessible by carak
through existing paved and dirt roads. The prgperiudes two parts; Marjan Central, where earlilidg and underground exploration has been cariedand
Marjan North (Mazmazak), which is situated some hbrlorth of Marjan Central. The whole property iggbly rectangular in shape, 3.2 km wide by 6.1 km
long. The approximate geographic coordinates @ptioperty are, 39° 24’ 00” Latitude and 45° 51" 06ngitude. Electric power is proximate to theperty. There
is also a river which passes in the immediate pnayito the property. The Company does not hawefacilities or material equipment at the properfyhe Company
has an Armenian government approved and licensethgnplan and has done exploration work at the @nybut has not developed any significant surface
underground works or infrastructure with the eximepof approximately 62 kilometers of roads buitpproximately 60,000 tonnes of mineralized rock baen
mined and stockpiled. All equipment needed is ghdtio the site on an as needed basis from the @aygother properties or from contractors.

The area of the Marjan Property is underlain byi&grtvolcanic rocks, which have been intruded bstmoorthwest trending dioritic dykes. The bulktbé gold and
silver mineralization is contained within polyméiakulphide veins, which are associated with noxnthwest trending hydrothermal alteration zonEsese alteratic
zones are readily observed on the surface astagtgey zones on outcrops. Two types of gold nailiestion have been observed. These are gold alination
associated with sulphide veins in volcanic rocks] gold mineralization adjacent to dioritic dykesich intrude the volcanic rocks.

The Company does not currently have establishethres at the Marjan Property, except as reportetidofRepublic of Armenia State Committee on Reserves
(“GKZ") which is available on the Company’s websited is focusing on exploration work based on Arnaremistorical GKZ records (please refer to thet@anary
Note to U.S. Investo” on page 3 of this report). The Company has dgwdogical mapping, ground geophysical surveysctigng and diamond drill testing at
Marjan and continues its exploration work there Hasethe Armenian historical GKZ records in conjiime with the exploration work and results done so

far. Additional exploration and mining work wilked to be funded with additional funds raised thojoint ventures, debt, equity or a combinaticer¢of.

The Marjan property is a lode deposit which willhimed using open pits and underground adits. Tdragany has one national special mining license #HA-
14/526, since replaced under the new 2012 Arméddiiamg Code with License #29/398 (available on th@rany’s website), which includes the Armenian
government approved reserve numbers and coveexsuifjhts for mining, exploration and related jpses for gold and non-ferrous metals (please tefére
“Cautionary Note to U.S. Investors” on page 3 df tieport). The license area is defined by thie¥dhg coordinates:

1. X =4365000 3. X =4363770 5. X =4360000
Y = 8570000 Y = 8574530 Y = 8572700

2. X = 4366800 4. X =4360400
Y = 8572000 Y = 8575250

In 2012, the Company re-established possessioficGamse rights over the Marjan property after Caddeillegal possession. The Company also beganiaw and
update of the previously approved mining plan (aédé on the Company’s website) for the property selected a mine contractor to implement the rginifihe
Company also updated prior exploration resultetect new drilling targets. As of December 31,20he Company has not generated any revenue fues ef any
concentrate or other mineralized material at top@rty. As of December 31, 2012, the Company hestsapproximately $3,516,500 on mining and expiona
activities at this property, excluding acquisiteomd capital costs.




This property was previously explored during thei8pbera. SHA, LLC applied for an original licenfsem the Armenian Government. GGM acquired 1009164,
LLC, the Armenian company which held the licenséhproperty in December 2003. On April 28, 2068, Company was issued a twenty-five year “speunialng
license” for the Marjan property effective April 2208 and expiring April 22, 2033 which expandsgher license term and substantially increaseditiease area
from approximately 1,400 acres to approximately0@,8cres. The Company is required to pay annuargmental fees of approximately $55,000. The Camygps
also required to perform work at the property dmsitted and approved in its mining plan which intda mining of 200,000 tonnes of mineralized roakuatly
starting in 2013 under Armenian Law in order to mein the licenses in good standing (please refére “Cautionary Note to U.S. Investors” on pag# ghis
report). On March 12, 2010, GGH transferred thbtsgtitle and interest for the Marjan property torjdia Mining Company, a limited liability company mporated
under the laws of the Republic of Armenia (“MarjaA”R Marjan Mining Company is the licensee of therda Property and is a wholly owned subsidiaryhef t
Company.

On December 18, 2009, the Company entered intgeeement with Caldera outlining the terms of atjggnture on the Company’s Marjan property in Arraeni
(“Marjan JV”).

On March 24, 2010, the Company signed an agreem#nOaldera establishing the terms for a joint ueaton the Company’s Marjan property in Armenia (“Mar
JV”) which amended the December 18, 2009 agreement.

The agreement was subject to approval by the TSXure Exchange and the Board of Directors of tpeetive companies. As of April 30, 2010, Caldeaia the
Company $100,000. Caldera further informed the @amy that it received TSX Venture Exchange approwahe transaction, which subsequently proveceto b
untrue. On October 7, 2010, the Company termindted/larjan JV for Caldera’s non-payment and norigperance as well as Caldera’s illegal registrations
Armenia and other actions. In October 2010, Caldiéed for arbitration in New York City. In Septder 2010, at Caldera’s invitation, the Comparsdfito reverse
the illegal registration in Armenia. That litigei and the New York arbitration were subsequemtpived in favor of the Company, restoring the Canyis 100%
ownership of Marjan. The Armenian Government issueew mining license to the Company’s wholly owsabsidiary Marjan Mining Company on March 5, 2013.

See Legal Matters for an update on the Marjan JV.
See Item 1A “Risk Factors” and Item 3 “Legal Pratiegs”, below.
Toukhmanuk

The Toukhmanuk property is adjacent to the Hankgvaperty in central Armenia, between the Aragatsotd Kotayk provinces. The property includes seven
surrounding exploration sites as well as othertassghe property is located approximately 60 k& Kih by road) north of Yerevan, close to the TowAparan and
some 75 km (by road) from the Alaverdi copper sergtt northern Armenia. Access to the Toukhmanwdp®erty is by paved road (about 57 km from Yereteathne
turn-off of the road north of Aparan and about b5y dirt road from Aparan to Melikkyugh, the neaxlijage to the site). Local infrastructure is dable at the site
and at nearby towns. Infrastructure at the sitbugtes electrical power, cell phone network andlfoailding equipment. Logistical support, in teraigpower, is
available at the Toukhmanuk site, and at Melikkyughich is linked by a 10 Kv line to the ArmenianviRer grid. Water is available from natural souradthin the
property, independent of community sources. Intamidto the central property, the acquisition imt¢d a 200,000 tonne per year capacity plant. Cdmpany has
maintained the plant’s crushers, mills, and gr&witacircuits in good condition while also addinggydro cyclone and flotation cells, as well as thunify a new tailings
dam. Other major assets at the property includeraébulldozers, excavators and a track trencliectware all in good condition. The property adlsdudes some
temporary housing units, and hangers which are tsstbre core samples, a gold room, and a newckstlied laboratory.

The area of the Toukhmanuk Property is underlaga@minantly by Jurassic volcanic rocks and Cretas@atrusive rocks. The volcanic rocks comprisgesites and
dacites, and the intrusive rocks are dominantiyigicawith minor granitic gneiss and amphiboliteBarts of the area are also covered by Tertiargavit rocks
including obsidian and perlites. Gold mineraliaatin the Toukhmanuk area is hosted by both votcand intrusive rocks.

On October 27, 2009, the Company issued a presaseeannouncing the first stage of approval ofvesdor its Toukhmanuk expansion. The Republidfenia’s
State Natural Resources Agency (the "Agency") dstsecertificate based on the proposal of the AgenState Geological Expert Commission made duitsg
October 23, 2009 session. The total approval waghly 21,900,000 tonnes of ore with an average gade of 1.62 grams per tonne at a cut off grd@e89 grams
per tonne and an average silver grade of 4.88 gpamtonne.




On November 18, 2009, the Company issued a pressseeannouncing that following up on the issuari¢be approving a first stage gold reserve, thpuRéc of
Armenia’s State Natural Resources Agency (the “Ag&rhas delivered its full decision with backudadations on November 13, 2009. The Agency isstsed
decision based on the proposal of the Agency’'sSt&blogical Expert Commission made during its G@et®3, 2009 session. A copy of the official appt@and a
partial unofficial translation are available on twmpany’s website www.globalgoldcorp.cdptease refer to the “Cautionary Note to U.S. Inoess on page 3 of this
report).

The Company has done geological mapping, grounghgesical surveys, trenching and diamond drill tegtt Toukhmanuk and continues its exploration vibeke
based on the Armenian historical GKZ records inwaction with the exploration work and results daoefar (please refer to the “Cautionary Note t8.Unvestors”
on page 3 of this report). Additional explorativork will need to be funded with additional fun@ésed through joint ventures, debt, equity or mlsmation
thereof.

The Toukhmanuk property is a lode deposit whidbeisig mined using an open pit method. The Compasyone national exploration license #15, as ertnd
covering approximately 10,915 acres for sub-suréagsoitation of gold. The Company also has orte@nal mining license #HA-L-14/356, since replacetler the
new 2012 Armenian Mining Code with License #29/1&daflable on the Company’s website), which covieesdentral section of the property and is approtefga
446 acres for mining gold and silver. On Decen#®r2012, the Company received the new, renewalnimgnilicense through August 5, 2017. The Compiany
required to pay annual governmental fees of apprately $32,000. The Company is also required émd@nnually approximately $1,200,000 on exploratiork
and mining annually 168,500 tonnes of mineralizezkrat the property as submitted and approvedimihing plan in order to maintain the licensegaod
standing (please refer to the “Cautionary Not&18. Investors” on page 3 of this report). Thelesgiion license area is defined by the followirginates:

Tukhmanuk Property, Armenia

Corner Easting (X) Northing (Y)
1 4501580 8444500
2 4504350 8447800
3 4502700 8450000
4 4504050 8451850
5 4503250 8452250
6 4503300 8453950
7 4502500 8453900
8 4502400 8450850
9 4501950 8451350
10 4501680 8452550
11 4500525 8453380
12 4499730 8453950
13 4499800 8451600
14 4500650 8451550
15 4500700 8450600
16 4500000 8449870
17 4498550 8450700
18 4497000 8450650
19 4497000 8448370
20 4497900 8448700
21 4498200 8447550
22 4497000 8446100
23 4497000 8444400
24 4499000 8444400
25 4491750 8445650
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In 2008, GGM upgraded the plant and lab, instadlegw gold room, recommenced mining and produafaoncentrate, and continued its analysis of tir year’s
drill results. Also, the Company compiled its mgereport and submitted it to the state committeeeserves of Armenia in March 2009 (please reféne
“Cautionary Note to U.S. Investors” on page 3 af tieport). The Company has generated minimasgaden gold and silver concentrate from the propeBales
were approximately $6,000 in 2006, $10,400 in 20@thing in 2008, $136,600 in 2009, $358,400 in@®B1,702 in 2011, and none in 2012. The Compasy
mined mineralized rock of approximately 52,000 &sim 2006 with content of approximately 1.27 gfdgand 6.37 g/t silver, no mining in 2007, approately
82,000 tonnes in 2008 with content of approximale8b g/t gold and 5.21 g/t silver, no mining ir020approximately 21,000 tonnes in 2010 with condén
approximately 2.08 g/t gold and 5.68 g/t silvepm@ximately 21,400 tonnes in 2011 with contentgfraximately 0.92 g/t gold and 3.32 g/t silver, ammdmining in
2012. As of December 31, 2012, the Company hast sypproximately $11,130,000 on mining and exploraactivities at this property, excluding acquésitand
capital costs. In 2012, the Company installed meav mills at the plant to increase capacity anitieficy, but did not process any ore pending apgdrand
construction of a new tailings dam and resolutibjoimt venture issues.

On May 22, 2008, the government of Armenia issuéspacial exploration licensetd the Company for the Toukhmanuk mining propeifye license was effecti
May 13, 2008 to expire on May 13, 2010 was extendec additional two years and as a matter of nghlsuant to the Armenian Mining Code is being edtée
until May 13, 2015. The exploration license doesaifect the Company'’s license over the smallerit@ad Section” of the property.

On August 1, 2005, GGM entered into a share purcageement to acquire the Armenian limited liapiiompany Mego-Gold, LLC which acquired the licefreen
the government for the Toukhmanuk mining propentst surrounding exploration sites as well as theesvarfi the related  processing plant and otheztasOn
August 2, 2006, GGM exercised its option to acqthieeremaining forty-nine percent (49%) of Mego-GaldC.

As of March 17, 2011, the Company entered intogreement (the “Formation Agreement”) with ConsdiédbResources USA, LLC, a Delaware company (“CRU”
for a joint venture on the Company’s Toukhmanuk &wudik properties in Armenia (the “Propertiespon payment of the initial consideration as preddelow
Global Gold and CRU will work together for twelveonths (the “12 Month Periodtp develop the Properties and cause the Propéoties contributed to a new jo
venture company, whose identity and terms will beually agreed, (the “JVC”). Rasia, a Dulbaised principal advisory company, acted as solésadwen thi
transaction.

Key terms include CRU paying initial consideratioh$5,000,000 as a working capital commitment tolfal Gold payable by: a $500,000 advance immeg
following the execution of the Formation Agreeméthie “Advance”); 4,400,000 payable following the satisfactory cortipte of due diligence by CRU and -
execution of definitive documents in 30 days frdme date of this Agreement; and $3,100,000 accortting separate schedule in advance and payablenvé
business days of the end of every calendar montieeded.

On April 27, 2011, the Company entered into an egent with Consolidated Resources Armenia, an ekaoipresident Cayman Islands company (“CRA”); @ad
affiliate CRU, (hereinafter collectively referrealas “CR”), to fund development and form a joinbitge on the Properties (the “JV Agreement”). TheAgreement
was entered pursuant to the Formation Agreement.

CR completed its due diligence with satisfactiand as of the date of the JV Agreement completeduthding of the required $500,000 Advance. Upantdrms an
subject to the conditions of JV Agreement, CR wiimplete the funding of the remaining $4,500,000t®f$5,000,000 working capital commitment relate
Toukhmanuk and Getik according to an agreed, o#strifunding schedule which includes $1,400,000apkey following the execution of the Agreement ahe
remaining $3,100,000 payable over the next 12 nsowith payments occurring within 5 business daythefend of each calendar month as needed. ItiGudvr.
Jeffrey Marvin of CR was elected a member of theb@ldsold Board of Directors and attended the Comsaemnual meeting on June 10, 2011. As of Deceib
2011, the Company received the full $5,000,000 ifupédtom CR. Mr. Marvin resigned from the Global @dloard on February 24, 2012 for personal reasons.
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Pursuant to the JV Agreement, Global Gold and CRewerking together for twelve months (the “12 Moitériod”)from the date of the JV Agreement to dev:
the Properties, improve the financial performannd anhance shareholder value. The JV Agreemeriilen&lobal Gold to complete its current Toukhme
production expansion to 300,000 tonnes per yeaadrence exploration in Armenia. Global Gold arRl &ree to form a new Joint Venture Company (“JMGe
established by CR, subject to terms and conditioatually and reasonably agreed with Global Goldyjated that JVC shall have no liabilities, obligeis, contingel
or not, or commitments, except pursuant to a studebhs’ agreement. Global Gold and CR intend tegrate all of Global Golg’ Toukhmanuk and Getik mining ¢
exploration operations into the JVC.

The JVC will (i) own, develop and operate Toukhmaand Getik, (ii) be a company listed on an excledindly admitted to trading or be in the procesdeihg listed
on such exchange and (iii) have no liabilitiesjgdtions, contingent or not, or commitments exgepsuant to the shareholders agreement. The J¥Gsue new
shares to the Company such that following any sevarerger or initial public offering of JVC's sta(®PO"), Global Gold shall directly or indirecthold the greater
of (a) 51% of the equity of JVC, or (b) $40.0 natiiin newly issued stock of JVC, calculated basethe volume weighted average price ("VWAP") offssbares
over the first 30 (thirty) days of trading follovgrthe IPO, assuming issuance of all shares issuathe IPO, and assuming issuance of all shaseside as
management shares and conversion of the Notegissger the Instrument (as defined) and all otbewertible securities and exercise of any warrantsther
securities issued in connection with the IPO, ghelif following any reverse merger or IPO, théuesof $40.0 million in newly issued shares based/@&AP of JVC
shares is greater than the Global Gold's 51% eguityership in JVC valued as above, new shares @wWWM be issued to the Global Gold such that thgragate
value of Global Gold's ownership in JVC is sharagig a value of $40.0 million based on VWAP, anel Eompany shall remain in control of the JVC failag the
public listing.

On February 6, 2012, the Company received consent Ehareholders representing a majority over 6%%sooutstanding Common Stock to transfer the 1
interests in Mego and Getik Mining Company, LLC i@&CR Mining, LLC, a Delaware limited liability compg, owned by a joint venture company, Global (
Consolidated Resources Limited, a Jersey Islandigrilimited company (“GGCR”per the terms of the April 27, 2011 Joint Venturgrédement with Consolidat
Resources Armenia, an exempt non-resident Cayntandis company (“CRA“)The JVC was to issue new shares to the Company teatHollowing any rever:
merger or initial public offering of JVC's shar8dPQ©"), Global Gold shall directly or indirectly kibthe greater of (a) 51% of the equity of JVC(lmr$40.0 million ir
newly issued stock of JVC, calculated based orvttheme weighted average price ("VWAP") of such skawver the first 30 (thirty) days of trading felimg the IPC
assuming issuance of all shares issuable in the &A@ assuming issuance of all shares issuableamagament shares and conversion of the Notedisswer th
Instrument (as defined) and all other convertilgleusities and exercise of any warrants or otheuréiggs issued in connection with the IPO, such thiollowing any
reverse merger or IPO, the value of $40.0 millioméwly issued shares based on VWAP of JVC shargeater than the Global Gold's 51% equity owrniprishJVC
valued as above, new shares in JVC will be isso¢he Global Gold such that the aggregate valu@lobal Gold's ownership in JVC is shares havinglae of $40.
million based on VWAP, and the Company shall reniaicontrol of the JVC following the public listingll as further described in exhibit 10.34 belolihe Board c
Directors of Global Gold Corporation previously apged the same transaction, discussed above, oadab, 2012.

Based on the approval of the Board of Director&lobal Gold received on January 5, 2012 and onviececonsent from its shareholders representirey av65%
majority of its outstanding Common Stock on Febyu&r2012, to transfer the 100% interest in Mego @etlk Mining Company, LLC into GGCR Mining, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (“GGCR Mining"pwned by a joint venture company, Global Gold Cdidated Resources Limited, a Jersey Island prilmatiéed
company (“GGCR?”), per the terms of the April 27,12QJoint Venture Agreement with Consolidated ResesiArmenia, an exempt non-resident Cayman Islands
company (“CRA"), the Company entered into thedaling agreements on or about February 19, 2012tungdarevious agreements, all as further describdle
exhibits attached, on the following dates:
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Shareholders Agreement for GGCR dated Februar@® (Exhibit 10.36)

Supplemental Letter dated February 19, 2012 (kixh0.37)

Getik Assignment and Assumption Agreement datgatdrary 19, 2012 (Exhibit 10.38)

MG Assignment and Assumption Agreement dated FRebrio, 2012 (Exhibit 10.39)

Guaranty dated February 19, 2012 (by GGC to CEAhibit 10.40)

Guaranty dated February 19, 2012 (by GGCR MininGRA) (Exhibit 10.41)

Security Agreement dated February 19, 2012 (bzR@nd GGCR Mining to CRA) (Exhibit 10.42)

Action by Written Consent of the Sole Member of @&Mining, LLC dated February 19, 2012 (Exhibit 1%).4
Certificate of Global Gold Corporation dated Rebry 19, 2012 (Exhibit 10.44)

Global Gold Consolidated Resources Limited Regest Company No 109058 Written resolutions by fathe directors of the Company (Exhibit 10.45)
Action by Written Consent of the Board of Managef&GCR Mining, LLC (Exhibit 10.46)

Key terms included that Global Gold will retain 5B#tthe shares of GGCR, which will be a subsidiafrithe Company, per the terms of the April 27, 20a&iht
Venture Agreement as approved and described abbve Board of Directors of GGCR Mining would be caised of Van Krikorian, from GGC, Prem Premraj,nfro
CRA, and three non-executive independent dired¢tobe selected in the future. Pending the clgosfrany, GGM was designated as the manager of thixAmanuk
and Getik properties, with reasonable costs indubseGGM with respect thereto being passed throagB@CRL and GGCR Mining, as applicable, for
reimbursement. The April 26, 2012 deadline séh@April 2011 JV Agreement to close the transacfiassed without a closing for several reasongreasgously
reported, clarification and settlement effortsduled.

On September 26, 2012, GGM entered into two Sharsfer Agreements with GGCR Mining covering thedfanof all the shares of the Armenian companiesd
and the Getik Mining Company, LLC which respectivietld the Toukhmanuk and Getik mining propertiedimenia. The Share Transfer Agreements were
concluded in accordance with the previously dissdbagreements with Consolidated Resources Armexi&ansolidated Resources USA, LLC, a Delawaredidhi
liability company to fund development and form ejoenture on the Company’s Toukhmanuk and Getilperties in Armenia. GGCR Mining will (i) own, defop
and operate Toukhmanuk and Getik gold mining prigeerand be a (i) be a company listed on an exghdully admitted to trading. As of September 2®]12,
GGCRL resolved reported outstanding issues whichithacked implementation of the joint venture agreat and execution of the Share Transfer

Agreements. Global Gold’s ownership in GGCRLnd ahall be the greater value of either 51% omptioforma value of $40.0 million 30 days after steck is
publicly traded. The sole officers of GGCRL asSafptember 19, 2012 are: Mr. Van Krikorian, Exe@utBhairman; Mr. Jan Dulman, Financial
Controller/CFO/Treasurer; and Mr. Ashot Boghossiaménia Managing Director, with Ogier -Corporate $&s (Jersey) Limited continuing as secretary ef th
Company. See attached Exhibits 10.58 and 10.59.

On October 26, 2012, the shares of Mego and Getik vegjistered, subject to terms and conditiondasdin the transfer documents, with the Statd$Rggof the
Republic of Armenia, as being fully owned by GGCRMg. The registration was completed after apdranses given by ABB which required Global Gold to
guaranty the ABB line of credit payable. The joiehture was closed in 2012.

See Item 1A “Risk Factors” and Item 3 “Legal Pratiegs”, below.
Getik

The Getik property is located in the northeast Gegiinik province of Armenia north-east of Lake Seaad approximately 110 km north-east of Yerevahe
property is accessible by car or truck throughterdspaved and dirt roads. Gas and electric p@semvailable at the property. The property isted in the
Alaverdi-Kapan metallogenic zone on the edge of3bean suture zone in an area characterized bgnadenic sedimentary rocks of Jurassic and Eoagae A
series of granitoid intrusives varying from ganai@to rhyolite composition have been identifiedhe area associated with a regional scale eastttremding fault
and locale scale north-south trending faults. Chewpany does not have any facilities or mategaigment at the property. The Company has onlyedoploration
work at the property and has not developed anyifgignt surface or underground working or infrastire. All equipment needed is brought to the @iten as
needed basis from the Company’s other properti&®or contractors.
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The Company does not currently have establishestwes at the Getik Property and is focusing onaragion work based on Armenian historical GKZ retsor The
Company has done geological mapping, ground gedgaiysirveys, trenching and diamond drill testib@atik and continues its exploration work thersdzhon the
Armenian historical GKZ records in conjunction witte exploration work and results done so far @@#e@fer to the “Cautionary Note to U.S. Investans’page 3 of
this report). On October 17, 2011, the Compangivet! an updated NI-43-101 format independent teahreport prepared by Behre Dolbear Internatidmalited
for the Toukhmanuk and Getik properties in Armeania reporting on new discoveries at Toukhmanuk wg@vailable on the Company’s website.  Addiio
exploration work will need to be funded with adalital funds raised through joint ventures, debtjtgaqur a combination thereof.

The Getik property is a lode deposit which willlbéned using an open pit. The Company has two Natiexploration licenses #85 which covers sub-serfa
exploitation of precious metals in the Amrots masition and #86 which covers sub-surface expioitaif non-ferrous metals in the Aygut manifestatias further
described below. These licenses have since be&tes under the new 2012 Armenian Mining Code Wwitliense #29/034 and #29/035, respectively, whigsirexor
December 10, 2013. The Company is required tcapayial governmental fees of $1,000. The Compaalssrequired to spend approximately $1,000,000 on
exploration work in order to maintain the licengegood standing. The exploration license aretefged by the following coordinates for the Amrgtdd
manifestation and Aygut copper manifestation:

Amrots manifestation

X = 4507000 X = 4504350 9. X = 4504000
Y = 8517000 Y = 8521350 Y = 8519650
X = 4507000 X = 4504450 10. X =4504350
Y = 8525000 Y = 8520850 Y = 8519000
X = 4503000 X = 4504350 11. X =4504750
Y = 8525000 Y = 8520350 Y = 8517000
X = 4503000 X =4504125
Y = 8522000 Y = 8520250
Amrots manifestation
X = 4507000 X =4504750
Y = 8516000 Y = 8517000
X = 4507000 X = 4504950
Y = 8517000 Y = 8516000

In 2009, Getik Mining Company, LLC engaged in mappisampling, drill analysis and other exploratioorkvat the Getik property. As of December 31, 20068
Company has not generated any revenue from salsyafoncentrate or other mineralized materighatroperty. As of December 31, 2011, the Comasyspent
approximately $650,000 on mining and exploratiotivities at this property, excluding acquisitiondarapital costs.

On December 10, 2008, the government of Armenigeids new special exploration license expiring Dréaer 10, 2013. The Company will conduct further
exploration activities during this period.

On January 31, 2006, GGM closed a share purchaseragnt, dated as of January 23, 2006, with AtHekestments, CISC ("Al") to transfer 80% of therssaf Al
to GGM in exchange for 100,000 of the Company’s camistock. Al was renamed the "Getik Mining CompdryC." As of May 30, 2007, GGM acquired the
remaining twenty percent interest in Getik Miningn@many, LLC, leaving GGM as the owner of one hungredtent of Getik Mining Company, LLC.

As of March 17, 2011, the Company entered intogreement (the “Formation Agreement”) with ConsdiédbResources USA, LLC, a Delaware company (“CRU”
for a joint venture on the Company’s Toukhmanuk &wudik properties in Armenia (the “Propertiesypon payment of the initial consideration as preddelow
Global Gold and CRU will work together for twelveonihs (the “12 Month Periodtp develop the Properties and cause the Propéoties contributed to a new jo
venture company, whose identity and terms will beually agreed, (the “JVC”). Rasia, a Dulbaised principal advisory company, acted as solésadwen thi
transaction.

14




Key terms include CRU paying initial consideratioh$5,000,000 as a working capital commitment tol@l Gold payable by: a $500,000 advance immeg
following the execution of the Formation Agreeméthie “Advance”); 4,400,000 payable following the satisfactory cortipte of due diligence by CRU and -
execution of definitive documents in 30 days frdme date of this Agreement; and $3,100,000 accortling separate schedule in advance and payablaé
business days of the end of every calendar montieeded.

On April 27, 2011, the Company entered into an egeent with Consolidated Resources Armenia, an ekaoipresident Cayman Islands company (“CRA”); @ad
affiliate CRU, (hereinafter collectively referrealas “CR”), to fund development and form a joinbttge on the Properties (the “JV Agreement”). TheAgreement
was entered pursuant to the Formation Agreement.

CR completed its due diligence with satisfactiard as of the date of the JV Agreement completeduthding of the required $500,000 Advance. Upantd#rms an
subject to the conditions of JV Agreement, CR wiimplete the funding of the remaining $4,500,000t®f$5,000,000 working capital commitment relate
Toukhmanuk and Getik according to an agreed, otsttifunding schedule which includes $1,400,000apbey following the execution of the Agreement ahe
remaining $3,100,000 payable over the next 12 nsowith payments occurring within 5 business daythefend of each calendar month as needed. ItiGddvr.
Jeffrey Marvin of CR was elected a member of theb@ld@old Board of Directors and attended the Comsaamnual meeting on June 10, 2011. As of DeceBib
2011, the Company received the full $5,000,000 ifuppédtom CR. Mr. Marvin resigned from the Global @dloard on February 24, 2012 for personal reasons.

Pursuant to the JV Agreement, Global Gold and CRwrking together for twelve months (the “12 MoRriod”) from the date of the JV Agreement to depe
the Properties, improve the financial performanua @nhance shareholder value. The JV Agreemebten&lobal Gold to complete its current Toukhmanuk
production expansion to 300,000 tonnes per yeaadudnce exploration in Armenia. Global Gold al &yree to form a new Joint Venture Company (“JVGhe
established by CR, subject to terms and conditioatially and reasonably agreed with Global Goldyjated that JVC shall have no liabilities, obligeis, contingent
or not, or commitments, except pursuant to a sldders’ agreement. Global Gold and CR intend tegrate all of Global Gold’s Toukhmanuk and Getikimg and
exploration operations into the JVC.

The JVC will (i) own, develop and operate Toukhmaand Getik, (ii) be a company listed on an exclediofly admitted to trading or be in the procesdeig listed
on such exchange and (iii) have no liabilitiesjgdtions, contingent or not, or commitments exgepsuant to the shareholders agreement. The J¥Gsue new
shares to the Company such that following any ssvarerger or initial public offering of JVC's ste(®PO"), Global Gold shall directly or indirecthold the greater
of (a) 51% of the equity of JVC, or (b) $40.0 natiiin newly issued stock of JVC, calculated basethe volume weighted average price ("VWAP") offssbares
over the first 30 (thirty) days of trading follovgrthe IPO, assuming issuance of all shares issirabihe IPO, and assuming issuance of all shasesiide as
management shares and conversion of the Noteglissger the Instrument (as defined) and all otbewertible securities and exercise of any warrantsther
securities issued in connection with the IPO, ghelif following any reverse merger or IPO, théueaof $40.0 million in newly issued shares base@WAP of JVC
shares is greater than the Global Gold's 51% eguityership in JVC valued as above, new shares @wWWM be issued to the Global Gold such that thgragate
value of Global Gold's ownership in JVC is sharagig a value of $40.0 million based on VWAP, amel Company shall remain in control of the JVC failng the
public listing.

On February 6, 2012, the Company received consent Ehareholders representing a majority over 6%%sooutstanding Common Stock to transfer the 1
interests in Mego and Getik Mining Company, LLC i@GCR Mining, LLC, a Delaware limited liability compg, owned by a joint venture company, Global (
Consolidated Resources Limited, a Jersey Islandigrilimited company (“GGCR”"per the terms of the April 27, 2011 Joint Venturgrédement with Consolidat
Resources Armenia, an exempt non-resident Cayntandis company (“CRA“)The JVC was to issue new shares to the Company thatHollowing any rever:
merger or initial public offering of JVC's shar8dPQ©"), Global Gold shall directly or indirectly libthe greater of (a) 51% of the equity of JVC(lmr $40.0 million it
newly issued stock of JVC, calculated based orvttheme weighted average price ("VWAP") of such skawver the first 30 (thirty) days of trading felimg the IPC
assuming issuance of all shares issuable in the &A@ assuming issuance of all shares issuableamagament shares and conversion of the Notedisswer th
Instrument (as defined) and all other convertilgleusities and exercise of any warrants or otheuréiggs issued in connection with the IPO, such thiollowing any
reverse merger or IPO, the value of $40.0 millioméwly issued shares based on VWAP of JVC shargseater than the Global Gold's 51% equity owngrishJVC
valued as above, new shares in JVC will be isso¢he GlobalGold such that the aggregate value of Global Galisership in JVC is shares having a value of §
million based on VWAP, and the Company shall reniiocontrol of the JVC following the public listingll as further described in exhibit 10.34 belotihe Board ¢
Directors of Global Gold Corporation previously apged the same transaction, discussed above, oadab, 2012.
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Based on the approval of the Board of Director&lobal Gold received on January 5, 2012 and oriviegeconsent from its shareholders representirey av65%
majority of its outstanding Common Stock on Febyu&r2012to transfer the 100% interest in Mego aatikGMining Company, LLC into GGCR Mining, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (“GGCR Mining"pwned by a joint venture company, Global Gold Ctidated Resources Limited, a Jersey Island prilatited
company (“GGCR?”), per the terms of the April 27,12QJoint Venture Agreement with Consolidated ResesiArmenia, an exempt non-resident Cayman Islands
company (“CRA"), the Company entered into thedaling agreements on or about February 19, 2012tungdarevious agreements, all as further describéke
exhibits attached, on the following dates:

Shareholders Agreement for GGCR dated Februar@® (Exhibit 10.36)

Supplemental Letter dated February 19, 2012 (&ixh0.37)

Getik Assignment and Assumption Agreement datgatdrary 19, 2012 (Exhibit 10.38)

MG Assignment and Assumption Agreement dated Rebrio, 2012 (Exhibit 10.39)

Guaranty dated February 19, 2012 (by GGC to CEAhibit 10.40)

Guaranty dated February 19, 2012 (by GGCR MininGRA) (Exhibit 10.41)

Security Agreement dated February 19, 2012 (bf8@nd GGCR Mining to CRA) (Exhibit 10.42)

Action by Written Consent of the Sole Member of @&Mining, LLC dated February 19, 2012 (Exhibit 1%).4
Certificate of Global Gold Corporation dated keby 19, 2012 (Exhibit 10.44)

Global Gold Consolidated Resources Limited Regest Company No 109058 Written resolutions by fathe directors of the Company (Exhibit 10.45)
Action by Written Consent of the Board of Managef&GCR Mining, LLC (Exhibit 10.46)

Key terms included that Global Gold will retain 5B#tthe shares of GGCR, which will be a subsidiafrthe Company, per the terms of the April 27, 20a&iht
Venture Agreement as approved and described abbve Board of Directors of GGCR Mining would be caised of Van Krikorian, from GGC, Prem Premraj,nfro
CRA, and three non-executive independent dired¢tobe selected in the future. Pending the clgosfrany, GGM was designated as the manager of thixAmanuk
and Getik properties, with reasonable costs indupseGGM with respect thereto being passed throagd@CRL and GGCR Mining, as applicable, for
reimbursement. The April 26, 2012 deadline séh@April 2011 JV Agreement to close the transacfiassed without a closing for several reasongreasously
reported, clarification and settlement effortsduled.

On September 26, 2012, GGM entered into two Sharsfer Agreements with GGCR Mining covering thedfanof all the shares of the Armenian companiesd
and the Getik Mining Company, LLC which respectivietld the Toukhmanuk and Getik mining propertieAimenia. The Share Transfer Agreements were
concluded in accordance with the previously dissdbagreements with Consolidated Resources Armexi&ansolidated Resources USA, LLC, a Delawaredidhi
liability company to fund development and form ejoenture on the Company’s Toukhmanuk and Getilperties in Armenia. GGCR Mining will (i) own, defop
and operate Toukhmanuk and Getik gold mining prigserand be a (i) be a company listed on an exghdully admitted to trading. As of September 2®]12,
GGCRL resolved reported outstanding issues whichithacked implementation of the joint venture agreat and execution of the Share Transfer

Agreements. Global Gold’s ownership in GGCRLnd ahall be the greater value of either 51% omptioforma value of $40.0 million 30 days after gteck is
publicly traded. The sole officers of GGCRL asSefptember 19, 2012 are: Mr. Van Krikorian, Exe@itBhairman; Mr. Jan Dulman, Financial
Controller/CFO/Treasurer; and Mr. Ashot Boghossiaménia Managing Director, with Ogier -Corporate $&s (Jersey) Limited continuing as secretary ef th
Company. See attached Exhibit 10.58 and 10.59.
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On October 26, 2012, the shares of Mego and Getik vegistered, subject to terms and conditiongadsdin the transfer documents, with the StatedRggof the
Republic of Armenia, as being fully owned by GGCRMg. The registration was completed after apdranses given by ABB which required Global Gold to
guaranty the ABB line of credit payable. The joiehture was closed in 2012.

See Item 1A “Risk Factors” and Item 3 “Legal Pratiegs”, below.

Lichkvadz-Tei and Terterasar
Lichtvadz-Tei and Terterasar are located in thétsua Armenia province of Syunik.

On August 15, 2005, GGM entered into a joint venageeement with Iberian Resources Limited’s subsjdiCaucusus Resources Ltd. (“CR”) to form theedligor
Mining Company, LLC ("AMC") on an 80% CR, 20% GGM k&si anticipation of jointly acquiring and develogi(a) for the Lichkvadz-Tei and Terterasar mining
properties as well as the associated plant andsasssouthern Armenia through the Armenian limiliedility company Sipan 1, LLC ("Sipan 1") whicé the licenset
and (b) mineral exploration and related propestighin a 20 kilometer radius of the southern Arnanfown of Aigedzor.

On December 19, 2006, GGM entered a "RestructuRogalty, and Joint Venture Termination AgreementhwCR. The agreement restructures the partiegdsgr
Mining Company Joint Venture to transfer GGM 's 20f&liest to CR in exchange for: one million doll&®.5% Net Smelter Return (“NSR”) royalty payabiteall
products produced from the Lichkvaz and Terterasaes as well as from any mining properties acauiinea 20 kilometer radius of the town of Aigedaosouthern
Armenia; the right to participate up to 20% in avew projects undertaken by Iberian or its affilgai® Armenia until August 15, 2015; and five mitlighares of
Iberian's common stock, which are restricted far pear. On February 28, 2007, Iberian Resourcegéddnannounced its merger with Tamaya Resourcegédm
(“Tamaya”), and Tamaya is now developing those ertigs. As part of the merger, the five milliorasts of Iberian’s common stock were exchangedidenty
million shares of Tamaya’'s common stock without egstrictions. GGM retains the right to participageto 20% in any new projects undertaken by Tanoayts
affiliates in Armenia until August 15, 2015 and th&% Net Smelter Return royalty as described ab®uing the year ended December 31, 2007, thepgaassold
all 20,000,000 shares of the Tamaya Resourceséadn$tock that it owned. In 2008, Tamaya and IbeRasources filed for bankruptcy in Australia.2009, the
bankruptcy administrators sold the shares of Sipdr.C to Terranova Overseas company organizeldrinited Arab Emirates which, on information dmdief,
includes local and foreign investors and whiclo @ssumes the continuing obligations of Sipan IC th Global Gold. The Company has taken actigorétect its
rights. On information and belief, the license lfarthkvadz-Tei was terminated by Armenian authestin March 2009 and has been issued to anotherasgmywhich
on information and belief, includes local and fgreinvestors..

See Item 1A “Risk Factors” and Item 3 “Legal Pratiegs”, below.
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(4) CHILE PROPERTIES

The Company has a vice-president who operatesfime af Santiago, Chile which has been engagedgtoeation activities and development of miningjpats, and
is engaged in ongoing acquisition review. A mapwnghg the location of properties in Chile where @empany has or had interests (below) and otherrirdtion
about the properties are located on the Comparebsive.
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Pureo

The Pureo property is located in south centraleéCiméar Valdivia, and approximately 700 km soutBaftiago. The property consists of approxima@ep0
hectares. The geographic coordinates of the deydraof the property are approximately 39°00'8 &@2°00'W. Access to the property is by paved soaad gravel
roads. Infrastructure at the site includes eleatpower, cell phone network and road buildingieopent. Water, both industrial and potable, isadrdrom

wells. The Company has a hanger and bulldozéreagprtoperty.

The property is underlain by metamorphic and ctiystarocks of Paleozoic age, including sericitbist black to blue shale, altered sandstone addsite. These
rocks comprise the basement rock assemblage eréfae In general, these rocks are foliated anplaices, are intruded by granite, granodiorite dindtic dikes.

The Pureo property is mainly a placer deposit winghbe mined using an open pit. The Company&rok are National exploitation licenses which calefinitive
rights as long as the fees are paid. The Compmargguired to pay governmental fees are approxIyn@g9,000 per year. If gold production is moraritihe $30,000
in value, then this amount is refunded. The prigpsrsubject to a 17% Net Profits tax on produttid\s of December 31, 2011, the Company has nurgéed any
revenue from sales of any concentrate or othernalized material at the property. As of DecemiderZ)11, the Company has spent approximately $5860
mining and exploration activities at this propesycluding acquisition and capital costs.

On August 9, 2007 and August 19, 2007, the Compingugh Minera Global, entered agreements to fojoina venture and on October 29, 2007, the Company
closed its joint venture agreement with membeth®fQuijano family by which Minera Global assumesil&o interest in the placer and hard rock gold Maldr®ios
and Pureo properties. The name of the joint vertompany is Compania Minera Global Gold Valdivia.®l. (“Global Gold Valdivia” or “GGV”).

Key agreement terms for the Madre De Dios joint venaigreement include a 1,000,000 euro payment @tmbal Gold (paid as of October 30, 2007), and the
following joint venture terms: equity interests ae61%-49% in favor of Global Gold; of the 3 di@s, two (Mr. Krikorian and Dr. Ted Urquhart, GldbaVice
President in Santiago) are appointed by Global G8ldbal Gold commits to finance at least one pard mining operation within 3 years as well aswaually agree:
exploration program to establish proven reserved ifathat is successful, two additional plantstagiens will be financed; and from the profits bétjoint venture,
Global Gold will pay its partner an extra sharedshsn the following scale of 28 million euros fa) 6 million ounces of gold produced in 5 year¢)r5 million
ounces of gold proven as reserves according todimmd3-101 standards in 5 years. The definitidnzaven and probable reserves in NI 43-101 reptiftsr from
the definitions in SEC Industry Guide 7. Also, ®EC does not recognize the terms “measured resoard indicated resources” or “inferred resouredsth are
used in NI 43-101 reports. The Company has comglatgeological report on the property.

On July 24, 2009, Global Gold entered into an ameamt with members of the Quijano family (“Quijanad)the October 29, 2007 Global Gold Valdivia jorenture
subject to final board approval on or before July 2009 whereby GGV became wholly owned by Globalld@&nd retained only the Pureo Claims Block
(approximately 8,200 hectares), transferring the fdd@k Dios claims block to the sole ownership tartbers of the Quijano family. On July 28, 2009, éZineendmet
was approved by the Company’s board of directors.

Key terms of the amendment included that on orreefugust 15, 2009, GGV transfer to Quijano ordesignee one hundred percent (100%) interest icuhen
GGV claims identified as the Madre De Dios Claimed& and Quijano transfer to Global Gold one hungrectent (100%) interest in the GGV, or its desggran
the remaining claims identified as the Pureo Claiuek. All transfers were closed in Santiago,|€lain August 14, 2009 which terminated the jointuee. If GG\
does not commence production on a commercial lmastbe property being transferred to its sole adrgursuant to this agreement within two years jettito an
time taken for permitting purposes), the propehglisrevert to Quijano.

Quijano shall be entitled a 3% NSR royalty interestll metals produced from the properties retdime GGV up to a maximum of 27 million Euros, sudtjéc
Quijano’s initial repayment of $200,000 to Global Gold. Baoee years, GGV or its designee shall havehd affirst refusal on any bona fide offers for atlany pai
of the properties transferred to Quijano (to bereged within five (5) days). For three years, j@ud shall also have a right of first refusal oy &ona fide offers fc
all or any part of the properties retained by GGWt®designee (to be exercised within twenty @ays).
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On October 27, 2010, the Company entered into egeagent with Conventus Ltd. a BVI corporation (“@entus”)for the sale of 100% interest in GGV which he
the Pureo mining assets in Chile. The Compadlyprdvide Conventus with consulting services aachhical assistance for development, productioploeation
and expansion of the GGV mining properties in ferttonsideration of the payment terms below.

Key terms include that Conventus shall pay $5.0ianilUSD over four years and two months payablétsws: $250,000 on or before October 31, 201ZBG00(
on or before November 30, 2010; $500,000 at thsirjpon or before March 31, 2011; $1,000,000 oneforle December 31, 2011; $1,000,000 on or beforeDée
31, 2012; $1,000,000 on or before December 31, ;2818 $1,000,000 on or before December 31, 2014 $6000,000 in total has been paid. If the sides nc
close, the Company is responsible for repaymerth@f$500,000 in payments made prior to closing daseterms contingent upon the reason for the rip& no
occur. Payments to the Company will be securedofASctober 27, 2010, Conventus Ltd shall be soteBponsible, at its own expense for all expensésothe
matters required by contract or law to comply watmditions related to the Pureo property, and miqadar with the July 24, 2009 contractual corgfitto commenc
production on a commercial basis on the propertiygogansferred to its sole control pursuant ts igreement on or before August 15, 2011 (subjemtydime take
for permitting purposes).

As additional consideration, if within seven yed@snventus or any of its successors produces 16@00ces of gold from the GGV property or propémtZhile
which the Company assists GGV or Conventus in aicgyithen Conventus shall or shall cause GGV totha Company a one-off and once only $2,500,00u&0
within 60 days of achieving such production. Theseig of the transaction is subject to a definifigeeement and agreement being reached with MH&gue, with
respect to his royalty to the satisfaction of Cortus. The closing date is anticipated to be doefore March 31, 2011. See Subsequent Events fapdete on the
Pureo property.

On December 2, 2011, the Company closed an amegtedment with Conventus and Amarant, originallgesd into on October 27, 2010, for the sale o400
interest in the GGV which held the Pureo miningegs@ Chile. As part of the amendment and clggiigbal Gold also sold 100% interest in its whallyned
subsidiaries Global Oro and Global Plata, both loictv are Delaware Limited Liability Corporationsidaare each 50% owners of Minera Global in exchamge
additional compensation, payable on or before Déegrh5, 2011, of a 1% interest in Amarant. GGWvised by Minera Global (51%) and Global Oro (49%).
Conventus has assigned its right and obligationm fihis agreement to Amarant. Key terms included Amarant shall pay the $4.0 million USD remagnaf the
$5.0 million USD sale price obligation as follov#:,000,000 on or before December 15, 2011; $1,00000 or before December 15, 2012; $1,000,000 drefare
December 15, 2013; and $1,000,000 on or beforereee31, 2014 subject to the terms and conditiortke agreement. As additional consideration,tifiiw seven
years, Amarant or any of its successors produce®@8 ounces of gold from the Pureo property therarant shall pay the Company a one-off and oncg onl
$2,500,000 bonus within 60 days of achieving suddpction.

On April 13, 2012, the Company entered into an "Aded Joint Membership Interest Purchase Agreemadtit"Amarant to amend the parties' December 2, 2011
"Joint Membership Interest Purchase Agreement" limafe: the 1 million dollar payment from Amarantedthe Company on December 15, 2011 shall be pafpbiy
20, 2012; the three "Additional Payments" of 1 ioilldollars due on each of December 15, 2012, Dbeeitb, 2013, and December 15, 2014 shall all mkipa
lump sum of three million dollars prior to May 31012, as further described in Exhibit 10.49. OnilAp8, 2012, the Company also received a guaraoty f
Contender Kapital AB of Stockholm Sweden (“Contefidhat if Amarant fails to make the 1 million dat payment to the Company on or before Friday 1A%
2012, Contender will satisfy the 1 million dollaaypment, as further described in Exhibit 10.50. May 10, 2012, the Company and Amarant agreed teaCtdmpany
would forego legal actions in exchange for paynignémarant of the $800,000 balance due plus a $80g@ditional compensation payment by May 11, 20i2the
shortening of the grace period for late paymenhef$3 million dollar payment due from Amaranthe Company from 60 days to 10 days after May 3122@n
May 9, 2012, Contender acknowledged that it hadvedenotice of its obligation to pay on a valid garty of $1 million, and reaffirmed its guarant@ontender
defaulted on its guaranty. On May 18, 2012, Amaeactits principal, Mr. Ulander, agreed to pay Glabaadditional $50,000 payment (in addition to pneviously
agreed $50,000 additional payment) in exchangéofegoing legal action. On June 15, 2012, the @amy conditionally agreed to a revised scheduliebt
repayment through August 30, 2012. The reviseddule provides the Company to receive; a) 20% bpraceeds of funds raised by Alluvia or Amaranthair
affiliates with a ceiling of $3,250,000 (which indes additional compensation) from any source;$950,000 payment, and c) an additional $200,0¢énpat to the
company. Also, the Company agreed to conditionafijve its right of first refusal with respect tansfer of GGV shares as part of this revision,these conditions
were not met and the Company has advised thatutpoped assignment to Alluvia is invalid. As gmevision of the amended sale closed on Decem011, the
Company was to receive certain shares or owneoghpnarant, amounting to 533,856 shares of Amariimése shares were received in July 2012. No \asdeen
recorded for these shares for the following reasanghere is currently no active trading marketatue these shares except the “Mangold List” in we b) we do
not have access to the financials of Amarant tara@hlculating a value, and c) these shares redgivesent a small minority ownership of Amaramhatant and
Alluvia remain in default of certain material preins of this sale agreement with Amarant.
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On November 28, 2012, the Company and Amarant‘Rheties”) entered into an Amended Joint Membershiierest Purchase Agreement (the “Amendmenmtfjich
again restructured the terms of the Joint Intevéesinbership Interest Purchase Agreement (the “MIPA&yed December 2, 2011, among the Company, Amarat
the other parties signatory thereto and amende#poih 13, 2012 (“Amended MIPA”).Pursuant to the MIPA and all of its amendments thei¢s agree that as
November 28, 2012 Amarant owes $3,275,000 to thapf@ay. Interest accrues at 12% per anr

Key terms of the Amendment include: Amarant agtbasit shall pay the Company the following amountshe close of business Central European Tim&T¢on
the indicated dates: (i) $200,000 on November 23922 (ii) $150,000 on or before November 30, 2ii,$450,000 on or before December 6, 2012; §vp0,000 on
or before December 17, 2012 and; (v) $1,775,000rdrefore December 28, 2012. With respect to tlyeneats in (iii), (iv) and (v) as the largest shaeller of
Alluvia Mining Ltd. (“Alluvia”), Amarant guaranteethat 50% of all funds raised by Alluvia shall bédo the Company until such payments are satisfiddll. As
further consideration and in satisfaction of angl ah alleged damages resulting from of Amararditufe to perform any obligation prior hereto, Amiar agrees to
transfer to the Company One Million (1,000,000) oady shares of Alluvia held by Amarant, within 1&yd of a fully executed lock-up agreement wheréley t
Company will be restricted from transferring anysath shares for a period of 6 months from the diteansfer. The Parties agree to act in gooth taitprepare and
agree on the terms of the lock-up agreement wlHhinsiness days from the date hereof. Lastly,éretrent that Amarant fails to make any paymentsurefer on a
timely basis, it hereby confesses to an arbitralrdvas to the unpaid amounts and the parties anghiie entry of such an arbitral award pursuatiiécAmerican
Arbitration Association arbitration clauses preslyuagreed; this confession of arbitral award isfieal by the undersigned who have personal knogéeaf the facts
and affirm that they are for just debts arisingrrthe sale of property, and this confession isegigny each of the undersigned under oath thaethestare true to the
best of their knowledge. The parties further agoeexecute and deliver any other documents which lbeanecessary to effectuate this confession atibazation of
arbitral award within 48 hours of a request bydtiger party or the arbitrator. The Amendment hadrgidentiality provision which is no longer optomal. The
Amendment also provided that subject to Amarargi$qggmance of the payment obligations, the Compaoyld waive rights to object to Amarant’s transééthe
property to Alluvia; however, Amarant did not méstpayment obligations. The Amendment furthenjated that the Company would extend the time forafant to
effect certain name changes until March 31, 2018 wiharant’s performance of the payment obligatidng,Amarant failed to meet its payment obligatioife
Company has received the 1,000,000 shares of Alkhich are restricted for 6 months, until May 2812 No value has been recorded for these shardéisef
following reasons; a) there is currently no actiagling market to value these shares except thengjdld List” in Sweden, b) we do not have accesbedinancials of
Alluvia to aid in calculating a value, and c) thebares received present a small minority ownermshidluvia. Amarant and Alluvia remain in defawlf certain
material provisions of the agreements with the Camyp See attached Exhibit 10.60.

See Item 1A “Risk Factors”, below.

Santa Candelaria

Santa Candelaria is located in Comuna de Diegolaegro, Region Ill of Chile.

The Company, on January 15, 2003, entered intgpaordpurchase/lease agreement with Alfredo Sotdn®cand Adrian Soto Torino for the purchase ofppgold
properties in Chanaral District Il Chile (the Cafatia 1 to 3, the Santa Candelaria 1 to 8 and¢himo | mining claims 1 through 7 and Torino llmiig claims 1

through 11) (the "Chilean Agreement"). The Compamyently refers to all of the properties acquibgdhe Chilean Agreement as "Santa Candelaria."Agreemen
was converted into a purchase agreement on Febfyu2604.
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After certain exploration activities, including lited drilling in 2005, the Company determined tihahould discontinue its exploration operationSanta Candelaria,
and wrote down its investment. Further, on Jan@&r\2006, Minera Global entered into a purchasegopand royalty agreement with Mr. Adrian Soto Fiaria
citizen of Chile ("AST") to transfer the mining amssions Candelaria 1, 2, and 3 to AST to mingthe property and pay Minera Global a net smeltgalty of 10%
until such time as Minera Global has been paid $bahd thereafter a net smelter royalty of 2% ffierlife of the mine. All liabilities and fees asided with the
property are the responsibility of AST, and Mineralgal retains the option to reacquire the miningaassion upon 60 days notice and payment of 1,00@bilean
pesos (approximately $2,000 USD using exchangs edtBecember 31, 2009).

The Company transferred all of its rights to SaPésdalaria to Amarant as part of the transacti@eriiged above which closed on December 2, 2011.
See Item 1A “Risk Factors”, below.
(5) CANADA PROPERTIES

A map showing the location of the properties in &mand other information about the propertiedam@ed on the Company's website. The Companphased out
its Canadian properties, retaining a royalty irgene the Cochrane Pond property in Newfoundland.

Cochrane Pond
The Cochrane Pond property is located in southeablewfoundland, Canada.

On April 12, 2007, Global Gold Uranium entered gre@ment to acquire an option for the Cochrane Hoedse area (the "Option Agreement") with Comneand
Resources Ltd. ("Commander") and Bayswater Urar@amp. ("Bayswater"). The Cochrane Pond propertysists of 2,600 claims within 61,000 hectares
(approximately 150,708 acres). The Agreementligesti to the conclusion of an option agreement. okgrms include the following: Global Gold Uraniumay earr
a 51% equity interest over a period of four year€achrane Pond Property by completing; Cash patadrdS $700,000 over four year period; Shareansa of
350,000 shares of Global Gold Corporation (50 %méacCommander and Bayswater (the “CPJV")) ovesua fear period; and Property expenditures over year
period of C$3.5 million as further described in ibkh10.3 on Form 8-K filed on April 16, 2007. A June 30, 2007, the Company has paid $200,00@Gsandd
150,000 shares of the Company's common stock, 5/0@res each to Commander and Bayswater.

On October 17, 2008, the parties terminated theo®gtgreement, and Global Gold Uranium entered artagreement (the “Royalty Agreement”) with Comd&m
and Bayswater pertaining to the Cochrane Pond piop&he Royalty Agreement grants the Companyyaltg in the Cochrane Pond property and terminttes
Company’s existing rights and obligations assodiatéh the Cochrane Pond property. The key terfiB@Royalty Agreement are that the CPJV shalid®a
royalty to the Company for uranium produced from @ochrane Pond property in the form of a 1% gposduction royalty from the sale of uranium concetgs
(yellowcake) capped at CDN $1million after whicle ttoyalty shall be reduced to a 0.5% royalty. dnsideration for the royalty, the Company shall $&9,000 casl
$25,000 each to Bayswater and Commander withine$8,dll as further described in exhibit 10.3 offf@-K filed on October 22, 2008. As of Novemt8r 2008,
the Company has paid $25,000 each to Bayswate€anunander.

See Item 1A “Risk Factors”, below.
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(6) ENVIRONMENT AND ETHICAL MATTERS

The Company's policy on environmental mattersatestin its Code of Business Conduct and Ethicsofwis posted on the Company’s website), and reguir
compliance with all relevant laws and regulationd acludes a zero tolerance policy on corruptidhe Company’s Insider Trading and Public InforratPolicy,
Charter of the Audit Committee of the Board of Riws, Charter of the Compensation Committee oBibard of Directors, and its Nominating and Goverea
Charter are also posted on its website and reqoirgliance with all relevant laws and regulatioBgecifically, the Company intends to conduct itsibess in a
manner that is compatible with the balanced enwiremtal and economic needs of the communities iclvitioperates. In 2007, the Company instituted a
whistleblower program to encourage reporting of aog compliance with such policies and procedures.

The Company is committed to continuous effortaripriove environmental performance throughout itgaens. Accordingly, the Company's policy is tomply
with international standards as developed by theld\Bank; comply with all applicable environment@alvs and regulations and apply responsible stasdahere
laws and regulations do not exist; assess all gi®jghich will include a review of the environmdritsues associated with project development; naziéable these
assessments to the appropriate government agéociesview and approval; encourage concern ancerdpr the environment; emphasize every employee's
responsibility in environmental and safety perfonceg foster appropriate operating practices anditigy manage its business with the goals of prérgrincidents
and controlling emissions and wastes to below halrfetels; design, operate, and maintain faciliteehis end; respond quickly and effectively toidents resulting
from its operations, in cooperation with industrganizations and authorized government agenciesuadertake appropriate reviews and evaluatiorits afperations
to measure progress and to foster compliance Wvibet policies. As of December 31, 2012, the Compaeg not have any liability unpaid for environnant
compliance. The cost for the Company to maintairirenmental compliance has had no substantiatditioin or restriction upon our ability to carry @ur mining
operations. The Company has been subjected ®d#egations in the media regarding its environiaenrecord in Armenia by questionable individuatsl @roups, a
of which the Company has refuted and none of wiosk to the level of a legal inquiry.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the following rislcfars, together with all of the other informatiamntained in this Annual Report, on Form 10-K beforaking an
investment decision with respect to our commonkstdeny of the following risks, as well as othesks and uncertainties described in this Annual ReppoForm 10-
K, as well as additional risks which may not berently known to the Company, could harm our businésancial condition and results of operationd eauld
adversely affect the value of our Common Stock.

EXPLORATION STAGE COMPANY

The Company did not engage in the active conduattcdde or business aside from development andration activities, it has not generated any ressto date,
with the exception of revenue from the transactidth Iberian Resources at the end of 2006, the&ahilean interests in the Amarant/Conventusdaation in 2011
and minimal sales of concentrate from Toukhmantlikhough the Company maintains mining licenses im@nia and has reserves according to the lawsmokAia,
the Company has not established proven and probadeeves in accordance per SEC Industry Guideadyaof it's properties (please refer to the “Canéiry Note to
U.S. Investors” on page 3 of this report). The @any may encounter problems, delays, expensesifficdlties typically encountered in the developrhetage,
many of which may be outside of the Company's cbnffhese problems include, but are not limitedgsues interpreting and proving historical mindzga,
obtaining and maintaining quality equipment, lidegdifficulties, and financing problems.

LIQUIDITY RISK — GOING CONCERN

The Company needs additional funds in order to aondny active mining development and productioerafions in the foreseeable future. Especiallyghtlof the
international financial crisis starting in 2008gtl can be no assurance that any financing forisitiqns or future projects will be available farch purposes or that
such financing, if available, would be on termsdiable or acceptable to the Company. As suchind@pendent registered public accounting firmdaxluded that
additional revenue arrangements or financing isledé¢o enable us to fund our future operationschvhaises substantial about our ability to opeaata going
concern, and accordingly has included this unaastan their report on our December 31, 2012 cdadatéd financial statements.
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COMPETITION

There is intense competition in the mining industige Company is competing with larger mining comps, many of which have substantially greatenfaial
strengths, and capital, marketing and personnelress than those possessed by the Company. Ahhtbe Company competes with multi-national mining
companies which have substantially greater resswand numbers of employees, the Compaigrig term presence and the expertise and knowlefligs personnel
Armenia and in Chile allow it to compete with comj@s with greater resources. The Company hadated defamatory internet based attacks from Calder
Resources Inc. and its president Vasilios (Bill) kidig and related parties.

NEED FOR KEY PERSONNEL

The Company presently has officers and operatiomagers intimately familiar with the operation ofrimig projects or the development of such projectswith
experience in former Soviet countries and South #eaeWhile the Company does not believe the Idsmg director or officer of the Company will matdly and
adversely affect its long-term business prospétsloss of any of the Company's senior personigghtnpotentially adversely affect the Company uatiuitable
replacement could be found. The Company continuesnploy independent consultants and engineerssaptbys through subsidiaries personnel with mining
geology, and related backgrounds in Armenia, ar@hie.

MANAGEMENT SALARIES

As of December 31, 2012, the Company owes unpagksvaf approximately $587,000 to management. Tdrapany is accruing interest at an annual rate ob#
the net of taxes wages owed to management. Aseotmber 31, 2012, the Company had accrued intefegtproximately $129,000. The Companyailure tc
remain current in its salary obligations exposesGbmpany to the potential loss of key personnel.

TRADING MARKET

The Company's Common Stock is traded on the OTC@Bange of the OTC Market. As a result, our stoattéwd may find it more difficult to buy or sell skarof
our common stock than it would be if our stock wiested on a national securities exchange.

VALUE OF INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

The Company has not purchased securities in otrepanies but has received, and still holds, seesiiih other non-related companies. The Compasybavalued
these securities as of December 31, 2012 due awniety of risks including, minor percentage of &saoutstanding, trading restrictions, there candassurance that
an adequate liquid market will exist for these siieis, and there can be no assurance that quadekktrprices at any given time will properly refléwe value at
which the Company could monetize these securiflé®re are also the risks of the underlying comgmand their operations.

LACK OF INSURANCE PROTECTION

The Company may not be able to obtain adequateainse protection for its foreign investments.
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GLOBAL FINANCIAL CONDITION

Financial conditions globally continue to experienolatility following the U.S. led financial crisin 2008, which impacted numerous financial in§tins globally,
and more recently the escalating financial turmoEurope. Each has created considerable uncrisra result of excessive government debt lénedeme
countries and the unprecedented steps being takarett a full blown global crisis. These factorgynimpact the ability of the Company to issue dett equity in the
future and to issue it on terms that are reasortatitee Company. Although there have been sigrsofiomic recovery, volatility and market turmoilyrm@ntinue
and, as a result, the Company'’s business, finaociadition, results of operations and share prazdctbe adversely impacted.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE

By virtue of its international operations, the Camp incurs costs and expenses in a number of foreigencies. The revenue received by the Company i
denominated in U.S. dollars since the prices ofttle¢als that it produces are referenced in U.Sadplwhile the majority of operating and capitgbenditures is the
Armenian dram. Fluctuations in these foreign exdearates give rise to foreign exchange exposuitberdavorable or unfavorable, which could haveaterial
impact on the Company’s results of operations amahtial condition.

FLUCTUATION IN MINERAL PRICES

The prices of gold and other minerals historicélligtuate and are affected by numerous factorseyoe Company's control and no assurance carvba tiat any
reserves proved or estimated will actually be poedu

COUNTERPARTY RISK

The Company is exposed to counterparty risk, inolydharket pricing and credit-related risk in theret any counterparty, whether a customer, debstbnancial
intermediary, is unable or unwilling to fulfill tirecontractual obligations to the Company or whareh agreements are otherwise terminated and placesl with
agreements on substantially the same terms. All@fCompany’s aggregate projected sales of coraterih 2013 are to one customer. There can lssurance that
the Company will not experience a material lossifam-performance by any counterparty with whorre# B commercial relationship. Should any suctekssise,
they could adversely affect the Company’s businfassncial condition and results of operations.e T@ompany has incurred and continues to incur $odse to
counterparty risk. As of December 31, 2012, then@@any, through its joint venture company GGCRL ez $1,618,755 through a convertible note payabktthe
Company is carrying this as a liability. The Compaoes not have the substantiation for this eatineunt.

MINING RISKS

The Company's proposed mining operations will bgex to a variety of potential engineering, setsamnd other risks, some of which cannot be prediatel which
may not be covered by insurance.

There are risks inherent in the exploration fod davelopment of, mineral deposits. The businessining by its nature involves significant risksddmazards,
including environmental hazards, industrial incigetabor disputes, discharge of toxic chemicals, €ave ins, drought, flooding and other act&otl.

The occurrence of any of these can delay or inpeerploration and production, increase exploraéind production costs and result in liability te thwner or

operator of the mine. The Company may become sutgjdiability for pollution or other hazards agafrwhich it has not insured or cannot insure, idiclg those in
respect of past mining activities for which it wast responsible.
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LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Mining operations and exploration activities arejsabto extensive laws and regulations. Theseaetaproduction, development, exploration, expantgorts, taxes
and royalties, labor standards, occupational heattiste disposal, protection and remediation oktingronment, mine decommissioning and reclamatiunge safety,
toxic substances, transportation safety and emeygesponse and other matters.

Compliance with these laws and regulations increttse costs of exploring, drilling, developing, stiacting, operating and closing mines and otheitifies. It is
possible that the costs, delays and other effesiscéated with these laws and regulations may ittheacCompany’s decision as to whether to contiougperate in a
particular jurisdiction or whether to proceed watkploration or development of properties. Sincalegquirements change frequently, are subjectt@pretation and
may be enforced to varying degrees in practiceCibiapany is unable to predict the ultimate costarfipliance with these requirements or their eféecoperations.
Furthermore, changes in governments, regulatiodgalicies and practices could have an adversedtgrathe Company’s future cash flows, earningsylts of
operations and financial condition, which may haveaterial adverse impact on the Company and éegtrice.

MINING CONCESSIONS, PERMITS AND LICENSES

The Company's mining and processing activitiedapendent upon the grant of appropriate licensegassions, leases, permits and regulatory conséith may
be withdrawn or made subject to limitations. Altgbuhe Company believes that the licenses, coraesdeases, permits and consents it holds wilehewed, if
required, when they expire, according to the cura@ms applicable in the respective countries, ettiio the licensing issues disclosed below in &kpr Risks," there
can be no assurance that they will be renewed tr the terms of any such renewal. Mineral righthimithe countries in which the Company is currenfyerating ar
state-owned. Also see discussion under ForeignsRiel Item 3. “Legal Proceedings,” below.

EXPLORATION RISKS

Minerals exploration is speculative in nature, imedl many risks and frequently is unsuccessful. @han be no assurance that any mineralization vised will
result in an increase in the proven and probalslerves of the Company. If reserves are developednitake a number of years from the initial peadfedrilling and
identification of mineralization until productios possible, during which time the economic feaigjbdf production may change. Substantial expemegare required
to establish ore reserves through drilling, to detee metallurgical processes to extract metals fooe and, in the cases of new properties, to nactsnining and
processing facilities. As a result of these undetitss, no assurance can be given that the exmlarptograms undertaken by the Company will reisudtny new
commercial mining operations being brought intoratien.

CORRUPTION RISKS

The Company is subject to the UFRreign Corrupt Practices Act and other similar acts (collectively, the “Anti-Caption Legislation”), which prohibit the Company
or any officer, director, employee or agent of @@mpany or any stockholder of the Company actingsobehalf from paying, offering to pay, or autizorg the
payment of anything of value to any foreign goveentrofficial, government staff member, politicaryaor political candidate in an attempt to obtanretain
business or to otherwise influence a person workiran official capacity. The Company strictly pitoks these practices by its employees and ageiy.failure by
the Company to adopt appropriate compliance praesdand ensure that its employees and agents camthlyhe Anti-Corruption Legislation and applicable laws
regulations in foreign jurisdictions could resutsubstantial penalties or restrictions on itsighid conduct its business, which may have a naltadverse impact on
the Company and its share price.
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MINE DEVELOPMENT COSTS

The estimates contained herein regarding the desedat and operation of our mining projects arevegtiés only and are based on many assumptions ahdes
made by the Company’s management in light of teirerience and perception of historical trends;ecurconditions and expected future developmestaiedl as
other factors management believes are appropriateicircumstances. These estimates and the assosmppon which they are based are subject taiatyaf risks
and uncertainties and other factors that couldecactual expenditures to differ materially fromgb@stimated. If these estimates prove incorfeetiatal capital
expenditures required to complete the mine devedopirmay increase, which may have a material adwensact on the Company and its share price.

PREVIOUS MINING OPERATIONS

There is a risk that if a prior operator createcavironmental or other liability at a property which the Company is working, it may be difficuttimpossible to
assess the extent to which damage was caused Bpthpany’s activities or the activities of otheeagtors.

FOREIGN RISKS

The value of the Company's assets may be advefelted by political, exchange rate, economic @thér factors in Chile and Armenia. Armenia is arfer Soviet
country in transition, and presents concomitadstign particular, in the past, the Company hagegpced delays in the bureaucratic process anéxpesienced
dealings with corrupt officials at the Ministry Bhvironment and Natural Resources in Armenia. Thm@any practices a zero tolerance program on ciorup

In 2006, GGH, which was the license holder forlfamkavan and Marjan properties, was the subjeabwéipt and improper demands and threats from thefoomer
Minister of the Ministry of Environment and Naturaé$dburces of Armenia, Vardan Ayvazian. The Compapwnted this situation to the appropriate authesiin
Armenia and in the United States. Although the Merisook the position that the licenses at HankarahMarjan were terminated, other Armenian goventaie
officials assured the Company to the contrary amdekian public records confirmed the continuingdig} of the licenses. The Company received indepenlegal
opinions that all of its licenses were valid anchaied in full force and effect, continued to watkthose properties, and engaged internationalcaad counsel to
pursue prosecution of the illegal and corrupt peastdirected against the subsidiary, includingrimational arbitration. On November 7, 2006, then@any initiated
the thirty-day good faith negotiating period (whista prerequisite to filing for international grhtion under the 2003 SHA, LLC Share Purchase ément) with the
three named shareholders and one previously und&tiprincipal, Mr. Ayvazian. The Company filed &obitration under the rules under the Internati@tember
of Commerce, headquartered in Paris, France ("IGg€1"December 29, 2006. On September 25, 200&dteral District Court for the Southern Distri€iNew York
ruled that Mr. Ayvazian was required to appear esspondent in the ICC arbitration. On Septemb@088, the ICC International Court of Arbitratianied that Mr.
Ayvazian shall be a party in accordance with theigien rendered on September 25, 2008 by the Heditaict Court for the Southern District of New

York. Subsequently, in December 2011 the ICC Trdlwecided to proceed only with the three namedesdtolders; in March 2012, GGM filed an action inéradl
District Court pursuant to that Court’s decisioasdamages against Ayvazian and/or to conform@ Tribunal to the precedents, and on July 11, 206&Zederal
Court entered judgment in favor of the Company,clvhiias not appealed and became final. Based cevitlence of the damages suffered as a result éd&an’s
actions, the final $37,537,978.02 federal courgjudnt in favor of GGM is comprised of $27,152,244r56ompensatory damages plus $10,385,734.52 exrfeisit at
9% from 2008. The Company has notified the ICQ tha pending arbitration against the other thtegeholders should be terminated as moot, consgiéne final
judgment against Ayvazian. The ICC has complietth Whie Compar’s request and terminated that proceeding. One®dper 6, 2012, the United States Marshal
Service for the Southern District of New York filéat service a Writ of Execution to be enforcediagaMr. Vardan Ayvazyan in favor of GGM. The Writ o
Execution was issued by the United States DisBanirt for the Southern District of New York follomg the order and judgment of Judge J. Paul Oethériaal entn
of that judgment (No. 12,1260), without appealhe Terms of the Writ of Execution and the Thirtw&e Million Five Hundred Thirty Seven Thousand Nitendred
Seventy Eight dollars and Two cents ($37,537,97%8&@unt of the judgment in favor of GGM are moagtisularly described in Exhibit 10.56 below.
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On January 12, 2012, the Armenian Court of Cassatimfirmed prior trial and appellate court rulimggecting a proposed tax assessment against timp&y’'s
Mego-Gold subsidiary by the Armenian State Revengendy related to an incorrect claim concerning gtsiuctionat Toukhmanuk as well as incorrect applicat
of relevant law. Subsequently, the State Revegeaey has continued investigations and intimatadiths investigating and may make further claemgsinst the
Company based on the same matters previously adpediin the Company’s favor as well as based @meslinitiated and related to Caldera Resourcestargents
during and after legal proceedings in which the @any prevailed against Caldera. Independent Emaisel has been engaged on these matters, aGoithgany
considers that it has no liabilities in connectidgth allegations noted to date. The Company hatead Armenian authorities to the evidence of qatfan in
connection with the purported investigation andrtile of Caldera and its agents.

NO DIVIDENDS

The Company currently anticipates that it will retall of its future earnings, if any, for use ta operations and does not anticipate paying asly devidends in the
near term future. There can be no assurance th&dmpany will pay cash dividends at any timehat the failure to pay dividends for periods ofeimill not
adversely affect the market price for the Compa@gsmmon Stock.

CONTROL OF THE COMPANY

Drury J. Gallagher, the Chairman Emeritus, Treas@ecretary, and Director, and Van Z. Krikoriaha®man, Chief Executive Officer, and Director, 084605,786
(4.05%), and 5,525,000 (6.38%) shares, respectively total of 9,030,786 (10.44%) shares, ouhefd6,542,975 shares of the Company's Common &sa&d and
outstanding as of December 31, 2012. The two Casnpéicers, director Nicholas J. Aynilian who owRd53,873 (2.49%) and NJA Investments, which igradled
by Nicholas J. Aynilian, owns 1,400,000 (1.62%)rsksaof Common Stock, entered into a shareholdeesagent, dated January 1, 2004, that providesafd ef the
parties to the Agreement to vote for such individass directors.

lan Hague, a Company director and Firebird Mangepiér@ manager, owns a total of 33,881,748 (39.15P@res, and Firebird Management, LLC owns a total of
16,865,034 (19.49%) shares, out of the 86,542,8@Ees, of the Company's Common Stock issued arsthoding as of December 31, 2012.

If these stockholders act in concert, they coulttrmd matters requiring approval by our stockhaddémcluding the election of directors and couldénthe ability to
prevent or cause a corporate transaction, evethéf stockholders, oppose such action. The coratent of voting power could also have the effdai@aying or
preventing a change in control which could caugestack price to decline.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not Applicable

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The Company rented office space in a commerciddlimgj at 45 East Putnam Avenue, Greenwich, CT whesigned a 5-year lease starting on March 1, 20G6
starting annual rental cost of $44,200. On Octdh@006, the Company expanded its office spacesbyring the lease of the adjacent office spacea$temed lea
had less then one year remaining, through Septe8h&008, at an annual rental cost of $19,500 d3sumed lease was extended for an additionathyeaigh
September 30, 2009 at an annual rental cost 086@Zor that period. The assumed lease was fuetktended through October 15, 2009 at which pbetGompany
vacated the additional space. Messrs. GallagheKahkdrian gave personal guarantees of the Comparsrformance for the first two years of the leaBee lease
terminated on March 31, 2011 and the Company enterenlv 5-year lease starting on April 1, 2011 steating annual rental cost of $63,045. The nesdds for
office space in a commercial building at 555 Theedéremd Avenue, Rye, NY 10580.

For a description of the mining properties in whibh Company has an interest, see ltem 1 "Desmniti Business."
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In 2006, GGH, which was the license holder forlfamkavan and Marjan properties, was the subjeabméipt and improper demands and threats from thefoomer
Minister of the Ministry of Environment and Naturat$dburces of Armenia, Vardan Ayvazian. The Compapgnted this situation to the appropriate autresiin
Armenia and in the United States. Although the Merisook the position that the licenses at HankarahMarjan were terminated, other Armenian goventaie
officials assured the Company to the contrary armdekian public records confirmed the continuingdm of the licenses. The Company received indejeahlegal
opinions that all of its licenses were valid anchained in full force and effect, continued to watkthose properties, and engaged internationalceadl counsel to
pursue prosecution of the illegal and corrupt peastdirected against the subsidiary, includingrimational arbitration. On November 7, 2006, thenBany initiated
the thirty-day good faith negotiating period (whista prerequisite to filing for international arbtion under the 2003 SHA, LLC Share Purchase émgent) with the
three named shareholders and one previously und&tlprincipal, Mr. Ayvazian. The Company filed &bitration under the rules under the Internati@ts@mber
of Commerce, headquartered in Paris, France ("IGgi"December 29, 2006. On September 25, 200&dtleral District Court for the Southern Distri€iNew York
ruled that Mr. Ayvazian was required to appear esspondent in the ICC arbitration. On Septemb@088, the ICC International Court of Arbitratiared that Mr.
Ayvazian shall be a party in accordance with theigien rendered on September 25, 2008 by the Heditaict Court for the Southern District of New

York. Subsequently, in December 2011 the ICC Tridwlecided to proceed only with the three namedestolders; in March 2012, GGM filed an action in éradl
District Court pursuant to that Court’s decisioosdamages against Ayvazian and/or to conform@ Tribunal to the precedents, and on July 11, 20&Zederal
Court entered judgment in favor of the Company,clvhwas not appealed and became final. Based aevitience of the damages suffered as a result ed2yan’s
actions, the final $37,537,978.02 federal courgjudnt in favor of GGM is comprised of $27,152,244r56ompensatory damages plus $10,385,734.52 exfesit at
9% from 2008. The Company has notified the ICQ the pending arbitration against the other thregeholders should be terminated as moot, consglére final
judgment against Ayvazian. The ICC has complietth Wiie Compar’s request and terminated that proceeding. One®dper 6, 2012, the United States Marshal
Service for the Southern District of New York filat service a Writ of Execution to be enforcediagaMr. Vardan Ayvazyan in favor of GGM. The Writ o
Execution was issued by the United States DisBaurt for the Southern District of New York follomg the order and judgment of Judge J. Paul Oethddimal entn
of that judgment (No. 12,1260), without appealhe Terms of the Writ of Execution and the Thirtw&e Million Five Hundred Thirty Seven Thousand Nitendred
Seventy Eight dollars and Two cents ($37,537,97&@unt of the judgment in favor of GGM are moaetigularly described in Exhibit 10.56 below.

In addition, and based on the US Armenia Bilateraéstment Treaty, GGM filed a request for arbitratagainst the Republic of Armenia for the actiohthe former
Minister of Environment and Natural Resources whi linternational Centre for Settlement of Investhi@isputes, which is a component agency of the WBdnk in
Washington, D.C. ("ICSID"), on January 29, 2007.Agust 31, 2007, the Government of Armenia and GGiktly issued the following statement, "[they] ity
announce that they have suspended the ICSID arbitraending conclusion of a detailed settlememneament. The parties have reached a confidentiabagent in
principle, and anticipate that the final settlemagteement will be reached within 10 days of thisauncement." The Company has learned from pubdiords that
GeoProMining Ltd., through an affiliate, has becdheesole shareholder of an Armenian Company, Galdken LLC, which was granted a license for Hankavan
GeoProMining Ltd. is subject to the 20% obligatiasssuccessor to Sterlite Resources, Ltd. As afugep 25, 2008, GGM entered into a conditional, meritial
settlement agreement with the Government of thauBlapof Armenia to discontinue the ICSID arbitatiproceedings, which were discontinued as of Ma&3028.
This agreement did not affect the ICC arbitratiotita@gation involving similar subject matter.

Based on a false representation by Caldera, on1Jur2010, Global Gold Corporation and its subsidi&GM, LLC (collectively “Global”) and Caldera Rasrces,
Inc. (“Caldera”) announced TSX-V approval of thigiarch 24, 2010 joint venture agreement to exploctlaing the Marjan property into commercial prodoti As
previously reported, the property is held with @miy-five year “special mining license,” effectidril 22, 2008, and expiring April 22, 2033, whielkpanded the
prior license term and substantially increaseditiemse area. The license required payments afalrgovernmental fees and the performance of wotlkeaproperty
as submitted and approved in the mining plan, whictudes mining of 50,000 tonnes of mineralizeckrper year, as well as exploration work to hawditazhal
reserves approved under Armenian Law in order tmtaia the licenses in good standing. Calderassdl/iGlobal as well as governmental authoritiesithabuld not
be complying with the work requirements which praedp90 day termination notices from the governnaet the October 7, 2010 joint venture terminatiotice
from Global, which Global had agreed to keep theieation notice confidential until October 15, 201
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The joint venture agreement provided that Caldeyalgvbe solely responsible for license complianue @onducting the approved mining plan, and thé the event
that Caldera does not, or is otherwise unableusye this project and pay to Global Gold the anteprovided for hereunder, Caldera’s rights toRheperty and the
shares of Marjan-Caldera Mining LLC shall be foeitand replaced by a Net Smelter Royalty (the “NSFCaldera did not meet the threshold to earn any N&R!
the agreement, and its notice of license non-canpé as well as its failure to pay resulted in@ormatic termination of its rights by operationtioé agreement. The
agreement provided that Caldera would deliver SBD ¥ its shares to Global, “subject to final ap@is of this agreement by the TSX Venture Exchdrgaldera
advised that the TSX Venture Exchange approvalisged in June 2010 and Caldera failed to dellvesshares. Subject to a 30 day extension if ildcoot raise the
funds in capital markets, Caldera agreed to m&k&08,000 payment to the Company on September 30, 20d December 31, 2010; $250,000 on March 30,,2011
September 30, 2011, September 30, 2011, Decemb2030, March 30, 2012, September 30, 2012, andeBdgetr 30, 2012; and $500,000 on December 31,
2012. Caldera raised sufficient funds, but didmake these payments.

The agreement was subject to approval by the TSxue Exchange and the Board of Directors of tispeetive companies. Caldera further informed tbmg@an)
that it received TSX Venture Exchange approvallenttansaction, which subsequently proved to briantOn October 7, 2010, the Company terminatedvarjar
JV for Caldera’s non-payment and non-performancevelt as Caldera illegal registrations in Armenia and other actiotn October 2010, Caldera filed
arbitration in New York City. In September 2010 Calderas invitation, the Company filed to reverse thegiieregistration in Armenia. That litigation artetNev
York arbitration were subsequently resolved in fasfothe Company, restoring the Company’s 100% oslnip of Marjan.

In a final, non-appealable decision issued andgffe February 8, 2012, the Armenian Court of Ctigsaffirmed the July 29, 2011 Armenian trial coand
December 12, 2012 Court of Appeals decisions whitdd that Caldera's registration and assumptiaonfrol through unilateral charter changes of\fagjan Mine
and Marjan Mining Company, LLC were illegal and tbatnership rests fully with GGM. The official vers® of the Armenian Court decisions are availabieugh
http://www.datalex.am/with English translations available on the Conyamwebsite.

On March 29, 2012, in the independent New York @ityitration case Global Gold received a favorablieg in its arbitration proceeding in New York wi€aldera
which is available on the Company's website, sdetitx10.48. The arbitrator issued a Partial Fivadard which orders the Marjan Property in Armeniadwert to
GGM based on the two failures to meet conditionsguent to the March 24, 2010 agreement. First,eCalfhiled and refused to deliver the 500,000 sh@aré&lobal.
Second, Caldera did not submit the final joint veatagreement to the TSX{for approval until the middle of the arbitratipnoceedings, instead relying on supers:
versions in its regulatory submissions and subngjttForm 5Cs” to the TSX-V which were false reprgs¢ions of Caldera’s obligations to Global.

The Partial Award states “By misrepresenting itgrpant obligations to the TSX-V, Caldera paintedlad financial picture to the TSX-V and the invegtpublic.” In
addition, the arbitrator found that had he not caonne conclusions above, “Caldera and its offiadfectively breached the JV Agreement and thadef the
Limited Liability Agreement” in multiple ways, ingtling Caldera’s failure to make quarterly payméeatSlobal.

The Partial Award orders reversion of the Marjarperty to Global, return of amounts paid to Globaaldera returned as the JV Agreement did nohggoeffect,
an Net Smelter Royalty to Caldera of 0.5% for eaahche of $1 million actually spent on the propeaind further proceedings on Global’s claims famages with
additional hearings currently set to begin July2d12. As previously reported, Global's recordsiglish that Caldera did not spend $1 million om kharjan
property. Additionally, tax returns filed by Catden Armenia report less than $400,000 spent erptbperty. The parties' arbitration agreemerih&rprovides that
the award “shall be final and non-appealable” awdHe award of attorney fees, arbitrator’s feesl, @ther costs. In accordance with the Arbitratortler and the JV
agreement, Global Gold has filed to confirm thetiBBFinal Award in Federal Court. Caldera is oppg the confirmation.
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As of the filing date of this report, and subjexthie Federal Court's decision on confirming thei&ainal Award, Global has reestablished contfoMarjan Mining
Company which is the license holder of the Marjaopprty. A new mining license, valid until April 22033, has been issued to the Company. The Caorispan
control has not been established over certain pippecords, financial and tax information, oretlassets maintained by Caldera such as warehndgdrill core as
Caldera has failed to turn over such property desping ordered to do so. The Company is proogedith plans to mine in compliance with the minliegnse, and
implement additional exploration to the best ofabdlity. Global is also taking legal action tapect its rights in an adjacent territory indewetifias “Marjan West”
for which Caldera has publicly claimed to havecatise but according to public, on-line governmeonords, the company holding the license is 100%eoWry
another person.

Caldera has also publicly claimed that it continteelsave rights to the Marjan property based orptirtées’ December 2009 agreement, but that agretetimegree
was merged into the March 2010 agreement, calleddimpletion of payments by Caldera by the end d22@nd included other terms which Caldera cannot
meet. Caldera’s attempt to raise this issue irathéral proceedings following the March 29, 20E2idion in Global Gold’s favor has not succeed€dldera and its
officers and agents have also continued a defagnatonpaign of harassment and filing of false clagwer the internet and elsewhere against the Coyngadh its
officials which may be pursued during the damadessp of the arbitration.

On January 12, 2012, the Armenian Court of Cassatimfirmed prior trial and appellate court rulimggecting a proposed tax assessment against timp&y’'s
Mego-Gold subsidiary by the Armenian State Revenue Ageelated to an incorrect claim concerning golddotion at Toukhmanuk as well as incorrect appbces
of relevant law. Subsequently, the State Revegeaey has continued investigations and intimatadiths investigating and may make further claemgsinst the
Company based on the same matters previously adjiediin the Company'’s favor as well as based aimslinitiated and related to Caldera Resourcestardients
during and after legal proceedings in which the @any prevailed against Caldera. Independent Emaisel has been engaged on these matters, aGoithgany
considers that it has no liabilities in connectiath allegations noted to date. The Company hadedd Armenian authorities to the evidence of qatran in
connection with the purported investigation andriile of Caldera and its agents.

The Company was aware that another company waggratlares in the U.S. with the name Global GoldoCd he Company counsel sent the other company a ¢
and desist letter for using the similar name angiested that it change its name which it has done.

The Company is subject to various legal proceedamgiclaims that arise in the ordinary course aifiess. In the opinion of management, the amouanpfultimate
liability with respect to these actions will not teaally affect the Compang’consolidated financial statements or resultgpefations. The Company has been bro
to court by several disgruntled former employeas @ntractors for unpaid salaries and invoiceqeetvely, as well as some penalties for non payméich totals
approximately $100,000. The Company has recordiadhidity for the actual unpaid amounts due tostaéndividuals of approximately $30,000 as of Delsen81,
2012 and the Company has deposited approximat@y8a at the Armenian Marshall service as secunityHe claims. The Company is currently, and wglhtinue
to, vigorously defending its position in courts ega claims that are without merit. The Companglgo negotiating directly with these individualgside of the cour
in attempt to settle based on the amounts of theabamounts due as recorded by the Company ina@gehfor prompt and full payment.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

(a) Shares of the Company's Common Stock tradee@TC Bulletin Board (OTCQB) under the symbol "GBGThe range of high and low bid information faok
quarterly period during 2011 and 2012 were as figdto

2011 2012
Quarter High* Low* High* Low*
1st $ 028 $ 01z $ 02: $ 0.12
2nd $ 02 $ 011 $ 02 % 0.14
3rd $ 028 $ 0.0¢ $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1z
4th $ 02 $ 005 $ 01¢ % 0.12

* These quotations reflect inter-dealer prices wittretail mark-up, mark-down or commissions, araymot reflect actual transactions. Source: Ydfioance

As of April 13, 2013, the Company had 86,542,9%uésl and outstanding shares of its Common Stook.Gdmpany's transfer agent is American Registrd
Transfer Company, with offices at 342 E. 900 So8tif Lake City, Utah 84111, having a telephone lpemof (801) 363-9065.

(b) As of April 13, 2013, there were approximat#|298 holders of record of shares of the Compabgtamon Stock.

(c) We have not paid any cash dividends on our comstock and do not anticipate paying any castddids in the foreseeable future. We currently ohterretain
future earnings, if any, to fund the development growth of our business. Any future determinatmpay cash dividends will be at the discretiomaf Board of
Directors and will be dependent upon our financa@ldition, operating results, capital requiremeajglicable contractual restrictions and otherdiecthe Board of
Directors deems relevant.
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(d) The following table provides information abaltares of our Common Stock that may be issued thimmrexercise of options and rights under existiggitg
compensation plans as of December 31, 2012.

Remaining
available for
Number of issuance under
Securities to Weighted average equity
be issued upon exercise compensation plat
exercise price of outstandin (excluding
of oustanding options, warrants securities
options, and reflected in columi
warrants and rights rights (@)
Plan Category (@) (#) (b) ($) (c) #)
Equity compensation plans approved by securitydrsidl) 2,954,160 $ 0.52 55,83
Equity compensation plans not approved by sechatgiers 0 0 0
Total: 2,954,16' 55,83

(1) The Company's 2006 Stock Incentive Plan - @rell5, 2006, the Company's stockholders apprdwe@lobal Gold Corporation 2006 Stock IncentivenPla
(the "2006 Stock Incentive Plan") under which a mmaxmn of 3,000,000 shares of Common Stock may hets$subject to adjustment for stock splits,
dividends and the like). The 2006 Stock IncentilanReplaces the Company's Option Plan of 1995 tgmminated in June 2005. The Company's 2006 ¢
Incentive Plan has a ten - year term and will expim June 15, 2016. On June 15, 2006, the Compantegl options to buy 250,000 shares of commorkstoc
at an exercise price of $1.70 per share, to the @irman and CEO, Drury Gallagher. On June 1662the Company also granted options to buy 62,500
shares of common stock, at an exercise price G0#der share, to the Controller, Jan Dulman. Gwdg 11, 2007, the Company granted options to efich
the five directors to buy 100,000 (500,000 tothBres of common stock, at an exercise price of6hdeB share. On June 15, 2007, the Company grante
options to buy 150,000 shares of common stocky @ixarcise price of $0.83 per share, to the Chierieial Officer, Jan Dulman. On April 8, 2008et
Company granted options to each of the five dimscto buy 100,000 (500,000 total) shares of comstock, at an exercise price of $0.45 per share M@n
18, 2009, the Company granted options to eacheofivk directors to buy 100,000 (500,000 total)rekaf common stock, at an exercise price of $pe20
share. On May 18, 2009, pursuant to Mr. Gallagheripleyment agreement extension under his contrattarconfirmed by the independent compensation
committee and board of directors, Mr. Gallagher grasited stock options to purchase 166,667 sharesnafnon stock of the Company at $0.20 per share
vesting on November 18, 2009. On August 12, 2689 Company granted to Jan Dulman, the Companyiaf Emancial Officer, stock options to purchase
225,000 shares of common stock of the Company.adgger share (based on the closing price at hswal) vesting in equal quarterly installments aber
term of his employment agreement. On June 19,,20@0Company granted options to each of the fikectbrs to buy 100,000 (500,000 total) shares of
common stock, at an exercise price of $0.10 peesi@n June 19, 2010, pursuant to Mr. Gallagheripleyment agreement extension under his contratt an
as confirmed by the independent compensation caeeréind board of directors, Mr. Gallagher was grhsteck options to purchase 100,000 shares of
common stock of the Company at $0.10 per sharéngesh November 19, 2010. On October 14, 20100t@pany granted options to buy 40,000 shares of
common stock, at an exercise price of $0.25 peesht@aa consultant, Paul Airasian, which veste@®enember 31, 2010 and expired on December 31,2012
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
Not applicable
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OR PLA N OF OPERATION

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations shouldésedrin conjunction with our financial statementd eglated notes
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on ForrkK10

When used in this report, the words "expect(sgelfs)”, "believe(s)", "will", "may", "anticipate(sand similar expressions are intended to ideritifyard-looking
statements. Such statements are subject to cegiinand uncertainties, which could cause acesllts to differ materially from those projecte@aders are
cautioned not to place undue reliance on thesesfi@looking statements, and are urged to carefaliew and consider the various disclosures elseminethis
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
COMPARISON OF TWELVE-MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND TWELVE-MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011

During the twelve-month period ended December 8122the Company's administrative and other expewsee $3,883,990 which represented an increase of
$581,980 from $3,302,010 in the same period last.yEhe expense increase was primarily attributebf@ofessional fees of $313,305 higher than the pear's
period and by accounting fees of $147,819 highem the prior year’s period offset by lower stocknpensation expense of $248,889 more than the yean's
period.

During the twelve-month period ended December 8122the Company's mine exploration costs were $8&Avhich represented a decrease of $1,057,81® fro
$1,925,781 in the same period last year. The espercrease was attributable to the decreased gnaaitivity at the Toukhmanuk property of $1,057,876

During the twelve-month period ended December 8122the Company's amortization and depreciatigeeses were $571,218 which represented a decrease o
$168,241 from $739,459 in the same period last. yda expense decrease was primarily attributablleet decreased depreciation expense of $126,86a an
decreased amortization expense of $41,579.

During the twelvemonth period ended December 31, 2012, the Compaahyriterest expenses of $292,040 which representdedrease of $127,609 from $419,64
the same period last year. The expense decreasattributable to a decrease in interest expenseages due to management of $11,371 and a dec¢reiaserest
expense on a secured line of credit in Armeniald8$491.

During the twelve-month period ended December 8122the Company did not have any revenue whictesgmted a decrease of $81,702 from $81,702 isaime
period last year. The decrease in revenue ibattle to a decrease in sales of gold concerdféi®l,702 from the Toukhmanuk property becausgpefational
funding delays, needing a new tailings damn, ardstatus and funding of the Consolidated Resoyoagsventure.

The Company had interest income of $383 in 201Zwhépresented a decrease of $284 from $667 freradime period last year. The decrease is atthlmt
to lower average cash balances in the Armenia bhao&unts.

Deposits on contracts and equipment decreased®9ZBat December 31, 2012 from $460,047 due todh®pletion of contracts and the receipt of equipime
purchased.

Current liabilities decreased by $1,834,087 aseddinber 31, 2012 due to decrease of a $5,000,00ofity interest in joint venture pending whickasvclosed and
no longer a liability, offset by increases in aatsupayable of $1,240,634, wages payable of $280@&hvertible note payable of $1,618,755 and paj@ble to
director of $98,627. Secured line of credit — loeign portion was $709,948 as of December 31, 2@1ieh decreased by $712,230 from $1,422,178 ascEBber
31, 2011 due to loan repayments made of $619,58P¢carrency changes
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Company continues to experience liquidity crajes.

As of December 31, 2012, the Company's total assais $3,402,862, of which $3,391 consisted of castash equivalents.

The Company's expected plan of operation for thendar year 2013 is:

(a) To implement the joint venture agreement witinéblidated Resources USA, LLC, and build a nelints dam necessary to recommence operating exgande
mining operations at Toukhmanuk, to generate inctsora offering services from the 1SO certified laperating at Toukhmanuk, and to continue to exploise
property to confirm and develop historical resereorts, to explore and develop the Getik properrmenia;

(b) To implement exploration recommendations frbm ©ctober 17, 2011 Behre Dolbear technical repsrtipdated, related to the Toukhmanuk and Getifguties;
(c) To mine, develop, and explore at the Marjarpprty in Armenia;

(d) To implement the sale agreement, as amend#u Geinventus/Amarant Mining/Alluvia/Ulander in Chile

(e) To review and acquire additional mineral beaproperties in Chile, Armenia, and other countréesl

(f) Pursue additional financing through privateggiments, debt and/or joint ventures.

The Company has a confession of arbitral awardnag@imarant in connection with the Chile sale, enowed $3,275,000 from Amarant with interest argguat 12%
per annum.

The Company owns 533,856 shares of Amarant an®,000 shares of Alluvia which are currently tradedhe “Mangold List” in Sweden.

The Company holds a judgment in excess of $37,000e@ainst former Armenian Minister of Environmerirfan Aivazyan.

The Company is also pursuing its contractual rigtdttorney fees and costs as well as damagescdchygealdera Resources in the New York arbitration.

The Company is entitled to more than $3,000,0000f@&GCRL for advances in accordance with the boppdavals of GGCRL.

The Company retained the right until December 80920 elect to participate at a level of up to 20%h Sterlite Gold Ltd. or any of its affiliates any exploration
project undertaken in Armenia. This agreement issgred by New York law and includes New York coasschoice of forum. On October 2, 2006, Vedanta
Resources Plc announced that its tender offekidantrol of Sterlite Gold Ltd. was successful ethinade it a successor to the twenty percent pzation with
Sterlite Gold Ltd. In September 2007, Vedanta (@tetlite) announced that they had closed a stdektsmsaction with GeoProMining Ltd., which made
GeoProMining Ltd. and its affiliates the successoithe 20% participation right. The Company camgis to review legal options to enforce the 20%trigh

The Company retains the right to participate upG® in any new projects undertaken by the Armen@mnpany Sipan 1, LLC and successors to and afffliaf

Iberian Resources Limited, which merged with Tam@gaources Limited, in Armenia, until August 15120 In addition, the Company has a 2.5% NSR rgyait
production from the Lichkvaz-Tei and Terterasaresias well as from any mining properties in a 20ldmeter radius of the town of Aigedzor in southérmenia.
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The Company also anticipates spending additiomadgun Armenia and Chile for further exploratiordatevelopment of its other properties as well apisition of
new properties. The Company is also reviewing temlinologies in exploration and processing. The@any anticipates that it will issue additional iégor debt to
finance its planned activities. The Company apétgs that it might obtain additional financingnfrthe remaining holders of its Warrants to purciia680,000 shar
of Common Stock of the Company at an exercise @fiéi.10 per share, which will provide for an aitdfial $165,000 but these warrants have not beercised as
of the date of this filing.

The Company may engage in research and developelated to exploration and processing during 2@h8, is purchasing processing plant and equipmeetas
expand production.

The Company has received a going concern opinimm fts independent public accounting firm. Thisame that our auditors believe that there is ddudit we ca
continue as an ogeing business for the next twelve months unlessaise additional capital to pay our bills. Thisbiecause the Company has not generate
substantial revenues. The Company has been ablentmue based upon its receipt of funds fromigseance of equity securities and by acquiringtassepayin
expenses by issuing stock, debt, or sale of asEhés Company's continued existence is dependent itpacontinued ability to raise funds through tesuance ¢
securities. Management's plans in this regard anbtain other financing until profitable operatiand positive cash flow are achieved and maintained.

Besides the funding from agreements with Amarantimgii.td. and the GGCRL Joint Venture there areima Eommitments from third parties to provide adtdigl
financing, and the Company needs additional fundsder to conduct any active mining development groduction operations in the foreseeable futdiee
Company is in discussion to acquire additionalritiag, but there can be no assurance that anydingufor current operations, acquisitions or futprejects will be
available for such purposes or that such finandgfrayailable, would be on terms favorable or at¢abje to the Company.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Stock Based Compensation - The Company periodigsglyes shares of Common Stock for services redderfor financing costs. Such shares are valusddan
the market price on the transaction date. The @omperiodically issues stock options and warrememmployees and non-employees in hon-capitahguisi

transactions for services and for financing costs.

The Company accounts for the grant of stock andaméawards in accordance with ASC Topic 718, Camspiion — Stock Compensation (“ASC 718”). ASC 718
requires companies to recognize in the statemempefations the grant-date fair value of warrants stock options and other equity based compemsatio

The Black-Scholes option valuation model was deuadiofor use in estimating the fair value of tradptions that have no restrictions and are fullpsfarable. In
addition, option models require the input of highlibjective assumptions including the expectedkgpoce volatility.

For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 201Mhssend loss per share include the actual demtufdr stock-based compensation expense. Thestotei-based
compensation expense for the years ended Decerhp2082 and 2011 was $174,915 and $423,804, résplgciThe expense for stock-based compensatiamisn-
cash expense item.

Comprehensive Income - The Company has adopted TR 220, "Comprehensive Income." Comprehensieeme is comprised of net income (loss) and all
changes to stockholders' equity (deficit), exchpse related to investments by stockholders, clsingeaid-in capital and distribution to owners.
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The following table summarizes the computationsmeding net loss to comprehensive loss for theyeaded December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Year Ending December 31,

2012 2011
Net loss applicable to Global GcCorporation Common Shareholders $ (2,945,39) $ (6,536,76))
Unrealized gain arising during year $ 460,10¢ $ (529,779
Comprehensive loss $ (2,485,28) $ (7,066,54.)

Acquisition, Exploration and Development Costdlineral property acquisition costs are capitaliz&dditionally, mine development costs incurred eitfto develo
new ore deposits and constructing new facilities @pitalized until operations commence. All soabpitalized costs are amortized using a strdigktbasis on
range from 110 years, based on the minimum original licensentat acquisition, but do not exceed the useful difethe capitalized costs. Upon commel
development of an ore body, the applicable capédlicosts would then be amortized using the urifgr@duction method. Exploration costs, costs iremirc
maintain current production or to maintain assatsaostandby basis are charged to operations. @bstbandoned projects are charged to operations
abandonment. The Company evaluates, at leastegiyarthe carrying value of capitalized mining cosind related property, plant and equipment cifs&)y, tc
determine if these costs are in excess of theiresdizable value and if a permanent impairmentlade be recorded. The periodic evaluation ofywagrvalue o
capitalized costs and any related property, pladteguipment costs are based upon expected cashdlod/or estimated salvage value in accordandeASIC Topit
360, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposaloing-Lived Assets."

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets - Management reviewd evaluates the net carrying value of all féedi including idle facilities, for impairment lgast annually,

or upon the occurrence of other events or chamgeisdqumstances that indicéateat the related carrying amounts may not be reedie. We estimate the net realize
value of each property based on the estimated emdliged future cash flows that will be generatednfoperations at each property, the estimated galvalue of the
surface plant and equipment and the value assdaiate property interests. All assets at an opegasiegment are evaluated together for purposestiofating future

cash flows.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

The Company does not hold any market risk sensitiseeuments nor does it have any foreign curren@hange agreements. The Company maintains antoryeof
unprocessed ore and gold concentrate which ariedam the balance sheet as of December 31, 208452t463 and $11,342, respectively, and unprodesseand

gold concentrate of $560,560 and $3,994, respdygtiae of December 31, 2011 with our Armenian stibsy Mego-Gold LLC. The Company does not maintaig

commodity hedges or futures arrangements with céspehis unprocessed ore.

Financial instruments which potentially subject @@mpany to concentrations of credit risk consistgipally of cash. The Company places its cash Wwigh credit
quality financial institutions in the United Statsd Armenia. Bank deposits in the United Statésdt exceed federally insured limits as of Decengi, 2012 and
December 31, 2011. As of December 31, 2012 anéi@ker 31, 2011, the Company had approximately $33@d $30,360, respectively, in Armenian bank digpos
which may not be insured. The Company has not éxpezd any losses in such accounts through DeceBih@012 and as of the date of this filing.

The majority of the Company's present activitiesiarArmenia and Chile. As with all types of intational business operations, currency fluctuatiershange
controls, restrictions on foreign investment, ctestp tax regimes, political action and politicadtability could impair the value of the Comparig\gestments.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The audited consolidated financial statements@fQbmpany, notes thereto and report of Indeper@ertified Public Accountants thereon for the fispaars ended
December 31, 2012 by RBSM LLP and December 31, B§13herb & Co, LLP, are attached hereto as a faanal at the end of, this report.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

On January 8, 2013, the Company was informed bndispendent registered public accounting firm,rBi&eCo., LLP, (“Sherb”), that it has combined fisactice

with RBSM LLP (the “Merger”) effective January 1, Z7As a result, the Company determined to enterantengagement letter with RBSM LLP which becaree th
Company's independent registered public accoufitimg The engagement of RBSM LLP as the Companylspendent registered public accounting firm was
approved by the Audit Committee of the Board ofebtors of the Company on February 7, 2013.

Sherb & Co., LLP issued an audit report on the abdated financial statements of the Company adtfor the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2@1¢h did
not contain an adverse opinion or a disclaimerpifion, and was not qualified or modified as toiaadope or accounting principles. The principalamtant’s
reports of Sherb on the financial statements ofbmpany for the years ended December 31, 2012@h@ contained an explanatory paragraph discldbieg
uncertainty regarding the Company’s ability to @omé¢ as a going concern. In connection with thetaafdhe consolidated financial statements of@leenpany as at
and for the years ended December 31, 2011 and&td ¢hrough date of dismissal, (i) there were saglieements between the Company and Sherb & CB.phL
any matters of accounting principles or practifiesincial statement disclosure, or auditing scaperocedures, which disagreements, if not resoloetie satisfaction
of Sherb & Co., LLP, would have caused Sherb & CbR, to make reference to the subject matter oflieagreement in its report on the Company's firghnc
statements for such year or during the interimgaetihrough the date of this Report, and (ii) theeze no reportable events within the meaning s¢h fa Item 304(a)
(1)(v) of Regulation S-K.

During the two years ended December 31, 2011, tmepany did not consult with RBSM LLP with respecatty of (i) the application of accounting principl® a
specified transaction, either completed or propp@Bdhe type of audit opinion that might be remeld on the Company's financial statements; Qraiiy matter that
was either the subject of a disagreement (as akfinkem 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation S-K) or areew of the type described in Item 304(a)(1)(v) ebRlation S-K.

Prior to filing a Form 8-K reporting such chandes Company provided Sherb with a copy of the foirggdisclosures in the Form 8-K and Sherb furnistmed
Company with a letter addressed to the SecuritidsExchange Commission stating that it agreed thighCompany's statements in the Form 8-K. A cophefetter
furnished by Sherb was filed as an exhibit to faim 8-K.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedure

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresl¢fised in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgateter the Security Exchange Act of 1934, as antb(itie
“Exchange Act”)) that are designed to ensure thimrmation that would be required to be disclosefxchange Act reports is recorded, processed, suined and
reported within the time periods specified in tlee&ities and Exchange Commiss®nules and forms, and that such information imaedated and communicated
our management, including the Chief Executive @ffiand Chief Financial Officer (our Principal Exgea Officer and Principal Financial Officer, reggigely), as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regardinguieed disclosure.

As of December 31, 2012, we carried out an evalnatinder the supervision and with the participatibour management, including the Principal ExeuDfficer
and Principal Financial Officer, of the effectivesef the design and operation of our disclosurgrots and procedures. Based on the foregoingPducipal
Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officaameluded that our disclosure controls and procedwere effective as of the end of the period cavesethis
Annual Report.

(b) Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We are responsible for establishing and maintaiaihequate internal control over financial reportidg defined in the securities laws, internal coinbver financial
reporting is a process designed by, or under tpersision of, our Principal Executive and Principailancial Officers and effected by our Board ofdators,
management, and other personnel, to provide rebBoasasurance regarding the reliability of finahoégorting and the preparation of financial stagets for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatiog principles and includes those policies arat@dures that (i) pertain to the maintenance ands that in
reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflecttthasactions and dispositions of our assetspi@yide reasonable assurance that transactions@veled as necessary
to permit preparation of financial statements iocadance with generally accepted accounting priesj@mnd that our receipts and expenditures argylmeade only in
accordance with authorizations of management ardtdrs; and (iii) provide reasonable assurancardgg prevention or timely detection of unauthedz
acquisition, use or disposition of our assets tbatd have a material effect on the financial stegets.

The Company's internal control over financial reéjmgris designed to provide reasonable assuramgeeding the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation ¢
financial statements for external reporting purgdseaccordance with generally accepted accouptimgiples.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or detaisstatements. Therefore, even those systetesmiaed to be
effective can provide only reasonable assurandeegpect to financial statement preparation aadgntation. Also, projections of any evaluatioefiéctiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that costrody become inadequate because of changes irtioasdor that the degree of compliance with thicps or
procedures may deteriorate.

Management conducted an evaluation of the effeas®of the internal controls over financial repat{as defined in Rule 13E5(f) promulgated under the Exchar
Act) as of December 31, 2012, based on the franmeimdnternal Control Integrated Framework issugdte Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission.
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Management, including the Principal Executive ariddipal Financial Officers, based on their evaloatdf the Company's internal control over financggdorting,
have concluded that the Company's internal cootret financial reporting was effective as of Decem®l, 2012.

This annual report does not include an attestagport of the Company's registered public accogrfinm regarding internal control over financial
reporting. Management's report was not subjecttéstation by the Company's registered public actiog firm pursuant to Section 404(c) of the SadsaDxley Act.

(b) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Repating

There have been no changes in the Company's ihtemgol over financial reporting that occurredtlire fourth fiscal quarter that has materially etiéel, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Comparigiternal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not Applicable.
PART llI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORA TE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Item 10 is incargted by reference from the Company's Proxy Statémedating to the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockhaotde
scheduled to be held on or around June 21, 2013.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11 is incargted by reference from the Company's Proxy Staténedating to the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockhodde
scheduled to be held on or around June 21, 2013.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTER S

The information concerning required by this Itemid thcorporated by reference from the Companyisy6tatement relating to the 2013 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders scheduled to be held on or around 2un2013.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item 13 is incarged by reference from the Company's Proxy Statémedating to the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockhaotde
scheduled to be held on or around June 21, 2013.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item 14 is incagted by reference from the Company's Proxy Statenedating to the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockhodde
scheduled to be held on or around June 21, 2013.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Financial Statements.

The following documents are filed as part of tl@part: Financial Statements of the Company, indgdhe report of Independent Certified Public Acuaints,
Balance Sheet, Statements of Operations, Statemie8teckholders' Equity (Deficit) and Comprehemrsincome (Loss), Statements of Cash Flow and Notes
Financial Statements: as of and for the years eBéegmber 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011.

(b) Exhibits.
Exhibit 3.1
Exhibit 3.2
Exhibit 10.3
Exhibit 10.4
Exhibit 10.8

Exhibit 10.10

Exhibit 10.11
Exhibit 10.14
Exhibit 10.15
Exhibit 10.16
Exhibit 10.17
Exhibit 10.18
Exhibit 10.19
Exhibit 10.20

Exhibit 10.21

Exhibit 10.22

Exhibit 10.23

Amended and Restated Certificatenablporation of the Company, effective NovemberZtm3. (1)

Amended and Restated Bylaws of then@any, effective November 20, 2003. (2)

Agreement to Acquire Option on Caole Pond Property dated April 12, 2007. (3)

First Amendment of the January ZB)@ Share Purchase Agreement (Athelea Investmelatig)d as of May 30, 2007. (4)
Nominating and Governance Charter dated June 1¥,.48)

Commitment to Contribute Mining Cession to a Contractual Mining Company (Unofficialgiish Translation) dated as of August 19, 2007.

(6)
Contractual Mining Company Agreem@hofficial English Translation) dated as of Ca¢o 29, 2007. (7)
Royalty Agreement on Cochrane PBrmperty, Newfoundland dated as of October 1782(%)
Private Placement Agreement, d&tedember 8, 2008. (9)
Material Contract — Amendment of kedbGold Valdivia Joint Venture Terms, SeparatibRmperties and Royalty Agreement (10)
Employment Agreement, dated as wgust 11, 2009, by and between Global Gold Corpwratnd Van Krikorian. (11)
Employment Agreement, dated as afusai 11, 2009, by and between GGM, LLC and AshotiBsgian. (12)
Employment Agreement, dated as wgust 11, 2009, by and between Global Gold Corwratnd Jan Dulman. (13)
Employment Agreement, dated as wgust 11, 2009, by and between Global Gold Corjorand Lester Caesar. (14)

Armenian State Natural Resourcesrfoy Decision N234 on the Recalculation of Resefwe$oukhmanuk — delivered Friday, November 13,
2009 — Partial Unofficial Translation . (15)

Material Contract — Marjan Joint Vertdhgreement dated as of December 18, 2009. (16)

Material Contract — Mego Gold, LLC @&oncentrate Supply Contract with Industrial Mine@A dated as of February 25, 2010. (17)
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Exhibit 10.24

Exhibit 10.25

Exhibit 10.26

Exhibit 10.27

Exhibit 10.28

Exhibit 10.29

Exhibit 10.30

Exhibit 10.31

Exhibit 10.32

Exhibit 10.33

Exhibit 10.34

Exhibit 10.35

Exhibit 10.36

Exhibit 10.37

Exhibit 10.38

Exhibit 10.39

Exhibit 10.40

Exhibit 10.41

Exhibit 10.42

Material Contract — Mego Gold, LLC 8ety Agreement with Industrial Minerals SA datedadd-ebruary 25, 2010. (18)
Material Contract — Global Gold Comution Guarantee to Industrial Minerals SA datedfdsebruary 25, 2010. (19)
Material Contract — Marjan Joint Veartdgreement dated as of March 24, 2010. (20)

Material Contract — (Unofficial Engfi Translation) Mego Gold, LLC non revolving crddie from Armbusinessbank signed March 26, 2010.
(21)

Employment Agreement, dated as ajusi 19, 2010, by and between Global Gold Corpamadnd Drury Gallagher. (22)
Material Agreement — Debt cancellatémd restructuring with conversion rights. (23)

Material Agreement — October 27, 26ithed agreement for the sale of Compania Mineod&IGold Valdivia S.C.M. company to Conventus
Ltd. (24)

Material Contract — Global Gold Camtion and Consolidated Resources USA, LLC Jointt\i@ Agreement dated as of March 17, 2011 (25)
Material Contract — Global Gold Cargtion and Consolidated Resources Joint Ventureéwgent dated as of April 27, 2011. (26)

Material Contract — December 2, 26iphed agreement for the sale of Compania Mineob&@IGold Valdivia S.C.M. company to Conventus
Ltd. and Amarant Mining Ltd. (27)

Written Consent of Shareholderkigu of Meeting Pursuant to Section 228(a) of the&al Corporation Laws of the State of Delawar8) (2

Material Agreement — Binding Terme$h— Convertible Note between Global Gold Consatéid Resources Limited and Consolidated Resources
Armenia and affiliates, Global Gold Corporation argor. (29)

Material Agreement — Shareholderseggent for GGCR dated February 18, 2012. (30)
Material Agreement — Supplementateredated February 19, 2012. (31)

Material Agreement — Getik Assigninand Assumption Agreement dated February 19, 2R23.
Material Agreement — MG Assignmend &ssumption Agreement dated February 19, 2013. (33
Material Agreement — Guaranty ddtetiruary 19, 2012 (by GGC to CRA). (34)

Material Agreement — Guaranty ddtebruary 19, 2012 (by GGCR Mining to CRA). (35)

Material Agreement — Security Agresrindated February 19, 2012 (by GGCR and GGCR MitorCRA). (36)
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Exhibit 10.43

Exhibit 10.44

Exhibit 10.45

Exhibit 10.46

Exhibit 10.47

Exhibit 10.48

Exhibit 10.49

Exhibit 10.50

Exhibit 10.51

Exhibit 10.52

Exhibit 10.53

Exhibit 10.54

Exhibit 10.55

Exhibit 10.56

Exhibit 10.57

Exhibit 10.58

Exhibit 10.59

Exhibit 10.60

Exhibit 21

Material Agreement — Action by Weitt Consent of the Sole Member of GGCR Mining, LL@&dd&ebruary 19, 2012. (37)

Material Agreement — CertificateGibbal Gold Corporation dated February 19, 2018) (3

Global Gold Consolidated Resouldesited Registered Company No 109058 Written resohs by all of the directors of the Company. (39)
Action by Written Consent of thedd of Managers of GGCR Mining, LLC. (40)

March 2, 2012 Order of the Arbitrat@ 1)

Partial Final Award issued by thbiator on March 29, 2012 in arbitration betwedol@l Gold Corporation and Caldera Resources,(#1).
Material Agreement — Amended Jointership Interest Purchase Agreement with AmarantrigiLtd. (43)

Guarantee Letter from Contenderited@\B, dated April 13, 2012. (44)

Accountants’ Letter. (45)

Amended and Extended Employmenieagrent, effective July 1, 2012, by and between &IGwold Corporation and Van Krikorian. (46)
Amended and Extended Employment Agrent, effective July 1, 2012, by and between GGM; Bnd Ashot Boghossian. (47)

Amended and Extended Employment Agrent, effective August 1, 2012, by and betweem&I&old Corporation and Jan Dulman. (48)
Restricted Stock bonus award eféeciuly 1, 2012 to Van Krikorian. (49)

Restricted Stock bonus award eféecfiuly 1, 2012 to Jan Dulman. (50)

September 5, 2012 Writ of Executi(ii)

Material Contract - Getik Mining Conmya LLC - Share Transfer Agreement dated Septe@®e2012. (52)

Material Contract - Mego-Gold, LLGhare Transfer Agreement dated September 26, PRAP.

Material Agreemen- November 28, 2012 Amended Joint Membership Intétasthases Agreement with Amarant Mining |

List of Subsidiaries.

42




Exhibit 31.1 Certification of Chief Executive @fér Pursuant to Rule 13a-14 (a) of the SarbandsyQAct of 2002.
Exhibit 31.2 Certification of Chief Financial @fér Pursuant to Rule 13a-14 (a) of the SarbandsyQ\ct of 2002.

Exhibit 32.1 Certification of the Chief Executi@ficer and Chief Financial Officer Pursuant tol&.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to @e806
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Exhibit 101.INS*  XBRL Instance

Exhibit 101.SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
Exhibit 101.CAL* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calcuila
Exhibit 101.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Defirati
Exhibit 101.LAB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels
Exhibit 101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presénta

(1) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibitt®.the Company's annual report on 10-KSB for t&ryended December 31, 2007 filed with the SEC orecivial,
2008.

(2) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibitt®.the Company's annual report on 10-KSB for t&ryended December 31, 2007 filed with the SEC orecivial,
2008.

(3) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibi31t0.the Company's current report on Form 8-K filéth the SEC on April 13, 2007.

(4) Incorporated herein by reference to ExhibiB10.the Company's current report on Form 8-K fileth the SEC on May 31, 2007.

(5) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibitt.the Company's current report on Form 8-K fikgth the SEC on June 20, 2007.

(6) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibi#ltd.the Company's current report on Form 8-K fileth the SEC on September 7, 2007.
(7) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibi#dlid the Company's current report on Form 8-Kdfiléth the SEC on November 1, 2007.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Global Gold Corporation and Subsidiaries (An Exatam Stage Company)

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineet of Global Gold Corporation and Subsidigden Exploration Stage Company) (the “Company”pas
December 31, 2012 and the related consolidateenséatts of operations and comprehensive incomektstiters' equity (deficit) and cash flows for theay then
ended. We did not audit the financial statementstfe period beginning January 1, 1995 through Bdsez 31, 2012. These financial statements aressmonsibility
of the Company's management. Our responsibility express an opinion on these financial statensged on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statedof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti@d@nited States). Those standards require thatlareand
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assuranoet athether the financial statements are free déra misstatement. The Company is not requirdubiee, nor
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its intecaatrol over financial reporting. Our audit indied consideration of internal control over finahcggporting as a
basis for designing audit procedures that are gpjate in the circumstances, but not for the puepad expressing an opinion on the effectivenesseoCompany’s
internal control over financial reporting. Accandly we express no such opinion. An audit incluele@mining, on a test basis, evidence supportingutieunts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit écludes assessing the accounting principled asd significant estimates made by managemenelhas
evaluating the overall financial statement pres@tiaWe believe that our audit provides a reastmbhasis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaeaferred to above present fairly, in all mateeapects, the financial position of the CompasypBDecember 31,
2012 and the results of their operations and tash flows for the year then ended, in conformithveccounting principles generally accepted inltinited States of
America.

The accompanying financial statements have begraprd assuming that the Company will continue gairgg concern. The Company has incurred signifitasges
as more fully described in Note 2. These issueg stibstantial doubt about the Company's abiligotdinue as a going concern. Management's plaregard to
these matters are also described in Note 2. Thadial statements do not include any adjustmeatstight result from the outcome of this uncertaint

/sIRBSM LLP
New York, New York
April 15, 2013
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Global Gold Corporation and Subsidiaries (An Exatam Stage Company)

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineet of Global Gold Corporation and Subsidigden Exploration Stage Company) (the “Company”pas
December 31, 2011 and the related consolidateenséatts of operations and comprehensive incomektsiiters' equity (deficit) and cash flows for theay then
ended. We did not audit the financial statementstfe period beginning January 1, 1995 through Bdsez 31, 2011. These financial statements aressmonsibility
of the Company's management. Our responsibility express an opinion on these financial statensged on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statedof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti@d@nited States). Those standards require thatlareand
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assuranoet athether the financial statements are free déra misstatement. The Company is not requirdubiee, nor
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its intecaatrol over financial reporting. Our audit indied consideration of internal control over finahcggporting as a
basis for designing audit procedures that are gpjate in the circumstances, but not for the puepad expressing an opinion on the effectivenesseoCompany’s
internal control over financial reporting. Accandly we express no such opinion. An audit incluele@mining, on a test basis, evidence supportingutieunts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit écludes assessing the accounting principled asd significant estimates made by managemenelhas
evaluating the overall financial statement pres@tiaWe believe that our audit provides a reastmbhasis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaeaferred to above present fairly, in all mateeapects, the financial position of the CompasypBDecember 31,
2011 and the results of their operations and trash flows for the year then ended December 311,208 Xonformity with accounting principles genéyalccepted in
the United States of America.

The accompanying financial statements have begraprd assuming that the Company will continue gairgg concern. The Company has incurred signifitasges
as more fully described in Note 2. These issueg stibstantial doubt about the Company's abiligotdinue as a going concern. Management's plaregard to
these matters are also described in Note 2. Thadial statements do not include any adjustmeatstight result from the outcome of this uncertaint

/sISherb & Co., LLP
New York, New York
April 13, 2012
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GLOBAL GOLD CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
(An Exploration Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

December 31,

2012 2011
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash $ 3,391 29,13:
Inventories 559,52! 758,43!
Tax refunds receivable 67,12: 109,13¢
Receivable from sale, net of impairment of $1,878,and $3,950,000 respectively 558,43' 50,00(
Other current assets 21,96° 71,39
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 1,210,44. 1,018,09:
LICENSES, net of accumulated amortization of $2,289 and $2,140,971, respectively 770,64¢ 1,068,96!
DEPOSITS ON CONTRACTS AND EQUIPMENT 373,11¢ 460,04°
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, net of accumulategdeiation of $2,971,476 and $2,812,304,
respectively 1,048,65: 1,174,88I
$ 3,402,86: 3,721,98.
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 3,915,09; 2,674,45:
Wages payable 962,93( 741,93.
Employee loans 243,35! 256,45t
Advance from customer 87,02( 87,02(
Noncontrolling interest in joint venture pending - 5,000,001
Secured line of credit - short term portion 684,00( 684,00(
Convertible note payable 1,618,75! -
Current portion of note payable to Directors 98,627 -
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 7,609,77! 9,443,861
SECURED LINE OF CREDIT - LONG TERM PORTION 709,94 1,422,17:
TOTAL LIABILITIES 8,319,722 10,866,04
EQUITY:
Global Gold Corporation Stockholders' Equity
Common stock $0.001 par, 100,000,000 shares anthrd6,542,975 and 83,805,485 ecember 31, 2012 &
December 31, 2011, respectively, shares issuedwasthnding 86,54 83,80¢
Additional paid-in-capital 44,444 93 37,819,08
Accumulated deficit prior to exploration stage (2,907,64) (2,907,64)
Deficit accumulated during the exploration stage (47,125,56) (44,180,17)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 1,448,27. 2,040,87.
TOTAL GLOBAL GOLD CORPORATION STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT (4,053,46) (7,144,061
NONCONTROLLING MINORITY INTEREST (863,407 -
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $ 3,402,86. 3,721,98.

The accompanying notes are an integral part oethasdited financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHEN SIVE LOSS

REVENUES

COST OF GOODS SOLD
GROSS PROFIT

(INCOME)/EXPENSES:
General and administrative
Mining and exploration costs
Amortization and depreciation
Write-off on investment

Gain on sale of investment
Gain from investment in joint ventures
Interest expense

Bad debt expense

Loss on foreign exchange

Gain on extinguishment of debt
Interest income

TOTAL EXPENSES
Loss from Continuing Operations

Discontinued Operations:
Loss from discontinued operations

Loss on disposal of discontinued operations

Net Loss

Less: Net loss applicable to noncontrolling interes
Net loss applicable to Global Gold Corporation Camn$hareholder

Foreign currency translation adjustment
Unrealized gain on investments

Comprehensive Net Loss
Less: Comprehensive net loss applicable to

GLOBAL GOLD CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
(An Exploration Stage Company)

Cumulative amour

Comprehensive Net Loss applicable to Global Gold -

Corporation Common Shareholders

NET LOSS PER SHARI- BASIC AND DILUTED

WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDINC BASIC AND DILUTED

The accompanying notes are an integral part obtheslited financial statements.

from
Year Ended January 1, 1995
December 31, through
December 31,
2012 2011 2012
(Unaudited)
$ - 3% 81,70: $ 632,85
- 34,24¢ 224,24
- 47,45 408,60°
3,883,991 3,302,011 28,619,32
867,90! 1,925,78: 17,387,67
571,21¢ 739,45¢ 6,415,75
- - 176,60!
(2,242,71) 47,98¢ (4,874,50)
- 150,00( (2,373,70)
292,04( 419,64¢ 2,395,32:
- - 151,25(
- - 193,85
- - (289,76¢1)
(383) (667) (365,20)
3,472,05! 6,584,21! 47,436,61
(3,472,05) (6,536,76) (47,028,00)
- - 386,411
- - 237,80t
(3,472,05) (6,536,76) (47,652,22)
(526,66¢) - (526,66¢)
(2,945,39) (6,536,76) (47,125,56)
460,10! (529,779 2,147,50.
- - 353,47!
(2,485,28) (7,066,54) (44,624,58)
nonating interest - - (1,052,70)
$ (2,485,28) $ (7,066,54) $ (45,677,28)
$ (0.0 $ (0.0¢%)
85,214,49 81,319,84

F-5




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERBQUITY (DEFICIT)

Balance from February 21, 1980 to Decem
31, 1994 (Note 1) (Unaudited)

Adjustment for the restatement of par va
Issuance of stock for acquisition of Eyre
Recources, N.L.

Proceeds received from private placeme
Net loss

Balance as December 31, 1995 (Unauditec

Warrants exercised
Net loss

Balance as of December 31, 1996 (Unaudi

Issuance of common stock
Net loss

Balance as of December 31, 1997 (Unaudi

Net income
Balance as of December 31, 1998 (Unaudi

Purchase of treasury stock
Unrealized loss on investment
Net loss

Balance as of December 31, 1999 (Unaudi

Issuance of common stock in connection
with settlement

Cancellation of treasury stock
Settlement of accrued salary

Sale of warrants

Unrealized loss on investment

Net loss

Balance as December 31, 2000 (Unauditec

Net loss
Unrealized loan on investment

Balance as of December 31, 2001 (Unaudi

Issuance of common stock for compense
Net loss
Unrealized gain on investment

Balance as of December 31, 2002 (Unaudi

Issuance of common stock for cash:
at $0.25 per share, January
at $0.25 per share, July
at $0.50 per share, October
at $0.50 per share, October

Issuance of common stock for

GLOBAL GOLD CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
( An Exploration Stage Enterprise )

Deficit
Accumulates
Prior to and
During Accumulated

Additional the Other Total
Common Stock Paid-in Exploration  Treasury Minority = Comprehensiv Stockholder:

Shares Amount Capital Stage Stock Interest  Income (Loss Equity
898,07 $ 89,807 $ 3,147,69 $ (2,907,64) $ - 3% $ - $ 329,850
- (88,909 88,90¢ - - - -
1,000,001 1,00( 849,00( - - - 850,00(
200,00( 20C 421,37: - - - 421,57:
- - - (361,34 - - (361,341)
2,098,07. 2,09¢ 4,506,97 (3,268,99) - - 1,240,08!
40 - 10C - - - 10C
- - - (668,57°) - - (668,57")
2,098,11. 2,09¢ 4,507,07! (3,937,57) - - 571,60
2,250,00! 2,25( 222,75( - - - 225,00(
; - - (690,74) - - (690,74)
4,348,11. 4,34¢ 4,729,82 (4,628,31) - - 105,85¢
- - - 34,94« - - 34,94«
4,348,11. 4,34¢ 4,729,82! (4,593,37) - - 140,80(
- - - - (60,000 - (120,001)
- - - - - (16,000 (16,000
- - - (93,82¢) - - (93,82¢)
4,348,11. 4,34¢ 4,729,82 (4,687,19) (60,000 (16,000 (89,02¢)
20,00( 2C 1,98( - - - 2,00(¢
(2,000,001 (2,000 (59,000 - 60,00( - 60,00(
1,000,001 1,00( 161,50( - - - 162,50(
- - 65C - - - 65C
- - - - - (90,000) (90,000
- - - (33,34) - - (33,34)
4,368,11 4,36¢ 4,834,95! (4,720,54) - (106,001) 12,78:
- - - (26,83)) - - (26,83))
- - - - - (15,000 (15,000
4,368,11 4,36¢ 4,834,95! (4,747,37) - (121,001) (29,049
200,00( 20C 9,80( - - - 10,00(
- - - (60,119 - - (60,115
- - - - - 247,40 247,40t
4,568,11. 4,56¢ 4,844,75! (4,807,48) - 126,40t 168,24
350,00( 35( 87,15( - - - 87,50(
1,000,00 1,00( 231,50( - - - 232,50(
100,00( 10C 46,40( - - - 46,50(
400,00( 40( 185,60( - - - 186,00(



compensation:

at $0.25 per share, February 1,800,00 1,80( (1,800 - - - - -
at $0.25 per share, June 900,00( 90C (900) - - - - -
at $0.25 per share, December 90,00( 9C (90) - - - - -
Amortization of deferred compensation - - 165,80: - - - - 165,80:
Issuance of common stock for services:
at $0.25 per share, January 500,00( 50C 24,50( - - - - 25,00(
at $0.25 per share, April 250,00( 25C 62,25( - - - - 62,50(
Shares cancelled in September, which w
issued in January (500,001) (500) (24,500 - = = = (25,000
Shares issued at $0.25 per share for
accounts payable in April 100,00( 10C 24,90( - - - - 25,00(
Fractional share adjustment 20 - - - - - - -
Unrealized gain on investment - - - - - - (95,27%) (95,27%)
Net loss - - - (616,82() - - - (616,82()
Balance as of December 31, 2003 (Unaudi  9,558,13. 9,55¢ 5,645,56 (5,424,30) - - 31,12¢ 261,94¢
Issuance of common stock for compense 250,00( 25( (250) =
Forfeiture of common stock for
compensation (526,83)) (527 527 -
Sale of common stock 3,000,001 3,00( 1,482,001 - - - - 1,485,001
Issuance of common stock for services 90,00( 9C (90 -
Issuance of common stock for payable 240,00( 24C 113,26( 113,50(
Amortization of unearned compensation 316,75t 316,75t
Net loss (688,039 - - (688,039
Unrealized gain on investment - - - - - - (31,129 (31,12
Balance as of December 31, 2004 (Unaudi 12,611,30 12,61: 7,557,77 (6,112,34) - - - 1,458,03
Issuance of common stock for
compensation:
at $0.50 per share, January 850,00( 85C (850 = = = = =
at $1.00 per share, June 170,00( 17¢ (170 - - - - -
at $1.50 per share, December 45,00( 45 (45) - - - - -
Sale of common stock 4,000,00 4,00( 2,996,00! - - - - 3,000,00¢
Less: Selling expense for sale of commo
stock - (39,000 (39,000)
Exercise of warrants 220,00( 22C 54,78( 55,00(
Amortization of unearned compensation 292,99: 292,99:
Net loss (2,309,18) (2,309,18)
Foreign currency translation adjustment - - - - - - (38,51)) (38,51
Balance as of December 31, 2005 (Unaudi 17,896,30 17,89¢ 10,861,47 (8,421,53) - - (38,51)) 2,419,33:
Issuance of common stock for
compensation:
at $1.50 per share, February 274,00( 274 35,72¢ - - - - 36,00(
at $1.70 per share, June 925,00( 92t (925) - - - - -
at $1.25 per share, September 200,00( 20C (200) - - - - -
Forfeiture of common stock for
compensation (40,000 (40) 40 =
Issuance of common stock for payable:
at $1.15 per share, January 100,00( 10C 114,90( 115,00(
Sale of common stock 10,400,00 10,40C 12,989,58 - - - - 12,999,98
Less: Selling expense for sale of commo
stock - (764,95) (764,95)
Issuance of options for compensation 225,89: 225,89:
Exercise of warrants 3,000,00 3,00( 2,247,001 2,250,001
Accrual of stock bonuses issued in 2007 (27,950 (27,950
Amortization of unearned compensation 1,017,74. 1,017,74.
Net loss (5,296,37)) (5,296,371
Other comprehensive income - - - - - - 842,73: 842,73
Balance as of December 31, 2006 32,755,30 32,758  26,698,33  (13,717,90) - - 804,22( 13,817,41
Issuance of common stock for
compensation:
at $0.88 per share, January 1 83,33¢ 83 (83 - - - - -
at $0.86 per share, January 11 50,00( 5C (50) - - - = =

at $0.83 per share, June 286,66t 287 (287) - - - - -



Forfeiture of common stock for
compensation
Issuance of common stock for payable:
at $2.00 per share, September (2006)
at $0.86 per share, January
at $0.85 per share, April
Issuance of options for compensation
Exercise of warrants
Accrual of stock bonuses issued in 2008
Accrual of interest on note
Amortization of unearned compensation
Net loss
Other comprehensive income

Balance as of December 31, 2007

Issuance of common stock for
compensation:
at $0.17 per share, November 11
at $0.10 per share, December 10
Issuance of common stock for payable:
at $0.55 per share, February 11
at $0.17 per share, November 11
Issuance of options for compensation
Conversion of note receivable into share
Issuance of common stock for acquistior
at $0.45 per share, April 8
Accrual of interest on note
Sale of common stock
Amortization of unearned compensation
Net loss
Other comprehensive income

Balance as of December 31, 2008

Issuance of common stock for
compensation:

at $0.20 per share, May 18

at $0.10 per share, July 1

at $0.14 per share, August 1
Issuance of options for compensation
Amortization of unearned compensation
Net loss
Other comprehensive income (loss)

Balance as of December 31, 2009

Issuance of common stock for
compensation:

at $0.10 per share, August 19
Conversion of note payable into shares
Exercise of warrants
Issuance of options for compensation
Amortization of unearned compensation
Net loss
Other comprehensive income (loss)

Balance as of December 31, 2010

Issuance of common stock for
compensation:

at $0.19 per share, May 3

at $0.15 per share, June 23

at $0.20 per share, Nov 7

at $0.19 per share, Nov 29
Conversion of wages payable into share:
Exercise of warrants
Cancellation of shares from investment
Issuance of options for compensation
Amortization of unearned compensation
Net loss

(172,50() (179 (3,786) (3,959
500,00( 50C 999,50( 1,000,001
63,25( 63 54,33; 54,39¢
150,001 15C 127,35 127,50(
481,44¢ 481,44

150,001 15C 16,35( 16,50(
(14,85() (14,85()
(26,619 (26,619

986,50( 986,50(
(9,716,88) (9,716,88)

- - - - 1,307,481 1,307,48
33,866,05 33,86 29,318,14  (23,434,78) 2,111,700 8,028,93;
200,00( 20C 33,80( - - 34,00(
20,00( 20 (20) - - -
153,75 154 84,40¢ 84,56:
100,00 10C 16,90 17,00(
279,92! 279,92!

(152,779 (159) (48,75() (48,909
250,00( 25( 112,25 112,50(
(2,55¢) (2,55¢)

4,750,001 4,75( 470,25( - - 475,000
717,99 717,99

(8,953,11) (8,953,11)

- - - - 1,19549 1,195,449
39,187,02 39,187 30,982,35  (32,387,89) 3,307,19  1,940,83:
333,33 332 (339) - - -
1,387,501 1,38¢ (1,389) - - -
245,00( 24t (245) - - -
130,27 130,27:

288,91¢ 288,91¢

(4,320,56) (4,320,56)

- - - - (499,10) (499,10)
41,152,85 41,15 31,399,57  (36,708,45) 2,808,08.  (2,459,64)
120,00 12¢ 9,88( - - 10,00(
35,417,61 3541t  57277,22 5,312,64:
2,500,001 2,50( 247,50 250,00(
69,45: 69,45:

61,26( 61,26(

(3,842,60) (3,842,60)

- - - (237,43) (237,43)
79,190,47 79,19: 37,064,89  (40,551,05) 2,570,65: (836,32()
250,00( 25( 47,25( - - 47 50(
1,350,001 1,35( 201,15( - - 202,501
500,00( 50C 99,50( - - 100,00
40,00( 4ac 7,56( - - 7,60(
2,000,001 2,00( 298,00( 300,00(
600,00( 60C 59,40( 60,00(
(125,00() (125) (24,879 (25,000
9,45; 9,45;

56,75: 56,75:

(6,536,76) (6,536,76)



Other comprehensive income (loss)
Balance as of December 31, 2011

Issuance of common stock for
compensation:

at $0.20 per share, April 20

at $0.19 per share, July 1

at $0.15 per share, August 1
Issuance of options for compensation
Amortization of unearned compensati
Minority interest sale
Net loss
Other comprehensive income (loss)

Balance as of December 31, 2012

- - - - (529,779 (529,779
83,805,47 83,80t 37,819,08 (47,087,82) - 2,040,87.  (7,144,06)
300,00( 30C 59,70( - - - 60,00(
2,137,50 2,13¢ (2,139 - - - -
300,00( 30C (300) - - - -
5,50¢ 5,50¢

on 109,40 109,40
6,453,67. (400,969 (1,052,70)  5,000,00!

(2,945,39) (526,66() (3,472,05)

- - - 64,23 460,10! 524,33°
86,542,97 $ 86,54. $44,444,93 $(50,033,21) $ $(863,40) $  1,448,27. $ (4,916,86)

The accompanying notes are an integral part obtheslited financial statements.
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OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss

(An Exploration Stage Enterprise)

GLOBAL GOLD CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cumulative amour

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities:

Amortization of unearned compensation

Stock option expense
Amortization expense
Depreciation expense
Stock based compensation
Write-off of investment

Loss on disposal of discontinued operations
Loss/(Gain) from investment in joint ventures
Gain on extinguishment of debt

Gain on sale of investments

Bad debt expense

Other non-cash expenses
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Other current and non current assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Accrued interest
Wages payable

NET CASH FLOWS USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of mining interest
Proceeds from sale of Tamaya Common Stock

Proceeds from sale of investment in common stockteflite Gold
Proceeds from the sale of minority interest inf@nture pending

Investment in joint ventures
Investment in mining licenses

NET CASH PROVIDED BY/(USED) IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Net proceeds from private placement offering

Repurchase of common stock
Advance from customer

Proceeds from secured line of credit
Repayment of secured line of credit
Proceeds from convertible note payable

Note payable to Directors
Warrants exercised

NET CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY/(USED) IN FINANCING ACMITIES

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE ON CASH

NET INCREASE IN CASF

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - beginning of period

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - end of period

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

from
Year Ended January 1, 1995
December 31, through
December 31,
2012 2011 2012
(Unaudited)

$ (3,472,05) $ (6,536,76) $ (47,652,23)
109,40¢ 56,75: 4,014,12!
5,50¢ 9,45: 1,201,95:
298,31t 339,89! 3,205,48!
272,90: 399,56« 3,436,17!
60,00( 357,60( 484,21

- - 176,60!

- - 237,80¢
- 150,00( (2,323,70)
- - (289,761)
- 47,98¢ (2,731,79)

- - 151,25(

- - 155,56°
(131,169 446,26° (1,910,48)
1,192,56' 334,40¢ 4,547 24!
34,96¢ 46,337 1,155,25I
220,99¢ (282,49)) 962,93(
(1,408,55)) (4,630,99) (35,179,36)
(220,49) (235,309) (4,994,36)
- 750,00( 3,891,15!

- - 4,957,73

- - 246,76°

- 5,000,001 5,000,001
- - (260,00()
- - (5,756,10)
(220,49 5,514,69; 3,085,19!
- - 18,155,10
- - (25,000

- (81,707) 87,02(

- - 3,189,37.
(618,567) (561,05) (1,820,95)
1,618,75! - 1,618,75!
94,50( (27,627 4,470,20:

- 60,00( 2,632,25I
1,094,69; (610,38() 28,306,75
508,61¢ (258,26%) 3,779,45
(25,747) 15,04¢ (7,967
29,13: 14,08:¢ 11,35

$ 3,391 $ 29,13 $ 3,391




Income taxes paid
Interest paid

Noncash Transaction

Stock issued for deferred compensation
Stock forfeited for deferred compensation
Stock issued for mine acquisition

Stock issued for notes payable

Stock issued for wages payable

Stock cancelled for receivable settlement
Mine acquisition costs in accounts payables

The accompanying notes are an integral part obtheslited financial statements.
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2,68

218,73:

$

288,36:

850,23(

511,12¢

4,382,34.

742,50(

1,227,501

5,337,64:

300,00(

300,00(

77,91,
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GLOBAL GOLD CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
(An Exploration Stage Company)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011
1. ORGANIZATION AND BUSINESS

Global Gold is currently in the exploration statiés engaged in exploration for, as well as depeient and mining of, gold, silver, and other mitena Armenia,
Canada and Chile. Until March 31, 2011, the Compamgadquarters were located in Greenwich, Conmeeticd as of April 1, 2011 the Company’s headqusides
in Rye, NY. Its subsidiaries and staff maintaificefs in Yerevan, Armenia, and Santiago, Chile. Teenpany was incorporated as Triad Energy Corpmrati the
State of Delaware on February 21, 1980 and condwtteer business prior to January 1, 1995. DurB@b1the Company changed its name from Triad Energy
Corporation to Global Gold Corporation to pursueaia gold and copper mining rights in the formewri®t Republics of Armenia and Georgia. The Compaasy not
established proven and probable reserves in acooedsith SEC Industry Guide 7 at any of its prostt The Company's stock is publicly traded. Then@any
employs approximately 100 people globally on a yeand basis and an additional 200 people on asahbasis.

Although the Company competes with multi-nationabing companies which have substantially greatsoweces and numbers of employees, the Companygs lon
term presence and the expertise and knowledgs péisonnel in Armenia and in Chile allow it to qumate with companies with greater resources.

In Armenia, the Company’s focus is on the explomtidevelopment and production of gold at the Tougkhuk property in the North Central Armenian Beld éhe
Marjan and an expanded Marjan North property. Intemaig the Company is exploring and developing otfites in Armenia, including the Getik properfhe
Company also holds royalty and participation rightether locations in the country through affiéatand subsidiaries.

In Chile, the Company is engaged in identifyingdgexploration and production opportunities anddasoduction bonus interest in the Pureo property.

In Canada, the Company had engaged in uranium mtjgo activities in the provinces of Newfoundlaamtl Labrador, but has phased out this activitpimetg a
royalty interest in the Cochrane Pond property @anfbundland.

The Company also assesses exploration and prodwagijmortunities in other countries.

The subsidiaries of the Company are as follows:

On January 24, 2003, the Company formed Globall@f® and Global Plata LLC, as wholly owned subsiigy in the State of Delaware. These companies were
formed to be equal joint owners of a Chilean limiili@ability company, Minera Global Chile LimitadaMinera Global"), formed as of May 6, 2003, for thepmse of
conducting operations in Chile. On December 2,12@e Company sold these subsidiaries to AmaranindiLtd. (“Amarant”).

On August 18, 2003, the Company formed Global Galdenia LLC ("GGA"), as a wholly owned subsidiawhich in turn formed Global Gold Mining, LLC

("GGM"), as a wholly owned subsidiary, both in thtat8 of Delaware. GGM was qualified to do businesa branch operation in Armenia and owns assetaltyo
and participation interests, as well as sharepefaiing companies in Armenia.
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On December 21, 2003, GGM acquired 100% of the Aramelimited liability company SHA, LLC (renamed G®al Gold Hankavan, LLC ("GGH") as of July 21,
2006), which held the license to the Hankavan angavigroperties in Armenia. On December 18, 2®08 Company entered into an agreement with Caldera
Resources Inc. (“Caldera”) outlining the terms @diat venture on the Company’s Marjan property im&nia (“Marjan JV”). On March 12, 2010, GGH tramséel
the rights, title and interest for the Marjan prapéo Marjan Mining Company, a limited liability corapy incorporated under the laws of the Republiérofienia
(“Marjan RA”) which is a wholly owned subsidiary @GM. On October 7, 2010, the Company terminatedMhrjan JV. The Armenian Court of Cassation in a
final, non-appealable decision, issued and effedfigbruary 8, 2012, ruled that the registrationassimption of control by Caldera through unildtenarter changes
of the Marjan Mine and Marjan Mining Company, LLC wélegal and that 100% ownership rests fully with BGOn March 29, 2012, Justice Herman Cahn, who
was appointed by United States District Court Judglerstein as the sole arbitrator in an Amerialitration Association arbitration between the Gany and
Caldera, ruled in the Company’s favor on the issue JV's termination ordering that the Marjangedy be 100% owned by the Company effective A28il

2012. See Legal Proceedings for more informatiothe Marjan JV.

On August 1, 2005, GGM acquired 51% of the Armetiraited liability company Mego-Gold, LLC ("Mego"), vith is the licensee for the Toukhmanuk mining
property and seven surrounding exploration sit@s.August 2, 2006, GGM acquired the remaining 49%4rast of Mego-Gold, LLC, leaving GGM as the owner of
100% of Mego-Gold, LLC. On September 26, 2012 Gbepany transferred 100% of the shares of Mego-Gdl@,to GGCR Mining, LLC. See Agreements for
more information on Mego-Gold, LLC.

On January 31, 2006, GGM closed a transaction toieec§0% of the Armenian company, Athelea Investisie@JSC (renamed "Getik Mining Company, LLC")
its approximately 27 square kilometer Getik goldhium exploration license area in the northeasth@eginik province of Armenia. As of May 30, 2007GKa
acquired the remaining 20% interest in Getik Min@gmpany, LLC, leaving GGM as the owner of 100% ofilG®lining Company, LLC. On September 26, 2(
the Company transferred 100% of the shares of Gditling Company, LLC to GGCR Mining, LLC. On Septeent?26, 2012, the Company transferred 100% c
shares of Getik Mining Company, LLC to GGCR Minind,Q joint venture company. See Agreements for nidi@mation on Getik Mining Company, LLC.

On January 5, 2007, the Company formed Global Go&hium, LLC ("Global Gold Uranium"), as a whollyaed subsidiary, in the State of Delaware, to dpedtee
Company's uranium exploration activities in Canada.

On August 9, 2007 and August 19, 2007, the Compilungugh Minera Global, entered agreements to fojoind venture and on October 29, 2007, the Company
closed its joint venture agreement with membeth®fQuijano family (“Quijano”) by which Minera Globassumed a 51% interest in the placer and hafdgolc
Madre de Dios and Pureo properties in south ce@tiédé, near Valdivia. The name of the joint ventaoenpany was Compania Minera Global Gold Valdivia.sl.
(“Global Gold Valdivia” or “GGV"). On August 14,aD9, the Company amended the above agreement whetebal Gold Valdivia became wholly owned by the
Company and retained only the Pureo Claims Blopbki@ximately 8,200 hectares), transferring the M&keDios claims block to the sole ownership to meralof
the Quijano family. On October 27, 2010, the Conypantered into an agreement with Conventus LBV bcorporation (“Conventus”) for the sale of 100#Aterest
in GGV which was amended (with Conventus and Amguamd was closed on December 2, 2011. See Agrgsrfte more information on GGV.

On September 23, 2011, Global Gold Consolidated&ess Limited (“GGCRL") was incorporated in Jerseya 51% subsidiary of the Company pursuant to the
April 27, 2011 Joint Venture Agreement with Condated Resources. See Agreements Section for mimreniation on Consolidated Resources agreements.

On November 8, 2011, GGCR Mining, LLC (“GGCR Miningigs formed in Delaware as a 100%, wholly ownebssliary of GGCRL

The accompanying consolidated financial statemamsent the available exploration stage activitiemation of the Company from January 1, 1998, gkriod
commencing the Company's operations as Global Gotgoration and Subsidiaries, through DecembeB12.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a. Basis for Presentation - The consolidated firzdustatements at December 31, 2012 and 2011,antid years then ended were prepared assuminththat
Company would continue as a going concern. Sisc@déeption, the Company, an exploration stagerprise, has generated revenues of $632,854 (dtharihterest
income, the proceeds from the sale of mining ististeand the sale of common stock of marketablergies received as consideration, therewith) whitairring
losses in excess of $48,000,000. Management puesiditional investors and lending institutions iested in financing the Company's projects. Howetbhere is no
assurance that the Company will obtain the finagéiat it requires or will achieve profitable opéas. The Company expected to incur additionaddsgor the near
term until such time as it would derive substamégienues from the Armenian mining interests aeglioy it or other future projects. These matteisechsubstantial
doubt about the Company's ability to continue geiag concern. The accompanying consolidated filshstatements were prepared on a going conceis, lvelsich
contemplated the realization of assets and satiisfacf liabilities in the normal course of busise$he accompanying consolidated financial statésretrDecember
31, 2012 and 2011 and for the years then endeddliohclude any adjustments that might be necesdayld the Company be unable to continue as agmincern.

Certain reclassifications have been made to pear ymounts to conform to the current year presenta

b. Use of Estimates - The preparation of finansiatements in conformity with accounting principteserally accepted in the United States of Ameecaires
management to make estimates and assumptiondféncttthe reported amounts of assets and liatslitiethe date of the financial statements andgperted amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting ghefictual results could differ from those estimates

c. Cash and Cash Equivalents - Cash and cash &ntvaonsist of all cash balances and highly igovestments with a remaining maturity of threenths or less
when purchased and are carried at fair value.

d. Fair Value of Financial Instruments - The Compadopted FASB ASC 82Bair Value Measurements and Disclosures, for assetdiabilities measured at f
value on a recurring basis. ASC 820 establishesrarmn definition for fair value to be applied tasting generally accepted accounting principles tbguire the us
of fair value measurements establishes a framefonneasuring fair value and expands disclosureiadach fair value measurements. The adoption & 830 dic
not have an impact on the Company’s financial pmsior operating results, but did expand certastldsures.

ASC 820 defines fair value as the price that wdiddeceived to sell an asset or paid to transliabdity in an orderly transaction between margatticipants at the
measurement date. Additionally, ASC 820 requiresute of valuation techniques that maximize theofisbservable inputs and minimize the use of uankzble
inputs. These inputs are prioritized below:

Level 1: Observable inputs such as quoted mankets in active markets for identical assetsatnilities
Level 2: Observable market-based inputs or uefable inputs that are corroborated by market data
Level 3: Unobservable inputs for which theréttee or no market data, which require the us¢hefreporting entity’s own assumptions.

The Company did not have any Level 2 or Level &tssar liabilities as of December 31, 2012 and Dessr 31, 2011.
The Company discloses the estimated fair valuealfdinancial instruments for which it is practida to estimate fair value. As of December 31, 281@ December

31, 2011, the fair value short-term financial instents including cash, receivables, and accouyhp@and accrued expenses, approximates book datito their
short-term duration.
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Cash and cash equivalents include money marketiseswand commercial paper that are considerdst thighly liquid and easily tradable. These seasiare valued
using inputs observable in active markets for iahsecurities and are therefore classified asL&wvithin the fair value hierarchy.

In addition, the Financial Accounting Standards lBI8FASB”) issued, “The Fair Value Option for Fimaial Assets and Financial Liabilities,” effectifer January 1,
2008. This guidance expands opportunities to us@ditue measurements in financial reporting anuinits entities to choose to measure many finaresifuments
and certain other items at fair value. The Compiidynot elect the fair value option for any ofdgsalifying financial instruments.

e. Inventories - Inventories consists of the follogvat December 31, 2012 and 2011:

2012 2011
Ore $ 452,460 $ 537,94t
Concentrate 11,34 7,714
Materials, supplies and other 95,72( 212,77!
Total Inventories $ 559,52! $ 758,43}

Ore inventory consists of unprocessed ore at thikAimanuk mining site in Armenia. The concentrate amprocessed ore are stated at the lower of costiket.

f. Deposits on Contracts and Equipmeiihe Company made several deposits for purchasesajority of which is for the potential acquisitiof new properties, ai
the remainder for the purchase of mining equipment.

g. Tax Refunds Receivable - The Company is subpetlue Added Tax ("VAT tax") on all expendituresArmenia at the rate of 20%. The Company is ktito a
credit against this tax towards any sales on witicbllects VAT tax. The Company is carrying a takund receivable based on the value of its in-gsednventory.

h. Net Loss Per ShareBasic net loss per share is based on the weighie@ge number of common and common equivalent stanstanding. Potential comn
shares includable in the computation of fully ddditper share results are not presented in the lideisa financial statements as their effect wduddantidilutive.
The total number of warrants and options that aezatsable at December 31, 2012 and 2011 was 4,604nd 4,569,167, respectively.

i. Stock Based Compensation - The Company peribgissues shares of common stock for servicesergior for financing costs. Such shares are vdtasdd on
the market price on the transaction date. The Gmyperiodically issues stock options and warrememployees and non-employees in non-capitaingisi
transactions for services and for financing costs.

The Company accounts for the grant of stock andamés awards in accordance with ASC Topic 718, Garegtion — Stock Compensation (ASC 718). ASC 718
requires companies to recognize in the statememp@fations the grant-date fair value of warrantb stock options and other equity based compemsatio

The BlackScholes option valuation model was developed feringstimating the fair value of traded optioret fave no vesting restrictions and are fully tferable
In addition, option valuation models require thpuhof highly subjective assumptions including éxpected stock price volatility.
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For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 201Msseand loss per share include the actual deduftir stock-based compensation expense. Thestotek-based
compensation expense for the year ended Decemp2032 and 2011 was $174,915 and $357,600, regpbctThe expense for stock-based compensatiomana
cash expense item.

j. Comprehensive Incon- The Company has adopted ASC Topic 220, “Comprgfieincome.” Comprehensive income is comprisededfincome (loss) and all
changes to stockholders' equity (deficit), exchpse related to investments by stockholders, clsimgeaid-in capital and distribution to owners.

The following table summarizes the computationsmeding net loss to comprehensive loss for theyeaded December 31, 2012 and 2011.

2012 2011
Net loss applicable to Global GcCorporation Common Shareholders $ (2,945,39) $ (6,536,76))
Unrealized gain arising during year $ 460,100 $ (529,779
Comprehensive loss $ (2,485,28) $ (7,066,54)

k. Income Taxes - Income taxes are accounteih faccordance with the provisions of FASB ASC 74€counting for Income Taxes. Deferred tax assets an
liabilities are recognized for the future tax camsences attributable to differences between thanfiial statement carrying amounts of existing assed liabilities an
their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assetfahilities are measured using enacted tax ratpsaed to apply to taxable income in the yeasshith those
temporary differences are expected to be recowarsdttled. The effect on deferred tax assetsiabdifies of a change in tax rates is recognizethcome in the
period that includes the enactment date. Valuatitmwances are established, when necessary, toeathierred tax assets to the amounts expectezreabzed.

I. Acquisition, Exploration and Development Cosidineral property acquisition costs are capitalizédditionally, mine development costs incurred eitto develop
new ore deposits and constructing new facilitiescapitalized until operations commence. All sogpitalized costs are amortized using a straigietfiasis on a
range from 1-10 years, based on the minimum oridjcense term at acquisition, but do not exceedubeful life of the capitalized costs. Upon conuiz
development of an ore body, the applicable capgdlicosts would then be amortized using the utfifgaduction method. Exploration costs, costs inedi to
maintain current production or to maintain assets gtandby basis are charged to operations. ©batsmndoned projects are charged to operations up
abandonment. The Company evaluates, at leasieglyathe carrying value of capitalized mining coahd related property, plant and equipment cibstay, to
determine if these costs are in excess of theirgadizable value and if a permanent impairmentia¢e be recorded. The periodic evaluation ofyiagrvalue of
capitalized costs and any related property, pladteqjuipment costs are based upon expected caghditd/or estimated salvage value in accordan¢teABC Topic
360, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposaloig-Lived Assets."

m. Foreign Currency Translation - The Compamgporting currency is the U.S. Dollar. All tracsans initiated in foreign currencies are trarestinto U.S. dollars i
accordance with ASC Topic 830 “Foreign Currency Eiatt as follows.

i) monetary assets and liabilities at the ratexahange in effect at the balance sheet date;
if) non-monetary assets at historical rates; and
iii) revenue and expense items at the averageofarchange prevailing during the period.

Gains and losses from foreign currency transactioasncluded in the statement of operations.
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For foreign operations with the local currencylas functional currency, assets and liabilitiesteaeslated from the local currencies into U.S. atsllat the exchange
rate prevailing at the balance sheet date. Reveanteexpenses are translated at the average excletadgor the period to approximate translatiothatexchange ra
prevailing at the dates those elements are recedrizthe financial statements. Translation adjestisiresulting from the process of translatingldleal currency
financial statements into U.S. dollars are inclugledetermining comprehensive loss. As of Decendie2012 and 2011, the exchange rate for the AmneDram
(AMD) was 404 AMD and 386 AMD for $1.00 U.S, respeetix

The functional currency of the Company's Armeniabsidiaries is the local currency. The financiatetents of the subsidiary are translated to Lblarg using
period-end rates of exchange for assets and tiabiliand the average rate of exchange for thegéor revenues, costs, and expenses. Net gainesses resulting
from foreign exchange transactions are includatiénconsolidated statements of operations.

n. Principles of ConsolidationQur consolidated financial statements have beepaped in accordance with accounting principlesegly accepted in the Unit
States of America, and include the accounts ofGbmpany and more-than-50%-owned subsidiaries thaintrols. Inteicompany balances and transactions
been eliminated in consolidation.

0. Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization - Caliited costs are depreciated or depleted usingtthgyhtline method over the shorter of estimated prodediives
of such facilities or the useful life of the indivial assets. Productive lives range from 1 to 28rsyebut do not exceed the useful life of the iitlial asse
Determination of expected useful lives for amott@a calculations are made on a property-by-properiasset-by-asset basis at least annually.

p. Impairment of Long-Lived Assets - Managementees and evaluates the net carrying value of ailitias, including idle facilities, for impairmerat least
annually, or upon the occurrence of other eventhanges in circumstances that indicate that tlaéecarrying amounts may not be recoverable. $timate the net
realizable value of each property based on thenastd undiscounted future cash flows that will beegated from operations at each property, themastd salvage
value of the surface plant and equipment and theexassociated with property interests. All asaetn operating segment are evaluated togethpufposes of
estimating future cash flows.

g. Licenses - Licenses are capitalized at costamémortized on a straight-line basis on a rargya 1 to 10 years, but do not exceed the usetublifthe individual
license. At December 31, 2012 and 2011, amortizakpense totaled $298,316 and $339,895, resphctidmortization expense over the next five yesitsbe:

Year Amount

2013 $ 298,31t

2014 $ 298,31t

2015 $ 174,01°

2016 $ -

2017 $ -
thereafter $ -

r. Reclamation and Remediation Costs (Asset Re@inti@bligations) - Costs of future expenditureseiovironmental remediation are not discounted éir fhresent
value unless subject to a contractually obligabeedf payment schedule. Such costs are based orgeraeat's current estimate of amounts to be incuwviezh the
remediation work is performed, within current laavel regulations. The Company has paid towardsvit@mmental costs and has no amounts owed as afrbleer
31, 2012. The Company did not mine any ore in 2@ approximately $21,000 in 2011.

It is possible that, due to uncertainties assodietiéh defining the nature and extent of environtakoontamination and the application of laws agglitations by
regulatory authorities and changes in reclamatiaeimediation technology, the ultimate cost of aehtion and remediation could change in the future.
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s. Noncontrolling Interests - Noncontrolling intst®in our subsidiaries are recorded in accordaiittethe provisions of ASC 810, “Consolidation” aark reported as
a component of equity, separate from the parenpemyis equity. Purchase or sale of equity interésit do not result in a change of control ar@acted for as
equity transactions. Results of operations attable to the noncontrolling interests are inclugledur consolidated results of operations and, upss of control, the
interest sold, as well as interest retained, if, avilf be reported at fair value with any gain os$ recognized in earnings.

t. Revenue Recognition - Sales are recognizedarehues are recorded when title transfers andghtsrand obligations of ownership pass to thearust. The
majority of the company's metal concentrates aie wuder pricing arrangements where final pricesdatermined by quoted market prices in a peribdeguent to
the date of sale. In these circumstances, revamea®corded at the times of sale based on forprcds for the expected date of the final settlemém 2012 and
2011, the Company recognized $0 and $81,702, rieplyc of sales from its Toukhmanuk property inndenia. The Company also possesses Net SmeltemRetu
(“NSR”) royalty from non-affiliated companies. Alse nonaffiliated companies recognize revenue, as pergkve Company is entitled to its NSR royalty petage
and royalty income is recognized and recorded20it2 and 2011, the Company did not recognize aconie from royalties.

u. New Accounting Standards:

In August 2012, the FASB issued Accounting Stansldsddate (“ASU”) 2012-03, Technical Amendments and Corrections to SEC Sextidmendments to SE
Paragraphs Pursuant to SEC Staff Accounting Baoli&AB) No. 114, Technical Amendments PursuantiE@ Release No. 38250, and Corrections Related to F£
Accounting Standards Update 2010-22 (SEC Update)Adcounting Standards Update No. 2@2-This update amends various SEC paragraphs gnirsa th
issuance of SAB No. 114. The adoption of ASU 2032i€ not expected to have a material impact onGbmpanys consolidated financial position, results
operations or cash flows.

In October 2012, the FASB issued ASU 2012-04, “Pécdl Corrections and Improvements” in Accountirigriflards Update No. 2012-04 ("ASU 2012-04"). The
amendments in this update cover a wide range af4ap the Accounting Standards Codification. Thaseendments include technical corrections and ingreents t
the Accounting Standards Codification and confogramendments related to fair value measuremenésaiftendments in this update will be effective fecdl
periods beginning after December 15, 2012. The timopf ASU 2012-04 is not expected to have a nigtenpact on the Company’s consolidated finanpi@sition,
results of operations or cash flows.

Management does not believe that any other recessiyed, but not yet effective, accounting standeoddd have a material effect on the accompanyamsaclidated
financial statements. As new accounting pronouncgsrare issued, the Company will adopt those tleagpplicable under the circumstances.

A variety of proposed or otherwise potential acemgnstandards are currently under study by stahsetting organizations and various regulatory aigsn Due to th

tentative and preliminary nature of those propagaddards, management has not determined whetpkmrantation of such proposed standards would heriakto
our consolidated financial statements.
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The following table illustrates the capitalized tless accumulated depreciation arriving at thecaatying value on our books at December 31, 20i22911.

2012 2011
Property, plant and equipment $ 4,020,120 $ 3,987,18.
Less accumulated depreciation (2,971,47) (2,812,30)
$ 1,048,65 $ 1,174,88I

The Company had depreciation expense for the yalrceDecember 31, 2012 and 2011 of $272,902 an@l H39, respectively.
4. RECEIVABLE FROM SALE

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company wasl @rincipal amounts (excluding penalties, interasd additional payments) of $2,375,713 and S0,
respectively, from Amarant from the sale of 100%h&f Company'’s interest in the GGV, which held Fugeo mining assets in Chile and 100% interessiwholly
owned subsidiaries Global Oro LLC and Global Pldt&€ which are each 50% owners of Minera Global Chilaitada, all as part of the amended agreemesedo
on December 2, 2011. The Company did not recéige1,000,000 due on December 15, 2011. From Ap#i012 through September 30, 2012, the Compasy wa
promised additional compensation from Amarant asgiincipal, Mr. Johan Ulander, of additional comgetion in exchange for concessions given to Antaad its
principal, Mr. Johan Ulander, as more fully desalibelow. The Company wrote down principal amowfit$1,817,276 and $3,950,000 as of December 312 26ad
2011, respectively, as impairment as Amarant hatoygay. Amarant has reportedly assigned its@steto Alluvia Mining Limited, a public limited Iility company
incorporated under the laws of Jersey (“Alluviai), assignment which the Company conditionally cotegbas of June 15, 2012, but as of December 3P, 20e
conditions have not been met by any of Amarant arWander.

On October 27, 2010, the Company entered into ageagent with Conventus Ltd. a BVI corporation (“@entus”)for the sale of 100% interest in GGV which he
the Pureo mining assets in Chile. The Comparlyprdvide Conventus with consulting services aachhical assistance for development, productioploeation
and expansion of the GGV mining properties in fertbonsideration of the payment terms below.

Key terms include that Conventus shall pay $5.05ionilUSD over four years and two months payabléo#dsws: $250,000 on or before October 31, 20125G00(
on or before November 30, 2010; $500,000 at thsirdpon or before March 31, 2011; $1,000,000 onedorie December 31, 2011; $1,000,000 on or beformdbe
31, 2012; $1,000,000 on or before December 31, ;281@ $1,000,000 on or before December 31, 2014 $6,000,000 in total has been paid. If the sides nc
close, the Company is responsible for repaymenh@®f$500,000 in payments made prior to closing dh@seterms contingent upon the reason for the mipt no
occur. Payments to the Company will be securedofASctober 27, 2010, Conventus Ltd shall be sotegponsible, at its own expense for all expensésothe
matters required by contract or law to comply vaitimditions related to the Pureo property, and imiqadar with the July 24, 2009 contractual coratitito commenc
production on a commercial basis on the properiygoansferred to its sole control pursuant ts igreement on or before August 15, 2011 (subjeatydime take
for permitting purposes).

As additional consideration, if within seven ye@snventus or any of its successors produces 18@00ces of gold from the GGV property or propémtZhile
which the Company assists GGV or Conventus in aicgyithen Conventus shall or shall cause GGV totha Company a one-off and once only $2,500,00u&0
within 60 days of achieving such production. Thasiig of the transaction is subject to a definifigeeement and agreement being reached with MH&gue, with
respect to his royalty to the satisfaction of Cortue. The closing date is anticipated to be doedore March 31, 2011.
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On December 2, 2011, the Company closed an amegtedment with Conventus and Amarant, originallgesd into on October 27, 2010, for the sale o400
interest in the GGV which held the Pureo miningeés@ Chile. As part of the amendment and clggiigbal Gold also sold 100% interest in its whallyned
subsidiaries Global Oro and Global Plata, both loictv are Delaware Limited Liability Corporationsidaare each 50% owners of Minera Global in exchamge
additional compensation, payable on or before Déegrh5, 2011, of a 1% interest in Amarant. GGWvisied by Minera Global (51%) and Global Oro (49%).
Conventus has assigned its right and obligaticos fhis agreement to Amarant. Key terms includied Amarant shall pay the $4.0 million USD remainaf the
$5.0 million USD sale price obligation as follov#:,000,000 on or before December 15, 2011; $1,00000 or before December 15, 2012; $1,000,000 drefare
December 15, 2013; and $1,000,000 on or beforereee31, 2014 subject to the terms and conditiortke agreement. As additional consideration,tifiiw seven
years, Amarant or any of its successors produce®@8 ounces of gold from the Pureo property therarant shall pay the Company a one-off and oncg onl
$2,500,000 bonus within 60 days of achieving suddpction.

On April 13, 2012, the Company entered into an "Aded Joint Membership Interest Purchase Agreematit"Amarant to amend the parties' December 2, 2011
"Joint Membership Interest Purchase Agreement" limafe: the 1 million dollar payment from Amarantedthe Company on December 15, 2011 shall be pafpbiy
20, 2012; the three "Additional Payments" of 1 ioilldollars due on each of December 15, 2012, Dbeeitb, 2013, and December 15, 2014 shall all mkipa
lump sum of three million dollars prior to May 31012, as further described in Exhibit 10.49. OnilAp8, 2012, the Company also received a guaraoty f
Contender Kapital AB of Stockholm Sweden (“Contefidihat if Amarant fails to make the 1 million dat payment to the Company on or before Friday 1A%
2012, Contender will satisfy the 1 million dollaaypment, as further described in Exhibit 10.50. My 10, 2012, the Company and Amarant agreed teaCtdmpany
would forego legal actions in exchange for paynignémarant of the $800,000 balance due plus a $80g@ditional compensation payment by May 11, 20i2the
shortening of the grace period for late paymenhef$3 million dollar payment due from Amaranthe Company from 60 days to 10 days after May 3122@n
May 9, 2012, Contender acknowledged that it hadvedenotice of its obligation to pay on a valid garty of $1 million, and reaffirmed its guarant@ontender
defaulted on its guaranty. On May 18, 2012, Amaeactits principal, Mr. Ulander, agreed to pay Glabaadditional $50,000 payment (in addition to peviously
agreed $50,000 additional payment) in exchangéofegoing legal action. On June 15, 2012, the @amy conditionally agreed to a revised scheduliebt
repayment through August 30, 2012. The reviseddude provides the Company to receive; a) 20% bpraceeds of funds raised by Alluvia or Amaranthair
affiliates with a ceiling of $3,250,000 (which indes additional compensation) from any source;$950,000 payment, and c) an additional $200,0¢énpat to the
company. Also, the Company agreed to conditionafijve its right of first refusal with respect tansfer of GGV shares as part of this revision,these conditions
were not met and the Company has advised thatutpoped assignment to Alluvia is invalid. As gmevision of the amended sale closed on Decem011, the
Company was to receive certain shares or owneoghpnarant, amounting to 533,856 shares of Amariimése shares were received in July 2012. No \asdeen
recorded for these shares for the following reasanthere is currently no active trading marketatue these shares except the “Mangold List” in we b) we do
not have access to the financials of Amarant tara@hlculating a value, and c) these shares redgivesent a small minority ownership of Amaramhatant and
Alluvia remain in default of certain material preians of this sale agreement with Amarant.

On November 28, 2012, the Company and Amarant‘Rheties”) entered into an Amended Joint Membershiierest Purchase Agreement (the “Amendmenmthjich
again restructured the terms of the Joint Inteviesinbership Interest Purchase Agreement (the “MIPA&yed December 2, 2011, among the Company, Amarat
the other parties signatory thereto and amende#poih 13, 2012 (“Amended MIPA”).Pursuant to the MIPA and all of its amendments thei¢s agree that as
November 28, 2012 Amarant owes $3,275,000 to thapf@ay. Interest accrues at 12% per anr
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Key terms of the Amendment include: Amarant agtbasit shall pay the Company the following amountghe close of business Central European Tim&T'¢on
the indicated dates: (i) $200,000 on November 2922 (ii) $150,000 on or before November 30, 2(ii,$450,000 on or before December 6, 2012; §iv0,000 on
or before December 17, 2012 and; (v) $1,775,000rdrefore December 28, 2012. With respect to tlyengats in (iii), (iv) and (v) as the largest shaeler of
Alluvia Mining Ltd. (“Alluvia”), Amarant guaranteethat 50% of all funds raised by Alluvia shall bedoen the Company until such payments are satisfiddIl. As
further consideration and in satisfaction of angl ah alleged damages resulting from of Amararditufe to perform any obligation prior hereto, Amiar agrees to
transfer to the Company One Million (1,000,000) nadly shares of Alluvia held by Amarant, within 1&yd of a fully executed lock-up agreement wheréley t
Company will be restricted from transferring anysath shares for a period of 6 months from the dteansfer. The Parties agree to act in gooth taitprepare and
agree on the terms of the lock-up agreement witinsiness days from the date hereof. Lastly,aretlent that Amarant fails to make any paymentsurgter on a
timely basis, it hereby confesses to an arbitralrdvas to the unpaid amounts and the parties anghiie entry of such an arbitral award pursuatiiécAmerican
Arbitration Association arbitration clauses preslyuagreed; this confession of arbitral award isfieal by the undersigned who have personal knogéeaf the facts
and affirm that they are for just debts arisingrrthe sale of property, and this confession isegigny each of the undersigned under oath thaethestare true to the
best of their knowledge. The parties further agoeexecute and deliver any other documents which lmeanecessary to effectuate this confession atibazation of
arbitral award within 48 hours of a request bydtiger party or the arbitrator. The Amendment hadrgidentiality provision which is no longer optomal. The
Amendment also provided that subject to Amarargi$qgmance of the payment obligations, the Compaoyld waive rights to object to Amarant’s transééthe
property to Alluvia; however, Amarant did not méstpayment obligations. The Amendment furthenjated that the Company would extend the time forafant to
effect certain name changes until March 31, 2018 #wiharant's performance of the payment obligatidng,Amarant failed to meet its payment obligatioifie
Company has received the 1,000,000 shares of Alkhich are restricted for 6 months, until May 2812 No value has been recorded for these sharéisef
following reasons; a) there is currently no actiagling market to value these shares except thentjdla List” in Sweden, b) we do not have acceshedinancials of
Alluvia to aid in calculating a value, and c) thebares received present a small minority ownershidluvia. Amarant and Alluvia remain in defawl certain
material provisions of the agreements with the Camyp See attached Exhibit 10.60.

5. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the accountshpmpad accrued expenses consisted of the follawing

2012 2011
Drilling work payable $ 163,03¢ $ 227,57:
Accounts payable 3,599,56. 2,305,60!
Accrued expenses 152,49( 141,27¢
$ 3,915,09. $ 2,674,45

6. NONCONTROLLING INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURE PENDING

On September 26, 2012, GGM entered into two Sharsfer Agreements with GGCR Mining covering thedfanof all the shares of the Armenian companiesd
and the Getik Mining Company, LLC which respectivietld the Toukhmanuk and Getik mining propertiedimenia. The Share Transfer Agreements were
concluded in accordance with the previously dissdbagreements with Consolidated Resources Armexi&ansolidated Resources USA, LLC, a Delawaredidhi
liability company to fund development and form ejoenture on the Company’s Toukhmanuk and Getilperties in Armenia. GGCR Mining will (i) own, defop
and operate Toukhmanuk and Getik gold mining prigeerand (ii) be a company listed on an exchantyg &dmitted to trading. As of September 19, 20G&CRL
resolved reported outstanding issues which hadkbtbanplementation of the joint venture agreemeidt @xecution of the Share Transfer Agreementsob&@IGold’s
ownership in GGCRL is and shall be the greaterevalueither 51% or the pro forma value of $40.0iomil 30 days after the stock is publicly trade@he sole officers
of GGCRL as of September 19, 2012 are: Mr. Van Kidm Executive Chairman; Mr. Jan Dulman, Finan€iahtroller/CFO/Treasurer; and Mr. Ashot Boghossian
Armenia Managing Director, with Ogier Corporate\Begs (Jersey) Limited continuing as secretanhef€ompany

The Company received $5,000,000 from a joint ventas more fully described below, and, as of Deegr@th, 2011, had carried this $5,000,000 as ditiapiending
closing or termination of the joint venture. Théjosenture was closed in 2012 and the Companyngdr carried this liability as of December 31,201
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As of March 17, 2011, the Company entered intogaaeament (the “Formation Agreement”) with ConsdiidbResources USA, LLC, a Delaware company (“CRU")
for a joint venture on the Company’s Toukhmanuk &edik properties in Armenia (the “Properties”) pdah payment of the initial consideration as proditelow,
Global Gold and CRU will work together for twelveonths (the “12 Month Period”) to develop the Projpsrand cause the Properties to be contributechémegoint
venture company, whose identity and terms will heually agreed, (the “JVC”). Rasia, a Dubai-bagegdcipal advisory company, acted as sole adwsathe
transaction.

Key terms included CRU paying initial consideratafr$5,000,000 as a working capital commitment tolb@l Gold payable by: a $500,000 advance immelgiate
following the execution of the Formation Agreemghe “Advance”); $1,400,000 payable following tregisfactory completion of due diligence by CRU &inel
execution of definitive documents in 30 days frdra tlate of this Agreement; and $3,100,000 accordirrgseparate schedule in advance and payabl@with
business days of the end of every calendar montieeded.

On April 27, 2011, the Company entered into an egent with Consolidated Resources Armenia, an ekampresident Cayman Islands company (“CRA”); @ad
affiliate CRU, (hereinafter collectively referremlds “CR”), to fund development and form a joinbtege on the Properties (the “JV Agreement”). TheAgreement
was entered pursuant to the Formation Agreement.

CR completed its due diligence with satisfactiard as of the date of the JV Agreement completeduthding of the required $500,000 Advance. Upanttrms and
subject to the conditions of JV Agreement, CR weasamplete the funding of the remaining $4,500,00i8s $5,000,000 working capital commitment retbte
Toukhmanuk and Getik according to an agreed, otsttifunding schedule which included $1,400,00Gp#&y/following the execution of the Agreement amal t
remaining $3,100,000 payable over the next 12 nsowith payments occurring within 5 business daythefend of each calendar month as needed. Itiaddr.
Jeffrey Marvin of CR was elected a member of theb@l@&old Board of Directors and attended the Coryigaannual meeting on September 10, 2011. As of
December 31, 2011, the Company received the fullGER000 funding from CR, although not on the agmsshedule which interfered with the Toukhmanuk
production program. Mr. Marvin resigned from the l&bGold board on February 24, 2012 for persoredoas.

On February 6, 2012, the Company received congent Shareholders representing a majority over 65%sooutstanding Common Stock to transfer the 1
interests in Mego and Getik Mining Company, LLC i@G&CR Mining, LLC, a Delaware limited liability compg, owned by a joint venture company, Global (
Consolidated Resources Limited, a Jersey Islandigrilimited company (“GGCR”per the terms of the April 27, 2011 Joint Venturgrédement with Consolidat
Resources Armenia, an exempt non-resident Cayntandis company (“CRA“)The JVC was to issue new shares to the Company thatHollowing any rever:
merger or initial public offering of JVC's shar8P"), Global Gold shall directly or indirectly libthe greater of (a) 51% of the equity of JVC(lwr$40.0 million i
newly issued stock of JVC, calculated based orvttheme weighted average price ("VWAP") of such skawver the first 30 (thirty) days of trading felimg the IPC
assuming issuance of all shares issuable in the dR@® assuming issuance of all shares issuableanagement shares and conversion of the Notedisswder th
Instrument (as defined) and all other convertilgleusities and exercise of any warrants or otheuréiggs issued in connection with the IPO, such thiollowing any
reverse merger or IPO, the value of $40.0 millioméwly issued shares based on VWAP of JVC shargmeater than the Global Gold's 51% equity owngrishJVC
valued as above, new shares in JVC will be issodiet Global

Gold such that the aggregate value of Global Gad/sership in JVC is shares having a value of $40il0on based on VWAP, and the Company shall remia
control of the JVC following the public listing,l@s further described in exhibit 10.34 below. Bward of Directors of Global Gold Corporation pasly approve
the same transaction, discussed above, on Janu201 3.

Based on the approval of the Board of Director&lobal Gold received on January 5, 2012 and oriviegeconsent from its shareholders representirey av65%
majority of its outstanding Common Stock on Febyu&r2012, to transfer the 100% interest in Mego @etlk Mining Company, LLC into GGCR Mining, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (“GGCR Mining"pwned by a joint venture company, Global Gold Ctidated Resources Limited, a Jersey Island prilatited
company (“GGCR?”), per the terms of the April 27,12QJoint Venture Agreement with Consolidated ResesiArmenia, an exempt non-resident Cayman Islands
company (“CRA"), the Company entered into the foflog agreements on or about February 19, 2012 imdptevious agreements, all as further describete
exhibits attached, on the following dates:
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Shareholders Agreement for GGCR dated Februar@® (Exhibit 10.36)

Supplemental Letter dated February 19, 2012 (&ixh0.37)

Getik Assignment and Assumption Agreement datgatdrary 19, 2012 (Exhibit 10.38)

MG Assignment and Assumption Agreement dated FRebrio, 2012 (Exhibit 10.39)

Guaranty dated February 19, 2012 (by GGC to CEAhibit 10.40)

Guaranty dated February 19, 2012 (by GGCR MininGRA) (Exhibit 10.41)

Security Agreement dated February 19, 2012 (bzR@nd GGCR Mining to CRA) (Exhibit 10.42)

Action by Written Consent of the Sole Member of @&Mining, LLC dated February 19, 2012 (Exhibit 1%).4
Certificate of Global Gold Corporation dated Rebry 19, 2012 (Exhibit 10.44)

Global Gold Consolidated Resources Limited Regest Company No 109058 Written resolutions by fathe directors of the Company (Exhibit 10.45)
Action by Written Consent of the Board of Managef&GCR Mining, LLC (Exhibit 10.46)

Key terms included that Global Gold will retain 5B#tthe shares of GGCR, which will be a subsidiafrthe Company, per the terms of the April 27, 20a&iht
Venture Agreement as approved and described abbve Board of Directors of GGCR Mining would be caised of Van Krikorian, from GGC, Prem Premraj,nfro
CRA, and three non-executive independent dired¢tobe selected in the future. Pending the closfrany, GGM was designated as the manager of thixAmanuk
and Getik properties, with reasonable costs indubseGGM with respect thereto being passed throagb@CRL and GGCR Mining, as applicable, for
reimbursement. The April 26, 2012 deadline sébh@April 2011 JV Agreement to close the transacfiassed without a closing for several reasongreasously
reported, clarification and settlement effortsduled.

On September 26, 2012, GGM entered into two Sharsfer Agreements with GGCR Mining covering thedfanof all the shares of the Armenian companiesd
and the Getik Mining Company, LLC which respectivietld the Toukhmanuk and Getik mining propertiedimenia. The Share Transfer Agreements were
concluded in accordance with the previously dissdbagreements with Consolidated Resources Armexi&ansolidated Resources USA, LLC, a Delawaredidhi
liability company to fund development and form ejoenture on the Company’s Toukhmanuk and Getilperties in Armenia. GGCR Mining will (i) own, defop
and operate Toukhmanuk and Getik gold mining prigserand be a (i) be a company listed on an exghdully admitted to trading. As of September 2®]12,
GGCRL resolved reported outstanding issues whichithacked implementation of the joint venture agreat and execution of the Share Transfer

Agreements. Global Gold’s ownership in GGCRLnd ahall be the greater value of either 51% omptioforma value of $40.0 million 30 days after steck is
publicly traded. The sole officers of GGCRL asSafptember 19, 2012 are: Mr. Van Krikorian, ExeautBhairman; Mr. Jan Dulman, Financial
Controller/CFO/Treasurer; and Mr. Ashot Boghossiaménia Managing Director, with Ogier -Corporate $&s (Jersey) Limited continuing as secretary ef th
Company. See attached Exhibits 10.58 and 10.59.

On October 26, 2012, the shares of Mego and Getik vegjistered, subject to terms and conditiondasdin the transfer documents, with the Statd$Rggof the

Republic of Armenia, as being fully owned by GGCRMg. The registration was completed after apdranses given by ABB which required Global Gold to
guaranty the ABB line of credit payables.
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7. CONVERTIBLE NOTE PAYABLE

On January 17, 2012, the Company, through its j@nture company GGCRL signed a convertible noyaiple for up to $2,000,000 (“Notes”) in conjuctiarth the
binding term sheet signed with CRA and affiliatésich was guaranteed by the Company until Septe2e2012 when the guarantee terminated with theugicn of
the share transfer agreements. GGCRL received 8765 as of December 31, 2012 and the Compargrigiieg this as a liability. The Notes carries & annum
Cash Coupon/Guaranteed Minimum Annual IRR of 15% lajuidity event, if any (“Liquidity Event”). Af Liquidity Event, if any, the principal amounttbe Notes
will be repaid in full based on the value of thet&at market (the “Market Value”) assuming a cosieer value into new common shares of GGCRL reptesga
value agreed to in section 2.5 of the Joint Venagreeement (for avoidance of doubt, the value isoithe existing shares of JVC then held by GGGefieh $784,31
of the Notes based on a GGCRL valuation of $78.48illdbn). Except as provided for under the CasbcEon in Section 2.5 of the Joint Venture agreeinihe
Notes may not be voluntarily converted by CRA i®#@8CRL except by the unanimous consent of the BoiRirectors of GGCRL and otherwise will become @
the earlier of the Liquidity Event or Maturity, selb} to Section 2.5 of the Joint Venture agreeme&he time period for the Cash Election under thetddenture
Agreement has expired without exercise. Maturithesfirst anniversary date of each note. The dlotay be prepaid without any penalty.

8. SECURED LINE OF CREDIT

On March 26, 2010, the Company, through its whollyred subsidiary Mego Gold, LLC (“Mego”) entered iataredit line agreement for 1 billion Armenian Dsam
(approximately $2,500,000) with Armbusinessbanks€ldoint Stock Company (“ABB”) in Yerevan, Armenighe credit line includes a grace period on repaytnof
principal until April 20, 2011, is not revolving,ay be prepaid at any time, and is to be drawn dowrds equipment purchases, construction, andhsigaof the
existing plant and operations to increase prodoatapacity to 300,000 tonnes of ore per year at Meboukhmanuk property in Armenia. The loan isdqgoeriod of

5 years through March 20, 2015, bears interest%it fb4 amounts borrowed, and bears interest at 2%rfeunt available but not borrowed. The loan é&lenand
payable in local AMD currency. As security, 100%toé Mego shares and the mining right certifiedigyMining License Agreement #287 with Purpose of-Sub
Surface Exploitation and Mining License #HA-L-14/356ued on August 5, 2005. The balance owed a¢fber 31, 2012 and 2011 was $1,393,948 and $2,106,1
respectively. There was no accrued interest owesf Becember 31, 2012 and 2011. The balancedaslprincipal of $684,000 due in 2013, $684,000id&914,
and $173,497 due in 2015.

9. NONCONTROLLING INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURE

Formation of joint venture

On April 27, 2011, the Company entered into a Jgimture Agreement with CR. Pursuant to the agre¢ntiee Company received $5,000,000 and agreedrsfer
100% interests in Mego and Getik Mining Company, Liht the Joint Venture Company. The Company remttlis transaction in accordance with the pronsiof
ASC 810, “Consolidation”

Transfer of interest

On September 26, 2012, the Company transferred 10@¥ests in Mego and Getik Mining Company, LLC atrging value into the joint venture in accordamg#n
ASC 805-50-30. According to ASC 805-50-30, whenoaitting for a transfer of assets between entitieleucommon control, the entity that receives tteassets
shall initially measure assets and liabilities sfenred at their carrying amounts at the dateasfsfer.

Consolidation of Joint Venture Company

The Company consolidates the Joint Venture Compagagcordance with ASC 810 based on the determimdiiat it controls the Joint Venture Company duigst
51% ownership interest and including the followat@racteristics:
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. The noncontrolling interest lacks participatiorhtigin significant decisions made in the ordinasyrse of business; and

. The noncontrolling interest does not have the gt dissolve the Joint Venture Company
Recognize and measure noncontrolling interest
Changes in a parent’s ownership interest whilanitg its controlling financial interest are accéenhfor as an equity transactions. The carryinguwarhof the
noncontrolling interest is adjusted to reflect th@nge in its ownership interest in the subsidihe difference between the fair value of the adersition received ar
the amount by which the noncontrolling interestdgusted is recognized as equity attributable égpdwrent. Further, the carrying amount of the acdated other
comprehensive income is adjusted to reflect theghan the ownership interest in the subsidiargulgh a corresponding charge to equity attributabtae parent.
10. SEGMENT REPORTING BY GEOGRAPHIC AREA
The Company has sold its products to various custerimarily in former Soviet Union, but as of Mar24, 2009 the Company entered into an agreemesatltthe
output of gold and silver concentrates from theKfooanuk mine to a Swiss based company. The Compenfigrms ongoing credit evaluations on its custenaad
generally does not require collateral. The Compapsrates in a single industry segment, produatfagold and other precious metals including rogaltfirom other
non-affiliated companies production of gold andeotprecious metals.
For the fiscal years end December 31, 2012 and,20ldf the Company’s revenue was $0 and $81,#¥hectively, which was all derived from Armenia.

The following summarizes identifiable assets byggaphic area:

Year Ending December 31,

2012 2011
Armenia $ 2,82455 $ 3,652,70:
Chile - -
United States 578,30: 69,28
$ 3,402,86. $ 3,721,98.

The following summarizes operating losses befooxipion for income tax:

Year Ending December 31,

2012 2011
Armenia $ 3,784,261 $ 3,855,92:
Chile - 47,98¢
United States (312,210) 2,632,85!
$ 3,472,051 $ 6,536,76!
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11. CONCENTRATION RISK

Financial instruments which potentially subject @@mpany to concentrations of credit risk consistgipally of cash. The Company places its cash Wwigh credit
quality financial institutions in the United Statesd Armenia. Bank deposits in the United Statésdt exceed federally insured limits as of Decen®i, 2012 and
December 31, 2011. As of December 31, 2012 anéi@ker 31, 2011, the Company had approximately $33@d $30,360, respectively, in Armenian bank digpos
which may not be insured. The Company has not éxpezd any losses in such accounts through Decedih@012 and as of the date of this filing.

The majority of the Company's present activitiesiarArmenia and Chile. As with all types of intational business operations, currency fluctuatiershange
controls, restrictions on foreign investment, ctestp tax regimes, political action and politicadtability could impair the value of the Comparig\gestments.

12. OFFICERS' COMPENSATION AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
The Company values shares issued to officers ubépir value of common shares on grant date.

On June 19, 2009, the Company'’s independent corapjencommittee and the board of directors autleorigmployment amendments and extensions to Messrs.
Krikorian, Boghossian, Dulman, and Caesar undesémee terms of their prior agreements.

On August 12, 2009, the Company finalized employnagmeement amendments and extensions under tteeteems of their current contracts which were appdo
on June 19, 2009 by the Company’s independent casagien committee of the board of director’s tairkey employees, for Messrs. Krikorian, Boghossian
Dulman and Caesar. Annual compensation terms maricreased.

Mr. Krikorian's employment agreement was extendedafoadditional 3 year term from July 1, 2009 tlglodune 30, 2012 with an annual salary of $225z0@0Mr.
Krikorian was granted 1,050,000 shares of restticlammon stock which will vest in equal semi-anrinatallments over the term of his employment agrest.

Mr. Boghossian’s employment agreement was extermteaif additional 3 year term from July 1, 2009 tiyto June 30, 2012 with an annual salary of $72:0@DMr.
Boghossian was granted 337,500 shares of restgot@dnon stock which will vest in equal semi-anninatallments over the term of his employment agesgm

Mr. Dulman’s employment agreement was extended for an adalit®year term from August 1, 2009 through JulyZ112 with an annual salary of $150,000 and
Dulman was granted 225,000 shares of restrictedrammstock which will vest in equal semi-annual atistents over the term of his employment agreembht.
Dulman was also granted stock options to purchaSéR0 shares of common stock of the Company aégfer share (based on the closing price at hmwval)
vesting in equal quarterly installments over threntef his employment agreement.

On June 10, 2011, the Company’s non-interested raesvdf the Board of Directors approved an offephgp to 2,000,000 restricted shares of the Comigany
Common Stock, at the current fair market value®iL$ per share, in aid of settlement of up to 3300 of this debt to extinguish and convert somehefoutstanding
debt. As of June 23, 2011, the Company has bem gicceptance for the entire conversion. Thes&etion will benefit the Company by reducing therent debt by
$300,000 and eliminating the interest from contiguio accrue on these debts. On June 23, 201Cdimpany issued a total of 2,000,000 shares o€tmpany’s
common stock which will be restricted in exchangethe debt cancellation.

On June 23, 2011, the Company issued as diredems’'to each of the six directors (Nicholas AyniliRrury J. Gallagher, Harry Gilmore, lan Hagudfrég Marvin

and Van Z. Krikorian) 50,000 restricted shareshef Company’s Common Stock at $0.15 per share tiahvalue of $45,000. The shares were issuesant to the
Board’s June 10, 2011 decision from which datestieres were valued.
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On June 23, 2011, the Company declared a stockstitoremployees in Armenia and Chile of 800,000i&et shares of the Company’s Common Stock at35pet
share for a total value of $120,000. The shareg wsued pursuant to the Board’s June 10, 201%idadrom which date the shares were valued.

On November 28, 2011, Drury Gallagher gave fornmice to the Company of his decision to retire aalaried employee of the Company effective Decerdbe
2011 but will remain a Director and maintain htle of Chairman Emeritus, Treasurer and Secret@ry November 29, 2011, Mr. Gallagher was granted0tD
shares of restricted common stock at $0.19 peesbasm total value of $7,600 as compensation.

On February 24, 2012, Jeffrey Marvin resigned agredir from the Global Gold Corporation for perabreasons. Mr. Marvin did not hold any positionsaoy
committee of the board of directors for Global GGlrporation.

On April 20, 2012, Lester Caesar was appointed@isector of Global. Mr. Caesar is a Certified Raliccountant with over twenty five years of exgeige and has
also previously served as Global's CFO and Comtralhich served as the basis for him being appodiatBirector.

On April 20, 2012, the Company authorized as dietfees to each of the six directors (Nichola:ifign, Drury J. Gallagher, Harry Gilmore, lan Hagl.ester
Caesar and Van Z. Krikorian) 300,000 restrictedeshaf the Company’s Common Stock at $0.20 peresteara total value of $60,000.

Effective July 1, 2012, the Company entered emplaynagreement extensions with Ashot BoghossiarVandKrikorian, and effective August 1, 2012, witnJ
Dulman as recommended by the Company’s Compendatiommittee and approved by the Board of DirectorSune 15, 2012. The agreements are extended for a
additional three years under the same terms efaeptr. Dulman who will receive an annual salary$d65,000, which constitutes a $15,000 raise per, yea an
additional 25,000 restricted shares of the Comma@pmmon Stock annually in lieu of the option gsanthis prior contract beginning August 1, 2012wihe
extension begins for Mr. Dulman. All shares issurder these extensions will vest in equal semmiual installments over the term of the employnagméements. A
shares were issued at fair market value and aretiaesbover the term of the employment agreemérits. Company issued 2,437,500 shares of common stock
connection with these extensions.

On July 1, 2012 the Company granted performanceetedtion bonus awards of restricted shares o€thrapany’s Common Stock to Van Krikorian (500,08ares)
and Jan Dulman (250,000 shares) as recommendér I§ompany’s Compensation Committee and approvedebBoard of Directors on June 15, 2012. Allrsha
issued under this bonus award will vest in equadissnnual installments over the next two years thraligte 30, 2014. All shares were issued at faiketaralue an
are amortized in accordance with the vesting period

The amount of total deferred compensation amortiaethe years ended December 31, 2012 and 2015428406 and $56,752.

The following table illustrates the Company's comgaion commitments for the next 5 years as of Beee 31, 2012.

Year Amount

2013 390,00(
2014 390,00(
2015 208,75(
2016 -
2017 -
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On December 28, 2010, the Company’s Director arddurer, Drury Gallagher, made an interest free ¢6&23,500 which has been repaid as of Decemhe2(BL1.

As of December 31, 2010, the Company owed Drurya@hkr, the Company’s Director and Treasurer, apprately $4,127 for expense reimbursement whichibea
no interest and which remain unpaid as of the dfthkis filing.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, one of the Cowipddirectors, Drury Gallagher, was owed $94,500 $@, respectively, from interest free loans madiaée
Company during 2012 which remain unpaid as of tite df this filing.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company oweaid wages of approximately $587,000 and $518 @3pectively, to management. The Company is
accruing interest at an annual rate of 9% on thefiaxes wages owed to management. As of DeceBih012, the Company had accrued interest abappately
$129,000.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Companydwtsidue to employees in Armenia of approximat&E5$000 and $256,000, respectively. The loansuaccr
interest at an annual rate of 14%. The Companyadidave any accrued interest as of December@®2.2

13. INCOME TAXES

Income taxes are accounted for in accordance héfptovisions of FASB ASC 740, Accounting for Inaeifaxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities aregm@ized fo
the future tax consequences attributable to diffeze between the financial statement carrying atsafrexisting assets and liabilities and theipessive tax bases.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measurid) @nacted tax rates expected to apply to taxabteme in the years in which those temporary déffees are
expected to be recovered or settled. The effecedarred tax assets and liabilities of a chandexiates is recognized in income in the period ith@dudes the
enactment date. Valuation allowances are establishieen necessary, to reduce deferred tax asstits tomounts expected to be realized.

At December 31, 2012, the Company had net defearedssets of $15,264,000. The Company has pro@dedliation allowance, which increased during 202
$1,017,000 against the full amount of its defeteedasset, since the likelihood of realization ec#rbe determined .
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The following table illustrates the source andugatf the Company's major deferred tax assets Beagdmber 31, 2012.

2012 2011
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwa $ 14,783,00 $ 13,768,00
Stock option expense 481,00( 479,00(
Net deferred tax ass 15,264,00 14,247,00
Valuation allowance (15,264,00) (14,247,00)
$ - $ -

The provision for income taxes for year ended Ddman31, 2012 and 2011 differs from the amount caegpby applying the statutory federal income tar (85%)
to income before income taxes as follows:

2012 2011
Income tax benefit computed at statutory rate $ 1,018,000 $ 2,288,00!
State tax benefit (net of federal) 146,00( 327,00(
Permanent differences (book stock comp versusttek somp) (146,000) (95,000
Increase in valuation allowance (1,018,000 (2,520,000
Provision for income taxes $ - $ =

The Company had net operating loss carry forwasdgak purposes of approximately $36,959,000 aebdxer 31, 2012 expiring at various dates from 201232.
A significant portion of these carry forwards avbject to limitations on annual utilization due"egjuity structure shifts" or "owner shifts" invohg "5 percent
stockholders" (as defined in the Internal Revenadelof 1986, as amended), which resulted in mane ¢h50 percent change in ownership.

14. COMMON STOCK

On August 1, 2005, GGM entered into a share purcageement to acquire the Armenian limited liapiiompany Mego-Gold, LLC which is the licensee for t
Toukhmanuk mining property and surrounding explorasites as well as the owner of the related msiog plant and other assets. On August 2, 2068/ G
exercised its option to acquire the remaining faiitye percent (49%) of Mego-Gold, LLC, in exchangedne million dollars ($1,000,000) and five hurditeousand
(500,000) restricted shares of the Company's constawk with a contingency allowing the sellerset back the 500,000 shares on or before Septefrhe2007 for
a payment of $1 million if the Company's stock @ tmaded at or above two dollars and fifty ce®&.80) at any time between July 1, 2007 and Auglis2007. On
September 12, 2006, GGM loaned two hundred thoudalfets ($200,000) to Karapet Khachatryan ("Makeot)e of the sellers of Mego-Gold LLC, a citizen lod t
Republic of Armenia, as evidenced by a convertibteamissory note payable (“Note”) to GGM, with intstrén arrears on the unpaid principal balance atranal rate
equal to ten percent (10%). At any time followirgp&mber 18, 2006, the Company, at its sole opiiad,the right to convert all of Maker's debt frdra tate of the
Note to the date of conversion into shares of comstock of the Company at the conversion pricelos® per share with all of such shares as sedaritsl|
obligations. Maker pledged two hundred fifty fivetisand (255,000) shares of the Company's commok atosecurity for his obligations thereunder. @pt&mber
16, 2007, the contingency period expired withowdreise, extension or amendment. The Company hasiaisd for this by booking the 500,000 sharedyefair
market value of $1,000,000, into Additional Paiddapital. The Company also booked the $200,000reddoan into Note Receivable and accrued intefresh
inception of Note as per the terms of the Note abowto Additional Paid-In Capital. On February, 2008 the Company exercised its option and coestdtte Note
and accrued interest into one hundred fifty twauamd seven hundred seventy eight shares (152w} were then cancelled. As a result, the Compacorded
bad debt expense of $151,250 for the differendhervalue of the stock and the amount owed to tragzny.
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In December 2008, the Company sold 4,750,000 an&#§.10 per share in a private placement. The imituded 4,750,000 common shares and 4,750,08@nta
exercisable at $0.15 per share and expire on ord&ecember 9, 2013.

On August 19, 2010, the Company issued 120,00€@atest shares of the Company’s Common Stock atOpet share to employees as Stock Compensation.

On October 22, 2010, the Company issued 35,41 7%&d8icted shares of the Company’s Common Sto@0dt5 per share to three of the Comparpirectors t
extinguish and convert outstanding debt owed tmthe

In 2010, the Company issued 2,500,000 restrictacestof the Company’s Common Stock at $0.10 pen ffe exercise of warrants.

On May 3, 2011, the Company issued 250,000 redrghares of the ComparsyCommon Stock at $0.15 per share to Rasia, F4farisl compensation for advisc
services in connection with the joint venture agrest with Consolidated Resources.

On June 23, 2011, the Company issued 300,000atestrshares of the CompasyCommon Stock at $0.15 per share to the Direatbtise Company (50,000 sha
each) as stock compensation for services as atbirec

On June 23, 2011, the Company issued 800,000atestrshares of the CompaayCommon Stock at $0.15 per share as stock bonemptoyees in Armenia a
Chile.

On June 23, 2011, the Company issued 250,000atestrshares of the CompasyCommon Stock at $0.15 per share to Rasia, FZE difonal partial compensati
for advisory services in connection with the jorenture agreement with Consolidated Resources.

On November 7, 2011, the Company issued 500,0@6ctes shares of the CompasyCommon Stock at $0.20 per share to Rasia, FZkedsalance of compensat
for advisory services in connection with the jorenture agreement with Consolidated Resources.

On November 29, 2011, the Company issued 40,0@0ctesl shares of the Company’s Common Stock dt3per share to an employee as Stock Compensation.
On December 27, 2011, the Company cancelled 125/08@s of stock in the Company which it receive@ayment for used equipment the Company had ile Chi
In 2011, the Company issued 600,000 restricteceshafrthe Company’s Common Stock at $0.10 per ft@mexercise of warrants.

On April 20, 2012, the Company issued 300,000 irgstt shares of the CompasyCommon Stock at $0.20 per share to the Directbtise Company (50,000 sha
each) as stock compensation for services as atbire€hese shares were recorded at fair markeevah date of issuance for $60,000.

On July 1, 2012, the Company issued 2,137,500ict=drshares of the CompasyCommon Stock at $0.19 per share to employeesoak Sompensation. The
shares were recorded at fair market value on dasswance for $406,125 and are being amortized tirecapplicable period.

On August 1, 2012, the Company issued 300,000¢tstrshares of the Company’s Common Stock at et Share to an employee as Stock Compensati@seTh
shares were recorded at fair market value on dasswance for $45,000 and are being amortized tneemployement period.
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15. WARRANTS AND OPTIONS

On June 15, 2006, the Company's stockholders apgritve Global Gold Corporation 2006 Stock Incenlen (the "2006 Stock Incentive Plan™) under wtdch
maximum of 3,000,000 shares of Common Stock magdued (subject to adjustment for stock splitsidginds and the like). The 2006 Stock Incentive Pégataces
the Company's Option Plan of 1995 which terminatetline 2005. The Company's 2006 Stock Incentige Ras a ten - year term and will expire on JunQ56.
On June 15, 2006, the Company granted optionsy@50,000 shares of common stock, at an exercise pf $1.70 per share, to the then Chairman and,CEury
Gallagher. On June 15, 2006, the Company alsoeptanitions to buy 62,500 shares of common stockn atxercise price of $1.70 per share, to the Gberty Jan
Dulman. On January 11, 2007, the Company issudirectors fees to each of the five directors (Mlek J. Aynilian, Drury J. Gallagher, Harry Gilmpten Hague,
and Van Z. Krikorian) stock options to purchase,000 shares of Common Stock of the Company ea$l86tper share. On June 15, 2007, the Companyegran
options to buy 150,000 shares of common stockn &ixarcise price of $0.83 per share, to the Chiedricial Officer, Jan Dulman. On April 8, 2008¢ tGompany
granted options to each of the five directors tp bd0,000 (500,000 total) shares of common stac&naxercise price of $0.45 per share. On May@89, the
Company granted options to each of the five dimscto buy 100,000 (500,000 total) shares of comstock, at an exercise price of $0.20 per shareviéyn 18, 2009,
pursuant to Mr. Gallagher’'s employment agreemergresxon under his contract and as confirmed byrtiegendent compensation committee and board aftdise
Mr. Gallagher was granted stock options to purci&€s667 shares of common stock of the Company.20%@er share vesting on November 18, 2009.

On August 12, 2009, the Company granted to Jan Bulithe Company’s Chief Financial Officer, stogkions to purchase 225,000 shares of common sfitieo
Company at $0.14 per share (based on the closiog @irhis renewal) vesting in equal quarterlyatistents over the term of his employment agreem@mt.June 19,
2010, the Company granted options to each of tledirectors to buy 100,000 (500,000 total) shafemmmon stock, at an exercise price of $0.10spare. On June
19, 2010, pursuant to Mr. Gallagher’'s employmeneagrent extension under his contract and as cordibypehe independent compensation committee andltuda
directors, Mr. Gallagher was granted stock optionsurchase 100,000 shares of common stock of thep@oy at $0.10 per share vesting on November 119).20n
October 14, 2010, the Company granted options yod,000 shares of common stock, at an exercise pfi$0.25 per share, to a consultant, Paul Aimsvhich ves
on December 31, 2010 and expired on December 32.20

The Company estimates the fair value of stock ogtiasing a Black-Scholes valuation model and thleviing assumption terms: 10 years; interest rate: 5.0%
5.7%; volatility: 100 - 360%. The expense is reearth the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

There were no options granted in 2012 or 2011.

The following tables illustrates the Company's kte@rrant and option issuances and balances odistaas of, and during the years ended Decembe2@®12 an
December 31, 2011, respectively.
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WARRANTS OPTIONS STOCK AWARDS

Shares Weighted Shares Weighted Restricted Weighted
Underlying Average Underlying Average Stock Average
Warrants Exercise Price Warrants Exercise Price Awards Market Price

Outstanding at December 31, 2010 2,250,000 $ 0.1C 2,994,160 $ 0.61 7,690,50. $ 0.67
Granted - - - - 120,00( 0.1C
Canceled - - - - - -
Exercised (600,000 0.1C - - - -
Sold in units - - - - - -
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 1,650,000 $ 0.1C 2,994,160 $ 0.61 7,810,50. $ 0.67
Granted - - - - 2,737,501 0.1¢
Canceled - - (40,000 0.2¢8 - -
Exercised - - - - - -
Sold in units - - - - - -
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 1,650,000 $ 0.1C 2,954,160 $ 0.52 10,548,000 $ 0.5
Vested shares and fair value 1,650,000 $ 0.1C 2,954,16° $ 0.5z 8,110,50. $ 0.65

In the twelve months ended December 31, 2012 ahdl,2Bere were no options exercised but there W@ @00 options which expired on December 31,

2012. Pursuant to the decision of the non-intetestembers of the Board of Directors on Octobe2@30, the Company has amended the outstandingntastrike
price per share from $0.15 to $0.10. These wasnaste part of a capital raise and were never cosgiery in nature; no expense was recorded asik ofshe
modification. In the twelve months ended Decen#igr2012, there were no warrants exercised arteitvielve months ended December 31, 2011, there wer
600,000 warrants exercised. The following is adddl information with respect to the Company'sam and warrants as of December 31, 2012.

WARRANTS OUTSTANDING WARRANTS EXERCISABLE
Number of Weighted Number of
Outstanding Average Weighted Exercisable Weighted
Average Shares Remaining Average Shares Average
Exercise Underlying Contractual Exercise Underlying Exercise
Price Warrants Life (years) Price Warrants Price
$ 0.1C 1,650,001 19 % 0.1c 1,650,000 $ 0.1C
OPTIONS OUTSTANDING OPTIONS EXERCISABLE
Number of Weighted Number of
Outstanding Average Weighted Exercisable Weighted
Average Shares Remaining Average Shares Average
Exercise Underlying Contractual Exercise Underlying Exercise
Price Options Life (years) Price Options Price
$ 0.4¢ 2,954,16' 52¢ % 0.52 2,954,160 $ 0.5:

The intrinsic value of warrants and options exetais at December 31, 2012 is $98,250. The intrialige of warrants and options outstanding at Déesrfl, 2011
is $114,000.
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16. AGREEMENTS AND COMMITMENTS

Quijano Agreements

On August 9, 2007 and August 19, 2007, the Compingugh Minera Global, entered agreements to fojaina venture and on October 29, 2007, the Company
closed its joint venture agreement with membeth®fQuijano family by which Minera Global assumesil&o interest in the placer and hard rock gold Makdr®ios
and Pureo properties. The name of the joint vertompany is Compania Minera Global Gold Valdivia.®l. (“Global Gold Valdivia” or “GGV”).

Key agreement terms for the Madre De Dios joint venaigreement include a 1,000,000 euro payment @tmbal Gold (paid as of October 30, 2007), and the
following joint venture terms equity interests ae61%-49% in favor of Global Gold; of the 3 direrst, two (Mr. Krikorian and Dr. Ted Urquhart, GlosaVice
President in Santiago) are appointed by Global G8ldbal Gold commits to finance at least one ptard mining operation within 6 months as well aswually
agreed exploration program to establish proverrvesgif that is successful, two additional plampstations will be financed; from the profits oétjoint venture,
Global Gold will pay its partner an extra shareduhsn the following scale of 28 million euros fa) 6 million ounces of gold produced in 5 year¢)r5 million
ounces of gold proven as reserves according todiam&lational Instrument 43-101 (“NI 43-101") standss in 5 years. The 6 month obligation was ame el
extended by the October 27, 2007 Pact to a pefi@dyears. The definitions of proven and probabkerves in NI 43-101 reports differ from the digfims in SEC
Industry Guide 7. Also, the SEC does not recogtiizeerms “measured resources and indicated ressiuor “inferred resources” which are used in RI4D1
reports.

On July 24, 2009, Global Gold entered into an ameamt with members of the Quijano family (“Quijanad)the October 29, 2007 Global Gold Valdivia jorenture
subject to final board approval on or before July 2009 whereby GGV will become wholly owned by kb Gold and retain only the Pureo Claims Block
(approximately 8,200 hectares), transferring the &k Dios claims block to the sole ownership tartbers of the Quijano family. On July 28, 2009, éZineendmet
was approved by the Company’s board of directors.

Key terms of the amendment included that on orreefaigust 15, 2009, GGV transfer to Quijano ordesignee one hundred percent (100%) interest inutrent
GGV claims identified as the Madre De Dios Claimed®land Quijano transfer to Global Gold one hungreitent (100%) interest in the GGV, or its desigraad
the remaining claims identified as the Pureo Cldiimek. All transfers were closed in Santiago, I€loin August 14, 2009 which terminated the jointuee. If GGV
does not commence production on a commercial basike property being transferred to its sole adursuant to this agreement within two years jetttio any
time taken for permitting purposes), the propehlisrevert to Quijano.

Quijano shall be entitled a 3% NSR royalty interestll metals produced from the properties retdiime GGV up to a maximum of 27 million Euros, sudbjéc
Quijano’s initial repayment of $200,000 to Global Gold. Boee years, GGV or its designee shall havehd affirst refusal on any bona fide offers for atlany pai
of the properties transferred to Quijano (to ber@ged within five (5) days). For three years, j@ud shall also have a right of first refusal oy &ona fide offers fc
all or any part of the properties retained by GG\t®designee (to be exercised within twenty @&ys). The Company's obligations, as amendewat, trensferred 1
Amarant.
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Coventus/Amarant Agreements

On October 27, 2010, the Company entered into ageagent with Conventus Ltd. a BVI corporation (“@entus”)for the sale of 100% interest in GGV which he
the Pureo mining assets in Chile. The Comparlyprdvide Conventus with consulting services aachhical assistance for development, productioploeation
and expansion of the GGV mining properties in ferttonsideration of the payment terms below.

Key terms include that Conventus shall pay $5.0ianilUSD over four years and two months payablé#sws: $250,000 on or before October 31, 201ZBG00(
on or before November 30, 2010; $500,000 at thsirdpon or before March 31, 2011; $1,000,000 onedorle December 31, 2011; $1,000,000 on or beforedbe
31, 2012; $1,000,000 on or before December 31, ;284@ $1,000,000 on or before December 31, 2014 $6,000,000 in total has been paid. If the sides nc
close, the Company is responsible for repaymenh@®f$500,000 in payments made prior to closing dh@seterms contingent upon the reason for the mipt no
occur. Payments to the Company will be securedofASctober 27, 2010, Conventus Ltd shall be sotegponsible, at its own expense for all expensésothe
matters required by contract or law to comply vaitimditions related to the Pureo property, and imiqadar with the July 24, 2009 contractual coratitito commenc
production on a commercial basis on the properiygoansferred to its sole control pursuant ts igreement on or before August 15, 2011 (subjeatydime take
for permitting purposes).

As additional consideration, if within seven ye@snventus or any of its successors produces 18@00ces of gold from the GGV property or propémtZhile
which the Company assists GGV or Conventus in aicgyithen Conventus shall or shall cause GGV totha Company a one-off and once only $2,500,00u&0
within 60 days of achieving such production. Thesiig of the transaction is subject to a definifgeeement and agreement being reached with MHague, with
respect to his royalty to the satisfaction of Cartus. The closing date is anticipated to be doedore March 31, 2011. See Subsequent Events fopdaie on the
Pureo property.

On December 2, 2011, the Company closed an amegtedment with Conventus and Amarant, originallgesd into on October 27, 2010, for the sale o400
interest in the GGV which held the Pureo miningegs@ Chile. As part of the amendment and clggsigbal Gold also sold 100% interest in its whallyned
subsidiaries Global Oro and Global Plata, both loictv are Delaware Limited Liability Corporationsidaare each 50% owners of Minera Global in exchamge
additional compensation, payable on or before Déeerh5, 2011, of a 1% interest in Amarant. GG¥Wvismed by Minera Global (51%) and Global Oro (49%).
Conventus has assigned its right and obligaticoms fihis agreement to Amarant. Key terms includhed Amarant shall pay the $4.0 million USD remainaf the
$5.0 million USD sale price obligation as follovi#,000,000 on or before December 15, 2011; $1,00000 or before December 15, 2012; $1,000,000 drefare
December 15, 2013; and $1,000,000 on or beforerieee31, 2014 subject to the terms and conditinrike agreement. As additional consideration,itifiv seven
years, Amarant or any of its successors produceé®@6 ounces of gold from the Pureo property therarant shall pay the Company a one-off and ongg onl
$2,500,000 bonus within 60 days of achieving suchlpction.

On April 13, 2012, the Company entered into an "Aded Joint Membership Interest Purchase Agreematit"Amarant to amend the parties' December 2, 2011
"Joint Membership Interest Purchase Agreement" l&safs: the 1 million dollar payment from Amarantedthe Company on December 15, 2011 shall be pafhhbiy
20, 2012; the three "Additional Payments" of 1 ioilldollars due on each of December 15, 2012, Dbeeitb, 2013, and December 15, 2014 shall all mkipa
lump sum of three million dollars prior to May 31012, as further described in Exhibit 10.49. OnilAp8, 2012, the Company also received a guaraoty f
Contender Kapital AB of Stockholm Sweden (“Conteafidihat if Amarant fails to make the 1 million dat payment to the Company on or before Friday 15
2012, Contender will satisfy the 1 million dolleaypnent, as further described in Exhibit 10.50. May 10, 2012, the Company and Amarant agreed teaCtdmpany
would forego legal actions in exchange for paynignémarant of the $800,000 balance due plus a $80a@ditional compensation payment by May 11, 20iPthe
shortening of the grace period for late paymenhef$3 million dollar payment due from Amaranthe Company from 60 days to 10 days after May 3122@n
May 9, 2012, Contender acknowledged that it hadvedenotice of its obligation to pay on a valid garty of $1 million, and reaffirmed its guarant@ontender
defaulted on its guaranty. On May 18, 2012, Amaeactits principal, Mr. Ulander, agreed to pay Glabaadditional $50,000 payment (in addition to pneviously
agreed $50,000 additional payment) in exchangéofegoing legal action. On June 15, 2012, the @amy conditionally agreed to a revised scheduliebt
repayment through August 30, 2012. The reviseddule provides the Company to receive; a) 20% bpraceeds of funds raised by Alluvia or Amaranthair
affiliates with a ceiling of $3,250,000 (which indes additional compensation) from any source;$9%0,000 payment, and c) an additional $200,09thpat to the
company. Also, the Company agreed to conditionaliyve its right of first refusal with respect tanisfer of GGV shares as part of this revision tbese conditions
were not met and the Company has advised thatutpeped assignment to Alluvia is invalid. As gmevision of the amended sale closed on Decemd&d 11, the
Company was to receive certain shares or owneo§tAmarant, amounting to 533,856 shares of AmarBimése shares were received in July 2012. No \redséeen
recorded for these shares for the following reasanghere is currently no active trading marketatue these shares except the “Mangold List” in &me b) we do
not have access to the financials of Amarant tora@lculating a value, and c) these shares redgivesent a small minority ownership of Amaramhakant and
Alluvia remain in default of certain material preidns of this sale agreement with Amarant.
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On November 28, 2012, the Company and Amarant‘Rheties”) entered into an Amended Joint Membershierest Purchase Agreement (the “Amendmenmtfjich
again restructured the terms of the Joint Intevéesinbership Interest Purchase Agreement (the “MIPA&yed December 2, 2011, among the Company, Amarat
the other parties signatory thereto and amende8poih 13, 2012 (“Amended MIPA”).Pursuant to the MIPA and all of its amendments thei¢s agree that as
November 28, 2012 Amarant owes $3,275,000 to thapf@ay. Interest accrues at 12% per anr

Key terms of the Amendment include: Amarant agtbasit shall pay the Company the following amountshe close of business Central European Tim&T'¢on
the indicated dates: (i) $200,000 on November 2922 (ii) $150,000 on or before November 30, 2ii,$450,000 on or before December 6, 2012; §vp0,000 on
or before December 17, 2012 and; (v) $1,775,000rdrefore December 28, 2012. With respect to tlyeneats in (iii), (iv) and (v) as the largest shaeller of
Alluvia Mining Ltd. (“Alluvia”), Amarant guaranteethat 50% of all funds raised by Alluvia shall bédo the Company until such payments are satisfiddll. As
further consideration and in satisfaction of angl ah alleged damages resulting from of Amararditufe to perform any obligation prior hereto, Amiarr agrees to
transfer to the Company One Million (1,000,000) oady shares of Alluvia held by Amarant, within 1&yd of a fully executed lock-up agreement wherékey t
Company will be restricted from transferring anysath shares for a period of 6 months from the diteansfer. The Parties agree to act in gooth taitprepare and
agree on the terms of the lock-up agreement wlHinsiness days from the date hereof. Lastly,éretrent that Amarant fails to make any paymentsurefer on a
timely basis, it hereby confesses to an arbitralrdvas to the unpaid amounts and the parties anghiie entry of such an arbitral award pursuatiiécAmerican
Arbitration Association arbitration clauses preslyuagreed; this confession of arbitral award isfieal by the undersigned who have personal knogéeaf the facts
and affirm that they are for just debts arisingrrthe sale of property, and this confession isegigny each of the undersigned under oath thaethestare true to the
best of their knowledge. The parties further agoeexecute and deliver any other documents which Imeanecessary to effectuate this confession atibazation of
arbitral award within 48 hours of a request bydtieer party or the arbitrator. The Amendment hadrgidentiality provision which is no longer optomal. The
Amendment also provided that subject to Amarargi$qgmance of the payment obligations, the Compaoyld waive rights to object to Amarant’s transééthe
property to Alluvia; however, Amarant did not méstpayment obligations. The Amendment furthenjated that the Company would extend the time forafant to
effect certain name changes until March 31, 2018 wiharant’s performance of the payment obligatidng,Amarant failed to meet its payment obligatioife
Company has received the 1,000,000 shares of Alkvhich are restricted for 6 months, until May 2812 No value has been recorded for these shardéisef
following reasons; a) there is currently no actiagling market to value these shares except thentjdld List” in Sweden, b) we do not have accegsbedinancials of
Alluvia to aid in calculating a value, and c) thebares received present a small minority ownermshidluvia. Amarant and Alluvia remain in defawlf certain
material provisions of the agreements with the Camyp See attached Exhibit 10.60.

Industrial Minerals Agreements

On March 24, 2009, the Company signed a supply acn&greement with Industrial Minerals SA (“IM”) Saviss Company. The agreement is for IM to purcladise
of the gold and silver concentrate produced attpany's Toukhmanuk facility at 85% of LBMA lesstaa treatment and refining charges.

On February 25, 2010, the Company, through its lylmined subsidiary Mego entered into an agreeméhtlM to provide Mego with an advance of $450,00ahir

IM against future sales of gold and silver conceat(the “Advance”). The Advance was provided by IM on February 26, 20Il0e Company owed $87,020 from
Advance as of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 20
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Key terms include; that Mego provides IM with an esive offtake agreement for its gold and silver conceniratermenia through December 31, 2012; for 2009
until February 25, 2010, the price IM paid Mego fotdyand silver concentrate was calculated base8béh of the London AM/PM Gold Fixation and London &t
Spot (“London Rates”ntil Mego delivers 2,250 metric tons of concentth&85% is reduced to 80%, after 2,250 metric tane been delivered the price will rer
to 85% of London Rates; Mego provides IM with a sigunterest in its current ore stockpile in Armanand the Company provides for a corporate gueeafut
repayment of the Advance.

Caldera Agreements

On December 18, 2009, the Company entered intgement with Caldera Resources Inc. (“Calderatrong the terms for a joint venture on the Comygan
Marjan property in Armenia (“Marjan JV”).

Key terms included that Caldera shall, subjecetms and conditions, earn a 55% interest in thedaviagold-Silver-Polymetallic Project after completia bankable
feasibility study on the project or spending US$8dn the property.

As additional consideration, Caldera made a nonagdble US$50,000 deposit by December 30, 200%sandd 500,000 shares of the company on a post-
consolidated basis. Caldera was also to make agrayof US$100,000 no later than March 30, 2010. findiwe agreement was to be signed as soon ashpesspon
completion of due diligence review, respective bagpprovals and any regulatory approval that maseheired. The Company received the US$50,000giep0
December 29, 2009, and (after March 31, 2010) tf® D0 payment.

On March 24, 2010, the Company entered into an ageewith Caldera establishing the terms for atjeenture on the Company’s Marjan property in Arraeni
(“Marjan JV”) which amended the terms of the Decenit& 2009 agreement.

Key terms included that Caldera would own 55% efghares of a newly created joint venture compa@gome the operator of the project, and be resplerfair all
expenses. To maintain its 55% interest, Caldesokéigated to spend up to US$ 3,000,000 on thpePty, and issue 500,000 shares of Caldera to ongp@ny. The
joint venture board would have two Caldera reprederes and one Global Gold representative. Howeertain actions including adoption of the anrayzgrating
and capital budgets require unanimous consentul@i@aldera not perform in accordance withtigens of the Marjan JV, then Global Gold would h&08% interes
of the Marjan JV transferred back and Caldera witkive an NSR on the Marjan property equal to .5%e&ch tranche of US$ 1,000,000 up to a maximum BiSR
3% without any prorating.

Also under the terminated joint venture agreemexiti€a would own 100% in the Marjan Gold-Silver Bobjby making quarterly payments totaling US$ 2,860,
starting September 30, 2010. If Caldera missedobite quarterly payments based on its failureaise funds from capital markets, it was entitieeh automatic 30
day extension from each quarterly payment; if Qaldiefaulted on an extended payment then Caldenddviorfeit its shares of the Marjan JV, be reliewddts
investment commitment, but still be liable for fh@yments to Global Gold which would accrue inteast0%, and possibly retain a royalty interesdescribed
above. If Caldera made its payments and completexbligations, Global Gold would retain a 1.5%R&n all production on the Central zone and a 2\88R on all
production on the Northern zone. Caldera coulgpayehe payments, fulfill the investment commitmemid take 100% interest of the JV at any time.

The agreement was subject to approval by the TSXure Exchange and the Board of Directors of tpeetive companies. As of April 30, 2010, Caldeaia the
Company $100,000. Caldera further informed the @amy that it received TSX Venture Exchange appromehe transaction, which subsequently provedeto b
untrue. On October 7, 2010, the Company termindted/larjan JV for Caldera’s non-payment and norigparance as well as Caldera’s illegal registrations
Armenia and other actions. In October 2010, Caldiéxd for arbitration in New York City. In Septder 2010, at Caldera’s invitation, the Compansdfito reverse
the illegal registration in Armenia. That litigewi and the New York arbitration were subsequemtbpived in favor of the Company, restoring the Canyis 100%
ownership of Marjan. The Armenian Government issueéw mining license to the Company’s wholly owsatsidiary Marjan Mining Company on March 5, 2013.

The arbitration is still open with respect to GlbBald’s costs, attorney fees, and counterclaimslfonages against Caldera.

See Item 1A “Risk Factors” and Item 3 “Legal Pratiegs”, below.
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ABB Agreement

On March 26, 2010, the Company, through its wholiyned subsidiary Mego Gold, LLC (“Mego”) entered iataredit line agreement for 1 billion Armenian Dsam
(approximately $2,500,000) with Armbusinessbanks€ldoint Stock Company (“ABB”) in Yerevan, Armenighe credit line includes a grace period on repaym
until April 20, 2011, is not revolving, may be pegg at any time, and is to be drawn down towardspgent purchases, construction, and expansiomeoéxisting
plant and operations to increase production cap&zi800,000 tonnes of ore per year at Mego’s Towldurk property in Armenia. The loan is for a peradd years
through March 20, 2015, bears interest at 14% fayuants borrowed, and bears interest at 2% for ameaitable but not borrowed. The loan is madeadble in
local AMD currency. As security, 100% of the Medmees and the mining right certified by the Miningdnse Agreement #287 with Purpose of Sub-Surface
Exploitation and Mining License #HA-L-14/356 issumd August 5, 2005. The balance owed was $1,3938482,106,177 at December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Consolidated Resources Agreement

As of March 17, 2011, the Company entered intogzeeament (the “Formation Agreement”) with ConsdiédbResources USA, LLC, a Delaware company (“CRU”
for a joint venture on the Company’s Toukhmanuk @ik properties in Armenia (the “Propertiesgpon payment of the initial consideration as preddelow
Global Gold and CRU will work together for twelveonths (the “12 Month Periodtp develop the Properties and cause the Propéoties contributed to a new jo
venture company, whose identity and terms will bgually agreed, (the “JVC”). Rasia, a Dulbaised principal advisory company, acted as solésaden th
transaction.

Key terms include CRU paying initial consideratioh$5,000,000 as a working capital commitment tol@l Gold payable by: a $500,000 advance immeg
following the execution of the Formation Agreeméthie “Advance”); 4,400,000 payable following the satisfactory cortipte of due diligence by CRU and -
execution of definitive documents in 30 days frdme date of this Agreement; and $3,100,000 accorting separate schedule in advance and payablenvé
business days of the end of every calendar montieeded.

On April 27, 2011, the Company entered into an egeent with Consolidated Resources Armenia, an ekapipresident Cayman Islands company (“CRA”); @ad
affiliate CRU, (hereinafter collectively referrealas “CR”), to fund development and form a joinbitge on the Properties (the “JV Agreement”). TkeAgreement
was entered pursuant to the Formation Agreement.

CR completed its due diligence with satisfactiard as of the date of the JV Agreement completeduthding of the required $500,000 Advance. Upantdrms an
subject to the conditions of JV Agreement, CR wiimplete the funding of the remaining $4,500,000t®f$5,000,000 working capital commitment relate
Toukhmanuk and Getik according to an agreed, otsttifunding schedule which includes $1,400,000apkey following the execution of the Agreement ahe
remaining $3,100,000 payable over the next 12 nsowith payments occurring within 5 business daythefend of each calendar month as needed. ItiGudvr.
Jeffrey Marvin of CR was elected a member of theb@ld@old Board of Directors and attended the Comsaemnual meeting on June 10, 2011. As of DeceBib
2011, the Company received the full $5,000,000 ifuppédtom CR. Mr. Marvin resigned from the Global @dloard on February 24, 2012 for personal reasons.

Pursuant to the JV Agreement, Global Gold and CRwrking together for twelve months (the “12 MoRtriod”) from the date of the JV Agreement to depe
the Properties, improve the financial performanua @nhance shareholder value. The JV Agreemebten&lobal Gold to complete its current Toukhmanuk
production expansion to 300,000 tonnes per yeaadudnce exploration in Armenia. Global Gold al &yree to form a new Joint Venture Company (“JVGhe
established by CR, subject to terms and conditioatially and reasonably agreed with Global Goldyjted that JVC shall have no liabilities, obligais, contingent
or not, or commitments, except pursuant to a sldders’ agreement. Global Gold and CR intend tegrate all of Global Gold’s Toukhmanuk and Getikimg and
exploration operations into the JVC.
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The JVC will (i) own, develop and operate Toukhmaand Getik, (ii) be a company listed on an excledindly admitted to trading or be in the procesdeihg listed
on such exchange and (iii) have no liabilitiesjgdtions, contingent or not, or commitments exgepsuant to the shareholders agreement. The J¥Gsue new
shares to the Company such that following any sevarerger or initial public offering of JVC's sta(®PO"), Global Gold shall directly or indirecthold the greater
of (a) 51% of the equity of JVC, or (b) $40.0 natiiin newly issued stock of JVC, calculated basethe volume weighted average price ("VWAP") offssbares
over the first 30 (thirty) days of trading follovgrthe IPO, assuming issuance of all shares issirabihe IPO, and assuming issuance of all shasesiide as
management shares and conversion of the Noteglissger the Instrument (as defined) and all otbewertible securities and exercise of any warrantsther
securities issued in connection with the IPO, ghelif following any reverse merger or IPO, théueaof $40.0 million in newly issued shares base@&AP of JVC
shares is greater than the Global Gold's 51% eguityership in JVC valued as above, new shares @wWWM be issued to the Global Gold such that thgragate
value of Global Gold's ownership in JVC is sharagig a value of $40.0 million based on VWAP, amel Company shall remain in control of the JVC failg the
public listing.

On February 6, 2012, the Company received consent Ehareholders representing a majority over 6%%sooutstanding Common Stock to transfer the 1
interests in Mego and Getik Mining Company, LLC i@&CR Mining, LLC, a Delaware limited liability compg, owned by a joint venture company, Global (
Consolidated Resources Limited, a Jersey Islandigrilimited company (“GGCR”per the terms of the April 27, 2011 Joint Venturgrédement with Consolidat
Resources Armenia, an exempt non-resident Cayntandis company (“CRA“)The JVC was to issue new shares to the Company thatHollowing any rever:
merger or initial public offering of JVC's shar8dPQ©"), Global Gold shall directly or indirectly kibthe greater of (a) 51% of the equity of JVC(lmr$40.0 million ir
newly issued stock of JVC, calculated based orvttheme weighted average price ("VWAP") of such skawver the first 30 (thirty) days of trading felimg the IPC
assuming issuance of all shares issuable in the &A@ assuming issuance of all shares issuableamagament shares and conversion of the Notedisswer th
Instrument (as defined) and all other convertilgleusities and exercise of any warrants or otheuréiggs issued in connection with the IPO, such thiollowing any
reverse merger or IPO, the value of $40.0 millioméwly issued shares based on VWAP of JVC shargeater than the Global Gold's 51% equity owrniprishJ\VC
valued as above, new shares in JVC will be isso¢he Global Gold such that the aggregate valu@lolbal Gold's ownership in JVC is shares havinglae of $40.
million based on VWAP, and the Company shall reniicontrol of the JVC following the public listingll as further described in exhibit 10.34 belothe Board ¢
Directors of Global Gold Corporation previously apged the same transaction, discussed above, oardab, 2012.

Based on the approval of the Board of Director&lobal Gold received on January 5, 2012 and onviececonsent from its shareholders representirey av65%
majority of its outstanding Common Stock on Febyu&r2012, to transfer the 100% interest in Mego @etlk Mining Company, LLC into GGCR Mining, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (“GGCR Mining"pwned by a joint venture company, Global Gold Cdidated Resources Limited, a Jersey Island prilmatiéed
company (“GGCR?”), per the terms of the April 27,12QJoint Venture Agreement with Consolidated ResesiArmenia, an exempt non-resident Cayman Islands
company (“CRA"), the Company entered into thedaling agreements on or about February 19, 2012tungdarevious agreements, all as further describdle
exhibits attached, on the following dates:

Shareholders Agreement for GGCR dated Februar@d® (Exhibit 10.36)

Supplemental Letter dated February 19, 2012 (k&ixh0.37)

Getik Assignment and Assumption Agreement datsatdrary 19, 2012 (Exhibit 10.38)

MG Assignment and Assumption Agreement dated Rebrio, 2012 (Exhibit 10.39)

Guaranty dated February 19, 2012 (by GGC to CEAhibit 10.40)

Guaranty dated February 19, 2012 (by GGCR MininGRA) (Exhibit 10.41)

Security Agreement dated February 19, 2012 (byzR@nd GGCR Mining to CRA) (Exhibit 10.42)

Action by Written Consent of the Sole Member of @&Mining, LLC dated February 19, 2012 (Exhibit 1%).4
Certificate of Global Gold Corporation dated Rebry 19, 2012 (Exhibit 10.44)

Global Gold Consolidated Resources Limited Regést Company No 109058 Written resolutions by fathe directors of the Company (Exhibit 10.45)
Action by Written Consent of the Board of Managef&GCR Mining, LLC (Exhibit 10.46)
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Key terms included that Global Gold will retain 53¥the shares of GGCR, which will be a subsidiafrthe Company, per the terms of the April 27, 20aiht
Venture Agreement as approved and described abbve Board of Directors of GGCR Mining would be caised of Van Krikorian, from GGC, Prem Premraj,nfro
CRA, and three non-executive independent diredtobe selected in the future. Pending the closfrapy, GGM was designated as the manager of tlukfimanuk
and Getik properties, with reasonable costs induoseGGM with respect thereto being passed throagh@CRL and GGCR Mining, as applicable, for
reimbursement. The April 26, 2012 deadline séh@April 2011 JV Agreement to close the transacfiassed without a closing for several reasongreasously
reported, clarification and settlement effortsduled.

On September 26, 2012, GGM entered into two Shaesfer Agreements with GGCR Mining covering thegfanof all the shares of the Armenian companiesd
and the Getik Mining Company, LLC which respectivietld the Toukhmanuk and Getik mining propertiedimenia. The Share Transfer Agreements were
concluded in accordance with the previously disslbagreements with Consolidated Resources Armexi&ansolidated Resources USA, LLC, a Delawaredidi
liability company to fund development and form ejoenture on the Company’s Toukhmanuk and Getilperties in Armenia. GGCR Mining will (i) own, defop
and operate Toukhmanuk and Getik gold mining prtigeerand be a (i) be a company listed on an exghdully admitted to trading. As of September 2®12,
GGCRL resolved reported outstanding issues whichihacked implementation of the joint venture agreat and execution of the Share Transfer

Agreements. Global Gold’s ownership in GGCRLnd ahall be the greater value of either 51% omptiocforma value of $40.0 million 30 days after steck is
publicly traded. The sole officers of GGCRL asSefptember 19, 2012 are: Mr. Van Krikorian, Exe@itBhairman; Mr. Jan Dulman, Financial
Controller/CFO/Treasurer; and Mr. Ashot Boghossiaménia Managing Director, with Ogier -Corporate $&s (Jersey) Limited continuing as secretary ef th
Company. See attached Exhibits 10.58 and 10.59.

On October 26, 2012, the shares of Mego and Getik vegistered, subject to terms and conditiongadsdin the transfer documents, with the StatedRggof the
Republic of Armenia, as being fully owned by GGCRMg. The registration was completed after apdrenzes given by ABB which required Global Gold to
guaranty the ABB line of credit payable.

See Item 1A “Risk Factors” and Item 3 “Legal Pratiegs”, below.

Rent Agreements

The Company rents office space in a commerciatlimglat 45 East Putnam Avenue, Greenwich, CT wheigned a 5-year lease starting on March 1, 20@6 a
starting annual rental cost of $44,200. On Octdh@006, the Company expanded its office spacesbyring the lease of the adjacent office spaceastemed lea
had less then one year remaining, through Septe8h&008, at an annual rental cost of $19,500 d3sumed lease was extended for an additionathyeagh
September 30, 2009 at an annual rental cost o86@Zpr that period. The assumed lease was fuetktended through October 15, 2009 at which pbi@tCompany
vacated the additional space. Messrs.GallagheKekdrian gave personal guarantees of the Compagyfermance for the first two years of the lea®a April 1,
2011, the Company moved its corporate headqudrersGreenwich, CT to 555 Theodore Fremd Avenues, Y 10580. The new lease had annual costs of;
$63,045 in year 1, $64,212.50 in year 2, $65,38@ar 3, $66,547.50 in year 4, and $67,715 in §ear
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17. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In 2006, GGH, which was the license holder forltamkavan and Marjan properties, was the subjeabméipt and improper demands and threats from thefoomer
Minister of the Ministry of Environment and Naturat$dburces of Armenia, Vardan Ayvazian. The Compapwnted this situation to the appropriate autresiin
Armenia and in the United States. Although the Merisook the position that the licenses at HankarahMarjan were terminated, other Armenian goventaie
officials assured the Company to the contrary armdekian public records confirmed the continuingdm of the licenses. The Company received indeeahlegal
opinions that all of its licenses were valid anchained in full force and effect, continued to watkthose properties, and engaged internationalceadl counsel to
pursue prosecution of the illegal and corrupt peastdirected against the subsidiary, includingrmational arbitration. On November 7, 2006, thenBany initiated
the thirty-day good faith negotiating period (whista prerequisite to filing for international arbtion under the 2003 SHA, LLC Share Purchase émgent) with the
three named shareholders and one previously und&tlprincipal, Mr. Ayvazian. The Company filed &bitration under the rules under the Internati@ts@mber
of Commerce, headquartered in Paris, France ("IGg2i"December 29, 2006. On September 25, 200&dtleral District Court for the Southern Distri€iNew York
ruled that Mr. Ayvazian was required to appear esspondent in the ICC arbitration. On Septemb@088, the ICC International Court of Arbitratiared that Mr.
Ayvazian shall be a party in accordance with theigien rendered on September 25, 2008 by the Heditaict Court for the Southern District of New

York. Subsequently, in December 2011 the ICC Trddwlecided to proceed only with the three namedestolders; in March 2012, GGM filed an action in éradl
District Court pursuant to that Court’s decisioosdamages against Ayvazian and/or to conform@ Tribunal to the precedents, and on July 11, 20&éZederal
Court entered judgment in favor of the Company,clvhwas not appealed and became final. Based aevitience of the damages suffered as a result eizyan’s
actions, the final $37,537,978.02 federal courgjudnt in favor of GGM is comprised of $27,152,244r56ompensatory damages plus $10,385,734.52 exfesit at
9% from 2008. The Company has notified the ICQ the pending arbitration against the other thregeholders should be terminated as moot, consglére final
judgment against Ayvazian. The ICC has complietth Wie Compar’s request and terminated that proceeding. One®dper 6, 2012, the United States Marshal
Service for the Southern District of New York filat service a Writ of Execution to be enforcediagaMr. Vardan Ayvazyan in favor of GGM. The Writ o
Execution was issued by the United States DisBaurt for the Southern District of New York follomg the order and judgment of Judge J. Paul Oethddimal entn
of that judgment (No. 12,1260), without appealhe Terms of the Writ of Execution and the Thirtw&e Million Five Hundred Thirty Seven Thousand Nitendred
Seventy Eight dollars and Two cents ($37,537,97&@unt of the judgment in favor of GGM are moaetigularly described in Exhibit 10.56 below.

In addition, and based on the US Armenia Bilateraéstment Treaty, GGM filed a request for arbitratagainst the Republic of Armenia for the actiohthe former
Minister of Environment and Natural Resources whih linternational Centre for Settlement of Investhi@isputes, which is a component agency of the WBdnk in
Washington, D.C. ("ICSID"), on January 29, 2007.Agust 31, 2007, the Government of Armenia and GGiktly issued the following statement, "[they] ity
announce that they have suspended the ICSID arbitraending conclusion of a detailed settlememneament. The parties have reached a confidentiabagent in
principle, and anticipate that the final settlemagteement will be reached within 10 days of thisauncement." The Company has learned from pubdiords that
GeoProMining Ltd., through an affiliate, has becdheesole shareholder of an Armenian Company, Galdken LLC, which was granted a license for Hankavan
GeoProMining Ltd. is subject to the 20% obligatiasssuccessor to Sterlite Resources, Ltd. As afugep 25, 2008, GGM entered into a conditional, meritial
settlement agreement with the Government of thauBlapof Armenia to discontinue the ICSID arbitatiproceedings, which were discontinued as of Ma&3028.
This agreement did not affect the ICC arbitratiotita@gation involving similar subject matter.

Based on a false representation by Caldera, on1Jur2010, Global Gold Corporation and its subsidi&GM, LLC (collectively “Global”) and Caldera Rasrces,
Inc. (“Caldera”) announced TSX-V approval of thigiarch 24, 2010 joint venture agreement to explocelaing the Marjan property into commercial prodoti As
previously reported, the property is held with @miy-five year “special mining license,” effectidril 22, 2008, and expiring April 22, 2033, whielkpanded the
prior license term and substantially increaseditiemse area. The license required payments afalrgovernmental fees and the performance of wotlkeaproperty
as submitted and approved in the mining plan, whicludes mining of 50,000 tonnes of mineralizeckrper year, as well as exploration work to hawditazhal
reserves approved under Armenian Law in order tmtaia the licenses in good standing. Calderassdl/iGlobal as well as governmental authoritiesithabuld not
be complying with the work requirements which preetp90 day termination notices from the governnageat the October 7, 2010 joint venture terminatiotice
from Global, which Global had agreed to keep theieation notice confidential until October 15, 201
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The joint venture agreement provided that Caldeyalgvbe solely responsible for license complianue @onducting the approved mining plan, and thé the event
that Caldera does not, or is otherwise unableusye this project and pay to Global Gold the anteprovided for hereunder, Caldera’s rights toRheperty and the
shares of Marjan-Caldera Mining LLC shall be foeitand replaced by a Net Smelter Royalty (the “NSRCaldera did not meet the threshold to earn any N&R!
the agreement, and its notice of license non-canpé as well as its failure to pay resulted in@ormatic termination of its rights by operationtioé agreement. The
agreement provided that Caldera would deliver S0D @ its shares to Global, “subject to final apats of this agreement by the TSX Venture Exchdngaldera
advised that the TSX Venture Exchange approvalisged in June 2010 and Caldera failed to dellvesshares. Subject to a 30 day extension if ildcoat raise the
funds in capital markets, Caldera agreed to m&k&08,000 payment to the Company on September 30, 20d December 31, 2010; $250,000 on March 30,,2011
September 30, 2011, September 30, 2011, Decemb2030, March 30, 2012, September 30, 2012, andeBdgetr 30, 2012; and $500,000 on December 31,
2012. Caldera raised sufficient funds, but didmake these payments.

The agreement was subject to approval by the TSxue Exchange and the Board of Directors of tispeetive companies. Caldera further informed tbmgan)
that it received TSX Venture Exchange approvallenttansaction, which subsequently proved to briantOn October 7, 2010, the Company terminatedvarjar
JV for Caldera’s non-payment and non-performancevelt as Caldera illegal registrations in Armenia and other actiotn October 2010, Caldera filed
arbitration in New York City. In September 2010 Calderas invitation, the Company filed to reverse thegiieregistration in Armenia. That litigation artetNev
York arbitration were subsequently resolved in fasfothe Company, restoring the Company’s 100% oslnip of Marjan.

In a final, non-appealable decision issued andgffe February 8, 2012, the Armenian Court of Ctigsaffirmed the July 29, 2011 Armenian trial coand
December 12, 2012 Court of Appeals decisions whitdd that Caldera's registration and assumptiaonfrol through unilateral charter changes ofNfagjan Mine
and Marjan Mining Company, LLC were illegal and tbatnership rests fully with GGM. The official vers® of the Armenian Court decisions are availabieugh
http://www.datalex.am/, with English translationsa#able on the Compahy website

On March 29, 2012, in the independent New York @ityitration case Global Gold received a favorablimg in its arbitration proceeding in New York Wi€Caldera
which is available on the Company's website, sdetitx10.48. The arbitrator issued a Partial Fitvadard which orders the Marjan Property in Armeniadwert to
GGM based on the two failures to meet conditionsguent to the March 24, 2010 agreement. First,eCalfhiled and refused to deliver the 500,000 sharé&lobal.
Second, Caldera did not submit the final joint veatagreement to the TSX{for approval until the middle of the arbitratipnoceedings, instead relying on supers:
versions in its regulatory submissions and subngjttForm 5Cs” to the TSX-V which were false reprgs¢ions of Caldera’s obligations to Global.

The Partial Award states “By misrepresenting itgrpant obligations to the TSX-V, Caldera painteadlad financial picture to the TSX-V and the invegtpublic.” In
addition, the arbitrator found that had he not caonne conclusions above, “Caldera and its offi@dfectively breached the JV Agreement and thadef the
Limited Liability Agreement” in multiple ways, ingtling Caldera’s failure to make quarterly payméeatSlobal.

The Partial Award orders reversion of the Marjarperty to Global, return of amounts paid to Globaaldera returned as the JV Agreement did nohggoeffect,
an Net Smelter Royalty to Caldera of 0.5% for eaahche of $1 million actually spent on the propeaind further proceedings on Global’s claims famages with
additional hearings currently set to begin July2d12. As previously reported, Global's recordsiglish that Caldera did not spend $1 million om kharjan
property. Additionally, tax returns filed by Catden Armenia report less than $400,000 spent erptbperty. The parties' arbitration agreemerih&rprovides that
the award “shall be final and non-appealable” awdHe award of attorney fees, arbitrator’s feesl, @ther costs. In accordance with the Arbitratortler and the JV
agreement, Global Gold has filed to confirm thetiBBFinal Award in Federal Court. Caldera is oppg the confirmation. The amounts paid to GldhaCaldera
total $150,000 and is included in the Company'®aots payable.
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As of the filing date of this report, and subjexthie Federal Court's decision on confirming thei&ainal Award, Global has reestablished contfoMarjan Mining
Company which is the license holder of the Marjeopprty. A new mining license, valid until April 22033, has been issued to the Company. The Caoispan
control has not been established over certain pyppecords, financial and tax information, oretlassets maintained by Caldera such as warehndgdrill core as
Caldera has failed to turn over such property dedping ordered to do so. The Company is proogedith plans to mine in compliance with the minliegnse, and
implement additional exploration to the best ofabdlity. Global is also taking legal action topect its rights in an adjacent territory indeuiifias “Marjan West”
for which Caldera has publicly claimed to havecatise but according to public, on-line governmeonords, the company holding the license is 100%eoWay
another person.

Caldera has also publicly claimed that it continteelsave rights to the Marjan property based orpirtées’ December 2009 agreement, but that agretetimegree
was merged into the March 2010 agreement, calleddimpletion of payments by Caldera by the end d22@nd included other terms which Caldera cannot
meet. Caldera’s attempt to raise this issue irathéral proceedings following the March 29, 20E2idion in Global Gold’s favor has not succeedédldera and its
officers and agents have also continued a defagnasonpaign of harassment and filing of false claower the internet and elsewhere against the Coyngadh its
officials which may be pursued during the damadessp of the arbitration.

On January 12, 2012, the Armenian Court of Cassatimfirmed prior trial and appellate court rulimggecting a proposed tax assessment against timp&y’'s
Mego-Gold subsidiary by the Armenian State Revenue Ageelated to an incorrect claim concerning golddortion at Toukhmanuk as well as incorrect appbces
of relevant law. Subsequently, the State Revegeaey has continued investigations and intimatadiths investigating and may make further claemgsinst the
Company based on the same matters previously adjiediin the Company'’s favor as well as based aimslinitiated and related to Caldera Resourcestardients
during and after legal proceedings in which the @any prevailed against Caldera. Independent Egaisel has been engaged on these matters, aGoithgany
considers that it has no liabilities in connectiath allegations noted to date. The Company hadedd Armenian authorities to the evidence of qatran in
connection with the purported investigation andrtile of Caldera and its agents.

The Company was aware that another company wasgratlares in the U.S. with the name Global GoldgoCd he Company counsel sent the other company a ¢
and desist letter for using the similar name aogiested that it change its name which it has done.

The Company is subject to various legal proceedamgiclaims that arise in the ordinary course aifess. In the opinion of management, the amouanpfultimate
liability with respect to these actions will not teaally affect the Compang’consolidated financial statements or resultpefations. The Company has been bro
to court by several disgruntled former employeas @ntractors for unpaid salaries and invoicepeetvely, as well as some penalties for non payméich totals
approximately $100,000. The Company has recordiedbidity for the actual unpaid amounts due tostaéndividuals of approximately $30,000 as of Delsen81,
2012 and the Company has deposited approximat@y8a at the Armenian Marshall service as secunityHe claims. The Company is currently, and wglhtinue
to, vigorously defending its position in courts egathese claims that are without merit. The Camypis also negotiating directly with these induds outside of the
courts in attempt to settle based on the amourttsecdictual amounts due as recorded by the Conipaxchange for prompt and full payment.

18. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In accordance with ASC 855, “Subsequent Events'Gbmpany evaluated subsequent events after thedeasheet date of December 31, 2012 through tleeofidihis
filing.

In January 2013, the Company recieved $558,437 fkorarant.

From January 2013 to March 2013, the Company's Diremd Treasurer, Drury Gallagher, made interest fbans to the Company of $138,000 which remapaid
as of the date of this filing.

On March 5, 2013, The Armenian Government issueglamining license for the Marjan Property to the @amy's wholly owned subsidiary Marjan Mining
Company.
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AMENDED JOINT MEMBERSHIP INTEREST PURCHASE AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDED JOINT MEMBERSHIP INTEREST PURCHASE AGREEMENT (the
“Amendment”), dated this November 28, 2012, is between Global Gold Corporation ("GGC™)
and Amarant Mining Ltd. ("Amarant” and fogether with QGC, the “Parties™) and affects only
their respective rights and obligations in connection with that the Joint Interest Membership
Interest Purchase Agreement (the “MIPA™), dated December 2, 2011, among GGC, Amarant,
and the other parties signatory thereto and amended on April 13,2012 (*Amended MIPA™),

WHEREAS:

Pursuant to the MIPA and all of its amendments the Parlies agree that to date Amarant owes
$3,275,000 to GGC.

NOW THEREFORE THIS AMENDMENT WITNESSES that in consideration of the mutual
covenants and conditions contained herein and for other good and valvable consideration (the
receipl and sufficiency of which s hereby acknowledged), the Parlies covenant and agree as
follows:

1. AMENDMEMNTS

As concerns the rights and obligations of each of the Parties (and their permiited successors and
assigns) lo this Amendment and (he MIPA, each of the Parties agree that the following
subsections of the MIPA shall be replaced in its entirety by the following language as if such
languape had been included in the MIPA on the date of its execution:

i.1 Section 3.03(a);

(@)  Amarant agrees that it shall pay GGC the following amounts by the close of business
Central European Time (“CET") on the indicated dates: (i) $200,000 on November 29,
2012, (ii) $150,000 on or before November 30, 2012, (iii) $450,000 on or before
December 6, 2012; (iv) $700,000 on or before December 17, 2012 and; (v) $1,775,000
on or before December 28, 2012, With respeet to the payments in (jii), (iv) and (v) as the
largest sharcholder of Alluvia Mining Lid. (“Alluvia™), Amarant guarantees that 50% of
all funds raised by Alluvia shall be paid to GGC until such payments ave satisfied in full.
As further consideration and in satisfaction of any and all alleged damages resulting
from of Amarant's failure to perform any obligation prior hereto, Amarant agrees to
transfer to GGC One Million (1,000,000 ordinary shares of Alluvia held by Amarant,
within 15 days of a fully executed lock-up agreement whereby GGC will be restricted
from transferring auy of such shares for a period of 6 months from the date of transfer.
The Parties agree to act in good faith to prepare and agree on the terms of the lock-up
agreement within 5 business days from the date hereof. Lastly, in the event that Amarant
fails to make any payments hereunder on a timely basis, it hereby confesses to an
arbitral award as to the unpaid amounts and the parties authorize the entry of such an
arbittal award pursuant to the American Arbitralion Association arbitration clauses

previously agreed; this confession of arbitral award is verified by the undersigned







have personal knowledge of the facts and affim: that they are for just debis arising from
the sale of propeity, and this confession is signed by each of the undersigned under cath
that the terms are true to the best of their knowledge. The parties further agree to execute
and deliver any other documents which may be necessary to effectuate this confession
and authorization of arbitral award within 48 hours of a request by the other party or the
arbitrator

1.2 Section 3.03(d) Subjecl to Amarant’s performance of Section 1.1 above, Section 3.03(dt) of
the MIPA shall be stricken in its entirety and GGC shall waive all rights to any claims of breach
by Amarant related to this Section in its prior form.

1.3 Section 3.03(h) Subject to Amarant’s performance of Section 1.1 above, the Parties agree
to extend the deadline in such Section 3.03¢h) until March 31, 2013,

2, FORBEARANCE,
As additional consideration for the Amendment, the Parties hereto agree to forbear on pursuing

any action to accelerate on foreclosure under this Amendment until December 29, 2012, Such
forbearance does not act as a waiver of any rights under the MIPA or this Amendment.

[the vemainder of this page shall remain blank)







3. CONFIDENTIALITY.

Subject 1o each of the Parties performance under this Agreemen, the Parties and their altorneys
shall keep the specific tenns, conditions and covenants of this Agreement confidential except: (i)
where muwally agreed to in writing by the Parties; (ii) where necessary to share such
information with the Parties® accountants or attorneys; (iii) where disclosure to a governmental
entity is required by law; or (iv) where disclosure is ordered by a cowrt of competent jurisdiction.
The Parties and their atiorneys shall not communicate with anyone associated with any media or
publication entilics concerning the terms of this Agreement. This confidentiality provision is a
material term of this Agreement, and its violation shall constitute a brench of this Agreement,

4.  MISCELLANEOUS
The provisions of Section 10 of the MIPA shall also apply to this Amendment as if sueh

provisions were set out below,

IN WITNESS WHEREOQFT, the Parlies hereto have caused ihis Agresment to be
duly executed as of the date first written above,

Global Gold Corporation

Name: Vart Krikorian
Titke: Chairman and CEO

=




Subsidiaries and Jurisdictions

Exhibit 21

State or Other Date of

Jurisdiction of Incorporation, Ownership

Incorporation Organization (Direct or
Subsidiary or Organization or Acquisition Indirect)
1.Global Gold Mining, LLC Delaware 2003 100%
2.Global Gold Hankavan LLC Armenia 2003 100%
3.Mego-Gold LLC Armenia 2005 100%
4.Getik Mining Company LLC Armenia 2006 100%
5.Marjan Mining Company Armenia 2010 100%
6.Global Gold Uranium LLC Delaware 2007 100%
7.Global Gold Armenia, LLC Delaware 2003 100%
8.Global Gold Consolidated Resources Limited Jersey 2011 51%
9.GGCR Mining, LLC Delaware 2011 51%



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Van Z. Krikorian, certify that:
1) | have reviewed this annual report on Form 1ftikthe year ended December 31, 2012, of Globatl @arporation;

2) Based on my knowledge, this report does notatoriny untrue statement of a material fact or eonittate a material fact necessary to make thensémts made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statésn@ere made, not misleading with respect to #regd covered by this annual report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts,other financial information included in thisnaal report, fairly present in all material redpdbe financial
condition, results of operations and cash flowthefregistrant as of, and for, the years preseantéds report;

4) The registrant's other certifying officers araté responsible for establishing and maintainisglosure controls and procedures (as defined eh&xge Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control dwemcial reporting (as defined in Exchange Actd®ul3a-15(f) and 15(d)-15(b)) for the registramt have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoifgs designed under our supervision, to ensatentlterial
information relating to the registrant, including €onsolidated subsidiaries, is made known toyustiiers within those entities, particularly durithg period in which
this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaring, or caused such internal control over faialreporting to be designed under our supervjdioprovide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitynaihtial reporting and the preparation of finanstatements for external purposes in accordandegeiterally
accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registralisslosure controls and procedures and presentiikineport our conclusions about the effectiver@ghe disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the gpenwered by this report based on such evaluatams;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant's most recepafiyear (the
registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an ahreport) that has materially affected, or is rewguy likely to materially affect, the registraritisernal control over
financial reporting; and

5) The registrant's other certifying officers arfialve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial reporting,ttee registrant's
auditors and the audit committee of the regissardard of directors (or persons performing thevedent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal comver financial reporting which are reasonablyliikte adversely
affect the registrant's ability to record, processnmarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant's internal control ofreancial
reporting.

Date: April 15, 2012 /s/ Van Z. Krikorian
Van Z. Krikorian
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Jan E. Dulman, certify that:
1) | have reviewed this annual report on Form 1ftikthe year ended December 31, 2012, of Globatl @arporation;

2) Based on my knowledge, this report does notatoriny untrue statement of a material fact or eonittate a material fact necessary to make thensémts made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statésn@ere made, not misleading with respect to #regd covered by this annual report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts,other financial information included in thisnaal report, fairly present in all material redpdbe financial
condition, results of operations and cash flowthefregistrant as of, and for, the years preseantéds report;

4) The registrant's other certifying officers araté responsible for establishing and maintainisglosure controls and procedures (as defined eh&xge Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control dwemcial reporting (as defined in Exchange Actd®ul3a-15(f) and 15(d)-15(b)) for the registramt have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoifgs designed under our supervision, to ensatentlterial
information relating to the registrant, including €onsolidated subsidiaries, is made known toyustiiers within those entities, particularly durithg period in which
this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaring, or caused such internal control over faialreporting to be designed under our supervjdioprovide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitynaihtial reporting and the preparation of finanstatements for external purposes in accordandegeiterally
accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registralisslosure controls and procedures and presentiikineport our conclusions about the effectiver@ghe disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the gpenwered by this report based on such evaluatams;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant's most recepafiyear (the
registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an ahreport) that has materially affected, or is rewguy likely to materially affect, the registraritisernal control over
financial reporting; and

5) The registrant's other certifying officers arfialve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial reporting,ttee registrant's
auditors and the audit committee of the regissardard of directors (or persons performing thevedent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal comver financial reporting which are reasonablyliikte adversely
affect the registrant's ability to record, processnmarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant's internal control ofreancial
reporting.

Date: April 15, 2013 /s/ Jan E. Dulman
Jan E. Dulman
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)



Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT

Each of the undersigned, in his capacity as acaffdf Global Gold Corporation (the "Company”), dley certifies, pursuant to Section 906 of the SaebaOxley Act
of 2002 (18 U.S.C. 1350), that:

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Compamythe year ended December 31, 2012 fully compliés the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(dfhef
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m8u(d)); and

(2) the information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: April 15, 2013 /s/ Van Z. Krikorian
Van Z. Krikorian
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: April 15, 2013 /sl Jan E. Dulman
Jan E. Dulman
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

A signed original of this written statement reqdil®/ Section 906 has been provided to the Compadynd| be retained by the Company and furnisheth&o
Securities and Exchange Commission or its stafhupquest.



